ASSOCIATION OF GENETIC AND NON-GENETIC FACTORS WITH CLINICAL RESPONSES OF DONEPEZIL AND GALANTAMINE IN THAI PATIENTS WITH DEMENTIA



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmacology and Toxicology Department of Pharmacology and Physiology Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ความสัมพันธ์ของปัจจัยทางพันธุกรรมและปัจจัยที่ไม่เกี่ยวข้องกับพันธุกรรมกับการตอบสนองทาง คลินิกของยาโดเนเพซิลและกาแลนทามีนในผู้ป่วยโรคความจำเสื่อมชาวไทย



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาเภสัชศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเภสัชวิทยาและพิษวิทยา ภาควิชาเภสัชวิทยาและสรีรวิทยา คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	ASSOCIATION OF GENETIC AND NON-GENETIC FACTORS WITH
	CLINICAL RESPONSES OF DONEPEZIL AND GALANTAMINE IN THAI
	PATIENTS WITH DEMENTIA
Ву	Mr. Thitipon Yaowaluk
Field of Study	Pharmacology and Toxicology
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor PORNPIMOL KIJSANAYOTIN, Ph.D.
Thesis Co Advisor	Associate Professor Vorapun Senanarong, M.D.
	Chanin Limwongse, M.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

		Dean of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical
		Sciences
	(Assistant Professor RUNGPETCH SAKULBU	JMRUNGSIL, Ph.D.)
DISSERTATION COM	IMITTEE	
		Chairman
	(Associate Professor THONGCHAI SOOKSA	WATE, Ph.D.)
	<u>ANTERNA</u>	Thesis Advisor
	(Assistant Professor PORNPIMOL KIJSANAY	'OTIN, Ph.D.)
		Thesis Co-Advisor
	(Associate Professor Vorapun Senanarong	, M.D.)
		Thesis Co-Advisor
	(Chanin Limwongse, M.D.)	IENGII I
-		Examiner
	(Associate Professor SUREE JIANMONGKO	_, Ph.D.)
		Examiner
	(Assistant Professor RATCHANEE RODSIRI,	Ph.D.)
		External Examiner
	(Assistant Professor Charoen Treesak, Ph.I	D.)

ฐิติพล เยาวลักษณ์ : ความสัมพันธ์ของปัจจัยทางพันธุกรรมและปัจจัยที่ไม่เกี่ยวข้องกับ พันธุกรรมกับการตอบสนองทางคลินิกของยาโดเนเพซิลและกาแลนทามีนในผู้ป่วยโรคความจำ เสื่อมชาวไทย. (ASSOCIATION OF GENETIC AND NON-GENETIC FACTORS WITH CLINICAL RESPONSES OF DONEPEZIL AND GALANTAMINE IN THAI PATIENTS WITH DEMENTIA) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ผศ. ภญ.ดร.พรพิมล กิจสนาโยธิน, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : รศ. พญ.วรพรรณ เสนาณรงค์,อ. นพ.ชนินทร์ ลิ่มวงศ์

โดเนเพซิลและกาแลนทามีนเป็นยารักษาภาวะสมองเสื่อมที่สั่งอย่างแพร่หลาย อย่างไรก็ตาม อัตราการตอบสนองต่อ acetylcholinesterase inhibitors มีเพียง 15-35 % ความแตกต่างระหว่างบุคคลในการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาด้วยยาโดเนเพซิล และกาแลนทามีนมีความสัมพันธ์กับปัจจัยทางพันธุกรรมในบางกลุ่มประชากร นอกจากนี้ปัจจัยที่ไม่เกี่ยวข้องกับพันธุกรรม เช่น อายุ เพศ ระดับการศึกษา โรคร่วม และปฏิกิริยาระหว่างยากับยาสามารถส่งผลต่อค่าทางเภสัชจลนศาสตร์และการตอบสนองต่อการ รักษา ดังนั้นวัตถุประสงค์ในการศึกษานี้จึงศึกษาความสัมพันธ์ระหว่างความผันแปรทางพันธุกรรมที่เกี่ยวข้องกับผลการรักษาของยา โดเนเพซิลและกาแลนทามีน ได้แก่ยีนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการเกิดโรค: APOE, ยีนที่เกี่ยวข้องการการเปลี่ยนสภาพยา: CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, ยืนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการนำส่งยา: ABCB1 และปัจจัยที่ไม่เกี่ยวข้องกับพันธุกรรมกับผลการตอบสนองในการรักษา ที่วัดด้วยคะแนน Thai Mental State Examination (TMSE) และระดับยาที่สภาวะคงตัว (Cpss) ในผู้ป่วยความจำเสื่อมชาวไทยที่ ได้รับการวินิจฉัยว่าเป็นความจำเสื่อมครั้งแรก ผลการวิเคราะห์ทั้งแบบตัวแปรเดียวและการวิเคราะห์การถดถอยเชิงเส้นพหุดูณ แสดงให้เห็นว่าอัลลีล CYP2D6*10 มีความสัมพันธ์กับระดับยาที่สภาวะคงตัวที่สูงกว่า (p-value = 0.029 และ B = 0.478, pvalue = 0.032 ตามลำดับ) และผลการตอบสนองทางคลินิก คือ การเปลี่ยนแปลงของคะแนน TMSE (ΔTMSE) ของยาโดเนเพซิล ที่ดีกว่า (p-value = 0.023 และ B = 4.107, p-value = 0.002 ตามลำดับ) โดยเฉพาะอย่างยิ่งในโรคอัลซไฮเมอร์ การใช้ยามีแมน ทีนเป็นยาร่วมมีความสัมพันธ์กับระดับยาที่สภาวะคงตัวของยาโดเนเพซิลที่สูงขึ้น ในขณะที่การใช้ยาต้านซึมเศร้าเป็นยาร่วมจะลดผล การตอบสนองทางคลินิกของยาโดเนเพซิลในผู้ป่วยโรคอัลซไฮเมอร์ อายุมีความสัมพันธ์ทางลบกับการตอบสนองต่อยาโดเนเพซิลใน ผู้ป่วยโรคความจำเสื่อมจากภาวะหลอดเลือดสมอง สำหรับยากาแลนทามีน ผลการวิเคราะห์ถดถอยพหุคุณแสดงให้เห็นว่าผู้ป่วยโรค สมองเสื่อมแบบผสมที่มีจำนวนอัลลีลที่ผิดปกติร่วมกันของยืน CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1 มากกว่ามีความสัมพันธ์กับระดับยาที่ สภาวะคงตัวที่ปรับของกาแลนทามีนที่สูงกว่า (B = 34.559, p-value = 0.045) ผลการวิเคราะห์การถดถอยเชิงเส้นพหุคุณและการ วิเคราะห์การถดถอยโลจิสติคพหุคูณมีความสอดคล้องกัน คือ ผู้ที่มีอัลลีลของ CYP2D6*10 มีความสัมพันธ์กับการเปลี่ยนแปลงของ คะแนน TMSE ที่สูงกว่า (B = 5.227, p-value = 0.001) อัลลีลที่มีการกลายพันธุ์ของยืน UGT1A1 และปัจจัยที่ไม่เกี่ยวข้องกับ พันธุกรรม ได้แก่ การใช้ยากลุ่ม statin และระดับการศึกษาที่สูงกว่าอาจลดผลการรักษาด้วยยากาแลนทามีน ผลการศึกษานี้เน้นให้ เห็นถึงความเป็นไปได้ที่จะนำการตรวจทางพันธุกรรมมาเป็นแนวทางในการรักษาภาวะสมองเสื่อมแบบเฉพาะบุคคลด้วยยาโดเน เพซิลและยากาแลนทามีนในยุคการแพทย์แม่นยำในอนาคตอันใกล้

สาขาวิชา เภสัชวิทยาและพิษวิทยา ปีการศึกษา 2561

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม	

5876107233 : MAJOR PHARMACOLOGY AND TOXICOLOGY

KEYWORD:

disease (AD) Vascular dementia (VAD) Mixed dementia

Thitipon Yaowaluk : ASSOCIATION OF GENETIC AND NON-GENETIC FACTORS WITH CLINICAL RESPONSES OF DONEPEZIL AND GALANTAMINE IN THAI PATIENTS WITH DEMENTIA. Advisor: Asst. Prof. PORNPIMOL KIJSANAYOTIN, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Assoc. Prof. Vorapun Senanarong, M.D., Chanin Limwongse, M.D.

Donepezil Galantamine CYP2D6 polymorphisms UGT1A1 polymorphisms Alzheimer's

Donepezil and galantamine are commonly prescribed for the treatment of dementia. However, the response rate of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors is only 15-35 %. Inter-individual variability in donepezil and galantamine response has been associated with genetic factor in some population. Moreover, non-genetic factors such as age, gender, education level, comorbidities and drug-drug interactions can influence pharmacokinetic profiles and drug responses. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the association of genetic variations that involved therapeutic effects of donepezil and galantamine including pathogenic gene; APOE, drug metabolizing genes; CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, transporter gene; ABCB1 and non-genetic factors with therapeutic outcomes as measured as Thai Mental State Examination (TMSE) scores and steady-state plasma concentrations (Cpss) of donepezil and galantamine in Thai patients with firstly diagnosed dementia. Both univariate and multiple linear regression analysis indicated that only CYP2D6*10 allele was associated with higher Cpss (p-value = 0.029 and B = 0.478, p-value = 0.032, respectively) and a better clinical outcomes of donepezil i.e. Δ TMSE (p-value = 0.023 and B = 4.107, p-value = 0.002), especially in patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD). Concomitant use of memantine was found to be associated with increased Cpss of donepezil. Whereas, co-medication with antidepressant drugs attenuated clinical responses of donepezil in patients with AD. Age was found to be negative associated with donepezil response in vascular dementia patients. For galantamine, the multivariate regression model revealed that patients with mixed dementia who carried a more detrimental allelic variants in combined CYP2D6, CYP3A5, and UGT1A1 were associated with higher galantamine's adjusted Cpss (B = 34.559, p-value = 0.045). Both multiple linear and logistic regression analysis consistently revealed that CYP2D6*10 carriers was significantly associated with higher Δ TMSE (B = 5.227, p-value = 0.001). UGT1A1 mutant alleles and non-genetic factors including concomitant use of statin drugs and higher education level may attenuate the therapeutic outcome of galantamine. The present findings highlight the possibility of using genetic testing to guide personalized dementia therapy with donepezil and galantamine in the forthcoming precision medicine era.

Field of Study: Academic Year: Pharmacology and Toxicology 2018 Student's Signature Advisor's Signature Co-advisor's Signature Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Assist. Prof. Pornpimol Kijsanayotin, Ph.D. for her invaluable assistance, valuable suggestion and kind encouragement, without her, this work would never have been possible.

I would like to express my special gratitude to my co-advisor, Assoc. Prof. Vorapun Senanarong, M.D. Not only giving me the opportunity to conduct this research in dementia field by providing case and data but also all her academic suggestion.

I also would like to express my special gratitude to my co-advisor, Chanin Limwonges, M.D. for allowing me to use his laboratory, facilities and providing a technician for teaching me about genotyping work and all his academic and financial supports.

I am very grateful to the Faculty of medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University for providing scholarship for my Ph.D. study. I appreciate thank Miss Wimon Anansakulwatt, the director of the department of pharmacy, Siriraj hospital and Miss Uraiwan Silpasupagornwong ,Head of academic affair division, department of pharmacy who giving me the opportunity to study in Ph.D.

I also would like to thank all staff in Drug Information Service and Poison Control Center Faculty of medicine Siriraj Hospital for always supporting me. Special thanks to Mrs. Rasda Boonprasert for providing pharmacokinetic laboratory data and Miss Kittika Yampayont and Miss Ploylarp Lertvipapat for their assistances in my Ph.D. study.

I am very grateful to all staff in the Department of Pharmacology and Physiology Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University for teaching me and all their assistances throughout the period of my study. I am grateful to 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund for providing scholarship for my Ph.D. research.

I would like to thank Wanna Thongnoppakun Ph.D., Duangkamol Bunditworapoom Ph.D., Miss Supannee Kaewsutthi, Miss Yanisa Chantapoon and all staffs in Molecular Genetic laboratory, Faculty of medicine Siriraj Hospital for providing technical support about genotyping work.

I also would like to thank Assist. Prof. Thitima Wattanavijitkul, Ph.D. Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Assist. Prof. Korbtham Sathirakul, Ph.D. Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Mahidol University and Miss Jiraganya Bhorngsatiern, Ph.D. for teaching population pharmacokinetic.

I am grateful to thank Assoc. Prof. Chulathida Chomchai, M.D., Dean of International College Mahidol University and Assist. Prof. Charoen Treesak, Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Srinakharinwirot University, for constructive comments and manuscript revision.

I also grateful to thank Assist. Prof. Chulaluk Komoltri Ph.D., Saowalak Hunnangkul, Ph.D. Department of Health Research and Development, Siriraj hospital, Mahidol University and Mrs. Khemajira Karaketklang, Department of Medicine, Faculty of medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University for statistical consultation.

I sincerely thank Mr. Natthaphon Hunsakunachai and Mr. Jeeravat Thongchue for usually support me in both academic and non-academic fields. I also thank Mr. Narudol Teerapatarakan and Mr. Att Khampho for their supports in my research.

Finally, I most gratefully acknowledge my family especially my mother and my friends for all their supports throughout the period of this research.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thitipon Yaowaluk

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	age
ABSTRACT (THAI)i	iii
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ίi
List of tablesx	xi
List of figuresx	V
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	6
Background and Rationale	6
Objectives	8
Scope of study	8
Hypothesis	8
Expected benefits from the study	9
Keyword:ารายากรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	9
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	0
Prevalence and incidence of dementia in Thailand	0
Pathophysiology	0
Clinical Presentations and Diagnosis22	2
Factor affecting clinical response	5
Genetic factors	5
Non-genetic factor	0
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	5

Conceptual framework	. 65
Research Methodology	. 68
Patients and Protocols	. 68
Data collection and cognitive evaluation	. 69
Definition of responsiveness	70
Sample size determination	.70
Materials and Instruments	. 72
Procedure	76
Blood samplings	76
DNA extraction	. 77
Determination of gene polymorphism by TaqMan [®] assay	. 79
Determination of APOE polymorphism by RFLP techniques	80
Determination of UGT1A1 polymorphism by direct Sanger sequencing	
techniques	. 83
Determination of Cpss	. 85
Statistical analysisมากลากรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	.94
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: DONEPEZIL	. 96
RESULTS	. 96
Demographic and clinical characteristic	96
Genotype distribution	. 99
Evaluation of factor affecting Cpss of donepezil	100
Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function in patients treated with	
donepezil	106
DISCUSSION	120

Genotype distribution	
Evaluation of factor affecting Cpss of donepezil	
Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function	125
CHAPTER 5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: GALANATAMINE	133
RESULTS	133
Demographic and clinical characteristic	133
Genotype distribution	134
Evaluation of factors affecting Cpss	136
Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function	144
DISCUSSION	153
Genotype distribution	153
Evaluation of factors affecting Cpss of galantamine	153
Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function	156
Associations of CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, ABCB1 and APOE polymorp	hisms
with TMSE score	156
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS	162
Pharmacogenetic association study of donepezil	162
Pharmacogenetic association study of galantamine	162
Strength	163
Limitation	163
Future prospective	164
APPENDIX	167
REFERENCES	191
REFERENCES	

VITA



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

List of tables

	Page
Table 1 Diagnosis of AD according to NINCDS-ADRDA criteria (21)	. 23
Table 2 Diagnosis of AD according to DSM-IV criteria (22)	. 23
Table 3 Hachinski ischemic score (34)	. 26
Table 4 Some pharmacodynamic properties of acetylcholinesterase drugs (3)	. 29
Table 5 Some pharmacokinetic properties of acetylcholinesterase drugs (3)	. 30
Table 6 Pharmacogenetic genes associated with therapeutic outcome of AD (8)	. 36
Table 7 Substrates of CYP2D6 (44)	. 37
Table 8 Correlation between variant alleles of CYP2D6 gene and predicted	
phenotypes (44, 46)	. 39
Table 9 Predicted phenotypes and clinical response of drugs (46)	. 41
Table 10 Alleles frequencies of CYP2D6 in various ethnicities (48)	. 42
Table 11 Distribution of CYP2D6 polymorphisms in Thai population(15, 49-51)	. 43
Table 12 Functionality of CYP3A5 alleles and its related predicted enzyme activity	
(58)GHOLALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	. 45
Table 13 Alleles frequencies of CYP3A5 polymorphisms in various ethnicities	. 46
Table 14 UGT1A1 allele naming conventions, locations, and associated	
phenotypes(69)	. 47
Table 15 Alleles frequencies of ABCB1 polymorphisms in various ethnicities (73, 74)48
Table 16 Effects of APOE ${f \epsilon}$ 4 on AD frequency and mean age at onset (16)	. 51
Table 17 Alleles frequencies of APOE in various ethnicities (84)	. 52
Table 18 Allele frequencies of APOE polymorphisms in Thai populations(83, 85-87)	52

Table 19 Association study between pharmacogenetic gene and therapeutic outcomes of donepezil	53
Table 20 Association study between pharmacogenetic gene and therapeutic	
outcomes of galantamine	58
Table 21 Inhibitors of CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 enzymes (44)	61
Table 22 Inducers of CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 enzymes (44)	63
Table 23 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	69
Table 24 Interpretation of purifying DNA using Nanodrop	79
Table 25 Constituent of master mixture solution for TaqMan® assay	79
Table 26 Condition in real-time PCR by ViiA [™] 7 Real-Time PCR system	80
Table 27 Constituent of PCR process for RFLP techniques	81
Table 28 Constituent for RFLP techniques	82
Table 29 Interpretation of APOE polymorphism from RFLP techniques	82
Table 30 Constituent of PCR process for detection UGT1A1 genotype	83
Table 31 Primers for detection UGT1A1 genotype using direct Sanger sequencing	83
Table 32 Condition in PCR process for detection UGT1A1 genotype	84
Table 33 Validated parameters for measuring C_{pss} of donepezil by UPLC- PDA	
techniques	87
Table 34 Method validation for measuring Cpss of donepezil by UPLC- PDA	00
techniques	00
Table 35 Validated parameters for measuring C _{pss} of galantamine by UPLC- PDA techniques	91
Table 36 Method validation for measuring Cpss of galantamine by UPLC- PDA	
techniques	92
Table 37 Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of 85 Thai patients with	١
dementia	98

Table 38 Genotype distribution and allele frequencies of the polymorphisms in candidate genes of the study patients
candidate genes of the study patients
Table 39 Association of the genetic factors and Cpss of donepezil at the 10-mg
maintenance dose
Table 40 Association of the non-genetic factors and Cpss of donepezil at the 10-mgmaintenance dose103
Table 41 The final model of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of
explanatory variables for adjusted Cpss of donepezil
Table 42 TMSE score in association with CYP2D6, CYP3A5, ABCB1 and APOE
genotypes at the 10-mg maintenance dose110
Table 43 Association of non-genetic factor and TMSE score of donepezil at 10-mg
Table 44 Bivariate analysis: Association of non-genetic continuous variable and TMSE
score
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD115 Table 46 Demographic and clinical characteristics of Thai patients with dementia133 Table 47 Genotype distribution and allele frequencies of the candidate genes in the study patients
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and ΔTMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and ΔTMSE in patients with AD and VAD
Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score at steady state and ΔTMSE in patients with AD and VAD

Table 52 Association of non-genetic factor and TMSE score	147
Table 53 Bivariate analysis: Association of non-genetic continuous variable and TA	ЛSE
score	148
Table 54 The models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanator	У
variables for Δ TMSE in mixed dementia	149
Table 55 The models of logistic regression analysis of factors associated with	
galantamine response	151



List of figures

	Page
Figure 1 Association between doses and Cpss of donepezil	.97
Figure 2 Association between CYP2D6 phenotypes and Cpss of donepezil at the 10)-
mg maintenance dose	101
Figure 3 Association between the combined effect of CYP2D6*10 carriers and	
concomitant use of memantine on Cpss of donepezil	105
Figure 4 Association between CYP2D6 phenotypes and TMSE score at steady state	(A)
or Δ TMSE score (B) in AD patients	108
Figure 5 Scatter plots show correlation between donepezil Cpss and Δ TMSE score	in
patients with AD (5A) and VAD (5B)	117
Figure 6 Association between doses and Cpss of galantamine	137
Figure 7 The relationship between adjusted Cpss of galantamine and the combined	b
polymorphisms of drug metabolizing enzymes genes including CYP2D6, CYP3A5, ar	nd
UGT1A1	140
Figure 8 Scatter plot show correlation between adjusted Cpss and change in TMSE	
score	152

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Background and Rationale

Dementia is a chronic disease caused by various central neurodegenerative and ischemic process. Dementia characterized mainly by progressive cognitive functions decline, loss of initiative thinking, mood and behavioral changes and inability to perform activities of daily living. Dementia is a chronic illness that diminishes quality of life and causes an increased burden on caregivers (1). Moreover, all burdens associated with dementia lead to an increase in family expenses, and ultimately resulting in economic losses to the society as a whole. The prevalence of dementia in elderly is 2-10% and increase 2 times every 5 years after 60 years old.(2) It has become major public health in Thailand.

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a common neurodegenerative disorder and one of the most common causes of dementia in Thailand and follows by vascular dementia. According to several guidelines such as American Geriatric society 2013 (AGS), European Federation of Neurological Societies 2010 (EFNS), acetylcholinesterase inhibitors are the first line drug for the treatment of dementia. However, the response rate of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, including donepezil and galantamine that are common acetylcholinesterase inhibitors prescribed in Thailand, is only 15-35 % (3). The previous study on the Thai population concludes that the response rate for cognitive function improvement is quite low (4).

The main goal of pharmacological treatment of dementia is enhancing or modulating neurotransmitters, especially acetylcholine, with the ultimate goal of slowing or halting disease progression. Unfortunately, at the moment, such treatment has varying response, depending on interindividual factors. Donepezil and galantamine are widely used as the first-line drug for treatment of certain dementiarelated illnesses including Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VAD) (3). Donepezil and galantamine's metabolic pathway are through the CYP2D6, an enzyme with genetic polymorphism, which may account for the tremendous interindividual variation in success rate of 20-60% (3, 5-9). In addition, donepezil has been shown to play a pivotal role in slowing amyloid plaque formation. However, due to elimination via efflux transporter namely P-glycoproteins (P-gp) which is encoded by *ABCB1*, polymorphisms of *ABCB1* might have an influence on the steadystate plasma concentration of donepezil or galantamine (Cpss) and clinical response (8).

CYP2D6 phenotypes of metabolizers can be classified as poor- (PM), intermediate- (IM), extensive- (EM) and ultra-rapid- metabolizers (UM). The metabolic rates in PMs and UMs are distinguished from EMs by 5 to 15 folds (10). Some studies reported the association between CYP2D6 polymorphisms and donepezil response (11, 12). While others reported no such association (13, 14). In Thai population, where *CYP2D6*10* allele frequency is found to be as high as 45% (15), this polymorphism is likely to explain interindividual variability of donepezil response and Cpss.

In addition, studies exploring innate susceptibility in development of AD have suggested the association between apolipoprotein E and the risk of AD. Most of these studies concluded that APOE $\mathcal{E}4$ alleles increase the risk of AD in a gene-dose dependent manner (16). However, effects of APOE genotypes on clinical response of donepezil and galantamine are still inconclusive.

Several evidences suggest that approximately 60-70% of therapeutic outcomes of AD treatment depend upon genetic factors (8). Genetic variations may affect safety and efficacy of drug usages. Since dementia has complex pathophysiology and several genes would contribute to variability to drug response, therefore, the association study between single gene on clinical drug response is unlikely to explain therapeutic outcomes being observed (8). Moreover, non-genetic factors such as age, gender, education level, comorbidities and drug-drug interactions can influence pharmacokinetic profiles and drug responses. Therefore, in this study, we investigate the association between genetic variations that involved therapeutic effects of donepezil and galantamine including pathogenic gene; *APOE*, drug metabolizing genes; *CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1*, transporter gene; *ABCB1* and nongenetic factors in Thai patients with dementia by using candidate genes approach. The study will enroll patients from the Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University. Candidate genes approach will be applied by determining the association of genetic and non-genetic factors with clinical response of donepezil and galantamine by using multivariate linear or logistic regression analysis that could be expected to contribute better prediction of clinical response compared with univariate analysis. The clinical outcomes to be studied in this study were Thai Mental State Examination (TMSE) scores, steady-state plasma concentrations (Cpss) of donepezil and galantamine and adverse drug events.

Objectives

Therefore, the main objectives of this study are:

- To evaluate the relationships between genetic polymorphisms of genes that involve metabolic pathways including *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1*, *ABCB1* and steady-state plasma concentrations of donepezil and galantamine in Thai patients with dementia.
- 2. To investigate the association of genetic factors including *CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, ABCB1* and *APOE* polymorphisms and non-genetic factors including age, gender, drug interaction and education levels with therapeutic response of donepezil and galantamine in Thai patients with dementia.

Scope of study

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

This study was performed as a retrospective cohort study. The study enrolled Thai patients with firstly diagnosed AD who receive donepezil or galantamine treatment and investigated the association of genetic factors including *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1*, *ABCB1* and *APOE* polymorphism and non-genetic factors with therapeutic outcomes as measured by Thai Mental State Examination (TMSE) scores and steady-state plasma concentrations (Cpss) of donepezil and galantamine.

Hypothesis

 Genetic polymorphisms of genes that involve metabolic pathways are significantly correlated with steady-state plasma concentrations of donepezil and galantamine in Thai patients with dementia. 2. *CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, ABCB1,* and *APOE* polymorphisms and nongenetic factors are significantly associated with clinical response to donepezil and galantamine treatment in Thai patients with dementia.

Expected benefits from the study

1. To obtain information about correlations between genetic polymorphisms of genes that involve metabolic pathways and steady-state plasma concentration of donepezil and galantamine.

2. To obtain information about the influence of genetic polymorphisms and nongenetic factors on inter-individual variability of clinical response to donepezil and galantamine treatment in Thai patients with dementia.

- Alba

Keyword:

Donepezil
Galantamine
CYP2D6 polymorphisms
UGT1A1 polymorphisms
Alzheimer's disease (AD)
Vascular dementia (VAD) IGKORN UNIVERSIT
Mixed dementia

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

Prevalence and incidence of dementia in Thailand

Dementia is a chronic disease which characterized mainly by cognitive functions declined caused by various central neurodegenerative and ischemic process. Dementia affects the quality of life and caregiver burden. With the aging populations, the prevalence of dementia in the elderly is 2-10% and increase 2 times every 5 years after 60 years old.

The estimated dementia patients in Thailand was about 229,100 persons and will increase to 450,200 and 1,233,200 persons in 2020 and 2050 respectively (2). Dementia is a chronic illness that affects the quality of life and caregiver burden. Moreover, family expenses are increase and loss of pharmacoeconomic outcomes.

Consequently, dementia is a serious healthcare problem in Thailand. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a common neurodegenerative disorder and one of the most common causes of dementia follow by vascular dementia (VAD) (4).

Pathophysiology

Alois Alzheimer described the key pathological hallmark of AD as $A\beta$ deposition and NFT formation in the cerebral cortex (1). Extracellular amyloid plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles are a key hallmark of pathophysiology (17). The results of this neuropathology of AD lead to apoptosis, inflammation and mitochondria dysfunction of neurons. Eventually, it is the cause of degeneration of cholinergic neurons and depletion of the acetylcholine neurotransmitter (17).

Amyloid precursor protein (APP) is encoded by *the APP* gene on chromosome 21. These proteins are characterized by single-pass transmembrane protein composing large extracellular domain. The functions of APP are promoting nerve growth, cell mobilization, and cell survivability (18). Most of APP is cleaved by alphasecretase and gamma-secretase. Alpha-secretase cleaves APP at A β domain then

gamma-secretase hydrolyzes within hydrophobic transmembrane domain liberating p3 and p7 which show non-toxic effect on the synapse (17). This pathway is called non-amyloidogenic pathways. On the contrary, minor amyloid precursor protein is cleaved by beta-secretase to produce a soluble N-terminal fragment of APP (sAPP β) and follow by gamma-secretase which hydrolyzes within the hydrophobic transmembrane domain to generate A β oligomers (17).

Another neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease is neurofibrillary tangles which result from hyperphosphorylation of tau protein. Tau protein is an abundant soluble protein which responsible for maintaining assembly and stability of microtubules and vesicular transport (17).

Phosphorylation of tau proteins is controlled by various kinases such as glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK- 3β), cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5), JNK and microtubule-associated regulatory kinase (MARK) (19) and dephosphorylation is regulated by phosphatases. Hyperphosphorylation of tau results from both an imbalance in tau kinase and phosphatase activities and changes in the conformation of tau. These changes lead to insoluble tau protein and reduce its affinity for microtubules, causing it to detach and spontaneously self-associate into paired helical filament structures. These filaments aggregate into NFTs, disturbing and impairing axonal transport and cause neuron death (17).

The consequence from cholinergic neuron cell death leads to atrophy of gyri and larger sulcus especially the hippocampus, temporal lobe, and frontal lobe. Amyloid plaque and neurofibrillary tangle will be accumulated in these regions causing decrease synapse and glucose metabolism. Choline acetyltransferase; ChAT which produces acetylcholine will be diminished. So, the level of acetylcholinesterase is decreased leading to memory and cognitive impairments. Moreover, noradrenergic cell at locus coeruleus will be destroyed (20). Generally, stroke is a common cause of dementia so risk factors for stroke are also a risk factor for vascular dementia. Several lines of evidence suggest that the major risk factors for vascular dementia are vascular risk factor which includes increasing age, hypertension, coronary artery disease, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, smoking, elevated total cholesterol levels, lower physical activity, low or high BMI. Most of clinical aspect of pathophysiology of vascular dementia involve brain ischemia and loss of vascular integrity with hemorrhage. The scenario of pathophysiology quite complex and share common neuropathological lesion with AD.

Clinical Presentations and Diagnosis

As mentioned above, the neuropathology of AD leads to neuron cell death particularly cholinergic neurons and therefore acetylcholine is diminished. As a result, the clinical presentations of AD are characterized by cognitive function decline especially loss of recent memory, impairment in activities of daily living (ADL), and change in behavior and personality. Moreover, neuropsychiatric symptoms are dominants symptom in AD especially in the middle and late stage of diseases.

There are two most frequently used clinical guidelines for the diagnosis of AD namely National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) and the American Psychiatric Association, in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V) as shown in table 1 and table 2, respectively.

Table (1 Diagnosis	of AD	according	to NINCE	S-ADRDA	criteria	(21)
iubic .			uccorunis	CO INNICE	5 //D//D//	Ciricciiu	(21)

NINCDS-ADRDA

Probable AD

- Deficits in two or more domain of cognition
- The progressive decline of memory and other cognitive functions
- Preserved consciousness
- Onset between ages 40 and 90
- Absence of systemic or other brain diseases that could account for symptoms

Possible AD

- Atypical onset, presentation, or clinical course of dementia
- Presence of another illness capable of producing dementia

Definite AD

- Clinical criteria for probable AD
- Tissue diagnosis by autopsy or biopsy

Table 2 Diagnosis of AD according to DSM-IV criteria (22)

DSM-IV
• Insidious onset with a progressive decline of cognitive function resulting in impairment of social or occupational functioning from a previously higher
level GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY
• Impairment of recent memory and at least one of the following cognitive
domains:
Aphasia
Apraxia
Agnosia
Executive functioning (planning, organizing, sequencing, abstracting)
• Cognitive deficits are not due to other neurological, psychiatric, toxic,
metabolic, or systemic diseases
• Cognitive deficits do not occur solely in the setting of a delirium

The clinical assessment of AD usually uses neuropsychological testing such as Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) or Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scalecognitive subscale (ADAS cog score). MMSE is the most widely used and studied worldwide because this method is non- invasive, convenient to routine clinical practice and easy for interpretation. However, neuropsychological testing has some limitation namely MMSE is less sensitive in severe AD (23). Another method for diagnosis of AD is cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) biomarker and neuroimaging. CSF biomarkers for AD are amyloid beta-42 (A β_{42}), total tau (T-tau) and phosphorylated tau (P-tau). Amyloid beta-42 is a molecular biomarker for amyloid deposition which level will decrease in cerebrospinal fluid whereas total tau and phosphorylated tau, the crucial constituent of neurofibrillary tangles will be increased in AD patients. CSF biomarker is sensitive to early diagnosis of AD. Bob Olsson et al. performed systematic review and meta-analysis and concluded that T-tau, P-tau, and A β_{42} in CSF and plasma T-tau are strongly associated with AD and should be used in clinical practice and clinical research (24).

In Thailand, TMSE or Thai Mental State Examination score was modified from MMSE for convenient to use for Thai populations.

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a widespread neuroimaging used to diagnose AD. The image of brain AD patient manifest by reducing hippocampus volume and medial temporal lobe atrophy. Amyloid PET tracers for examples, F18florbetapir, F18- flutematamol were developed to help diagnose of AD particularly in the aspect of rate of progression, and early diagnosis. Amyloid PET tracers binding to amyloid plaque was interpreted as positive scan lead to a measure of amyloid lesion burden in the brain (25). Palmqvist et al. compared head to head the accuracy of regional amyloid PET and CSF biomarkers such as A $\beta_{42/40}$, A β_{42} , total tau (t-tau). They suggested that PET and CSF biomarkers can identify early AD with high accuracy and there is no difference between the best CSF and PET measures (26). Vascular dementia is characterized by loss of cognitive function which primarily caused by cerebrovascular disease or impaired cerebral blood flow. Vascular dementia (VAD) is the second most common cause of dementia. Key features of VAD characterize by cognitive impairment as well as cardiovascular event. There are two common clinical scenarios of vascular dementia (27).

- A clinically diagnosed stroke is followed by dementia
- Vascular brain injury is identified on brain imaging in patients with cognitive decline but without a clinical history of stroke

The incidence of vascular dementia is approximately 15-50 % of all types of dementia. Vascular dementia is the second most common type of dementia (28). The estimated prevalence of vascular dementia among individuals older than 65 years is 1.6 % and rises with increasing age (29).Moreover, Senanarong et al. concluded that vascular dementia and AD are the most common causes of demetia in Thailand (30).

The diagnosis of vascular dementia should be differentially diagnosed from other causes of acquired cognitive decline including AD, Parkinson disease and other related dementia (PDD), Dementia with Levy bodies, normal pressure hydrocephalus (NPH), Depression (31-33). The evaluation of vascular dementia should use various modality particularly clinical history (characteristic of cognitive declines, risk factors, underlying disease conditions), neuroimaging and clinical features. In general, the Hachinski ischemic score was used to predict the likelihood of a vascular contribution to dementia (34).

+ 2 points	+ 1 point
 Abrupt onset 	 Stepwise deterioration
• Fluctuating course	 Nocturnal confusion
 History stroke 	• Preservation of personality
 Focal neurological symptoms 	• Depression
 Focal neurologic signs 	• Somatic complaints
. 5.44	• Emotional incontinence
	(pseudobulbar affect)
	Hypertension
	Associated atherosclerosis

Table 3 Hachinski ischemic score (34)

A score of 7 or greater indicated that a vascular contribution is likely.

The diagnostic criteria for vascular dementia have been offered by several organization such as DSN-IV, the International Society of Vascular Behavioral and Cognitive Disorders (VAS-COG)(35, 36). The diagnostic criteria are conceptually similar including:

จุหาลงกรณํมหาวิทยาลัย

- There is the evidence of stroke based on a sign of neurologic examination or neuroimaging.
- There is a clear relationship in the severity pattern of cognitive impairment and the presence of diffuse, subcortical cerebrovascular disease pathology.
- There should be no history of gradually progressive cognitive deficits before or after the stroke that suggest the presence of a non-vascular cognitive disorder e.g. AD.

Treatment

Because cholinergic neuron at nucleus basalis of Meynert is pronouncedly affected in AD, Moreover, cholinergic neuron regulated memory procedures. Therefore, restore and maintenance of cholinergic neuron are the first goal for AD treatment. At present, there were no disease-modifying drugs for dementia treatment. Because cholinergic neuron at nucleus basalis of Meynert is pronouncedly affected in dementia especially in AD. Moreover, cholinergic neuron regulated memory procedures. Therefore, restore and maintain of a cholinergic neuron are the first goal for dementia treatment.

According to several guidelines such as American Geriatric society 2013 (AGS), European Federation of Neurological Societies 2010 (EFNS), acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs) are recommended as the first line therapy for the treatment of mild to moderate AD and plus memantine (NMDA receptor partial agonist) for moderate to severe AD. At present, there are three acetylcholinesterase inhibitors including donepezil, rivastigmine, and galantamine. These drugs have a different precise mechanism of action. Namely, donepezil is a selective reversible noncompetitive inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase. Whereas, rivastigmine is a pseudoirreversible inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase. On the contrary, galantamine is not only the reversible inhibitor of AChE but also a presynaptic modulator of nicotinic ACh receptors which can enhance cholinergic activity.

There are limited data for pharmacological treatment of vascular and mixed dementia. It widely studies that cholinergic dysfunction might be playing a role in the neuropathological condition in vascular dementia as well as AD. Consequently, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors can be used in vascular dementia. Moreover, memantine, the N-methyl-D-aspartates receptor antagonist, has been used for VAD treatment also. Although the evidence of memantine for VAD treatment remains low, memantine is well tolerated, improve function and reduce caregiver burdens when compared with placebo. In addition, non-pharmacological treatment especially the reduce vascular risk factor can prevent the progression of VAD.

Table 4 and table 5 show some pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors respectively (3, 37).



Chulalongkorn University

Properties	Donepezil	Rivastigmine	Galantamine
Mode of inhibitions	Non-competitive, rapidly	Non-competitive, very slowly	Competitive, rapidly reversible
	reversible	reversible	
AChE/BuChE selectivity	300 🔁 🏒	1	50
Brain vs peripheral selectivity	Yes T	Yes	No
Ach isoform selectivity		$G_1 > G_4$	No
nAChR modulation	IS ON	No	Yes
Available dosage form	5,10 mg (tab)	1.5, 3, 4.5,6 mg (cap)	8,16 mg (ER form)
	112 U	4.6, 9.5 mg/24 hrs. (patch)	
Recommended starting dose	5 mg once daily	1.5 mg twice daily	8 mg once daily
	ร กลัย ERS	4.6 mg/24 hrs.	
Max does	10 mg	6 mg twice daily	24 mg once daily
Titration period	4-6 weeks	2-4 weeks	4-6 weeks
Adverse effects	Nausea, vomit, diarrhea	Nausea, vomit, diarrhea	Nausea, vomit, diarrhea
Originator	Eisai	Novartis	Jassen-Cilag
Tradename	Aricept®	Exelon®	Reminyl [®]

Table 4 Some pharmacodynamic properties of acetylcholinesterase drugs (3)

29

		יו ווכז כו מכבול יכו וכזוו וכזוכומזר מו מציז	
Properties	Donepezil	Rivastigmine	Galantamine
Bioavailability (%)	100	35 (3 mg), 70 (6 mg)	100
Protein binding (%)	93	40	17
t _{max,ss} (hrs)	4 (IR), 6 (SR)	1 (cap), 8 (patch)	1 (IR), 4-5 (ER)
V _d (L/kg)	12 ± 2	1.8 – 2.7	2.64
Metabolism	Hepatic	Esterase in liver and intestine	Hepatic
	(CYP2D6, CYP3A4, UGT)		(CYP2D6, CYP3A4, UGT1A1)
Kinetics	rinear Sector	Non-linear	Linear
t _{1/2} (hrs)		1.5-2 (cap), 3.4 (patch)	17
steady state (days)	Z 14 - 21		9
total clearance (L/hr)	10 ± 2.5	120	20 ± 5
))))		

Table 5 Some pharmacokinetic properties of acetylcholinesterase drugs (3)

30

Pharmacodynamic characteristic of AChEls

In humans, cholinesterases are found in two types. The first is acetylcholinesterase which is dominant in CNS. The main function of acetylcholinesterase is to hydrolyze acetylcholine into acetate and choline. Acetylcholinesterase has 3 globular isoforms, G1, G2 and G4 containing 1, 2 or 4 catalytic subunits. In the brain, there are 2 isoforms, i.e., tetrameric (G_4) and monomeric (G_1) isoform with various proportions in different brain regions from up to 15 % in the nucleus basalis of Meynert, to less than 5 % in the caudate nucleus (38). The other cholinesterase is butyrylcholinesterase, which is synthesized in the liver and secreted into the plasma. Butyrylcholinesterase is the predominant form in the peripheral systems such as the gastrointestinal tract and the heart. There is 1 to 10% of the total amount of cholinesterase in the adult CNS, where it is present in glial cells. The physiological effects of butyrylcholinesterase are still unclear, but it accounts for detoxifying of certain chemicals, thus limiting the amounts reaching the CNS. In addition, butyrylcholinesterase plays a role in metabolizing various molecules including neuroactive peptides, butyrylcholine, succinylcholine, organophosphate, and cocaine (3, 38).

In the brain of AD patients, the level of G4 membrane-bound form in a presynaptic neuron is decreased in all stages of diseases. Whereas, the level of G1 form in a postsynaptic neuron is relatively preserved. Conversely, butyrylcholinesterase remains unchanged (38). There are three acetylcholinesterase inhibitors including donepezil, rivastigmine, and galantamine. The main pharmacologic effects of acetylcholinesterases inhibitor are inhibition of acetylcholinesterase so the level of acetylcholine will be increased which can enhance cholinergic activities in AD patients.

However, these drugs have a different precise mechanism. Donepezil is a non-competitive and rapidly reversible inhibitor with a more highly specific for acetylcholinesterase than butyrylcholinesterase about 300 times. Rivastigmine is a pseudo-irreversible inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase. For this reason, the activity of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in the central nervous system is reduced by the same amount. Because of the progression of AD especially in last stages, glia cell can secrete butyrylcholinesterase to destroy acetylcholine so inhibition of butyrylcholinesterase might be useful for the treatment (39). The duration of central acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase that are inhibited by rivastigmine is about 8.5 and 3.5 hours respectively. Therefore, the short elimination half-life of rivastigmine (1-2 hours) is unlikely to impact the duration of inhibitory effects. The unique mechanism of rivastigmine is its preferential inhibition of acetylcholinesterase G1 form. JS Kenedy concluded that G1 isoform plays a role in hydrolyzing acetylcholine but G4 isoform is reduced when disease progression (40). In addition, rivastigmine show inhibition effect in some area of the brain due to G1 form selectivity. G1 form is highly expressed in the cortex and the hippocampus that significantly affected AD when compared with the other areas. Beside therapeutic effect, considering in adverse drug events aspects, rivastigmine shows less incidence of muscle cramp and weakness than other acetylcholinesterase inhibitors. This is because rivastigmine exhibits more selective inhibition of G1 form than G4 form which is the predominant form at the motor-end plate. On the contrary, galantamine is not only the reversible inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase but also allosteric modulation of nicotinic ACh receptors which can enhance cholinergic activity.

Due to differences in precise pharmacologic effects such as selectivity of acetylcholinesterase over butyrylcholinesterase or central over peripheral, these properties can affect their efficacy and adverse drug events profiles. Notwithstanding, several meta-analyses did not reach statistically different to distinguish the efficacy of the three AChEIs, but donepezil shows fewer adverse effects than other AChEIs (3).

32

Pharmacokinetic characteristic of donepezil and galantamine

Donepezil

Donepezil is the most frequently prescribed acetylcholinesterase inhibitors for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Donepezil exhibits linear pharmacokinetic properties. Bioavailability of donepezil is 100 %. Times to peak concentration of donepezil is 4 hours for immediate release formulation and 6 hours for sustained release formulation. Co-administration with food does not change drug absorption. Donepezil bind with total protein 96 % which consist of albumin and α 1-acid glycoprotein approximately 75% and 21%, respectively. Elimination halflife of donepezil is about 70 hours suggesting that once-daily dosing is appropriate. Time to reach steady states is within 14 to 21 days.

Donepezil is metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP) 3A4 and 2D6. Renal is the primary route to eliminate the parent drug and metabolites. The metabolic pathways of donepezil comprise of 3 major routes (41, 42).

- 1. O-demethylation to the M1, M2 metabolites and then glucuronide conjugation to M11 and M12 metabolites
- 2. N-dealkylation to the M4 metabolites
- 3. N-oxidation to the M6 metabolites

All of donepezil' s metabolites are inactive due to low plasma concentration and difficult to pass the blood-brain barriers except 6-O-desmethyl-donepezil. The 6-O-desmethyl-donepezil or M1 metabolite is the only one active metabolite and shows AChE inhibition comparable to donepezil. M1 represents approximately 20 % of the parents' drugs in human (43). Study in rat revealed that transportation of M1 into the brain is very low. Therefore, this implies that M1 metabolite cannot significantly influence pharmacological activity of the drug.

Because donepezil and its metabolites are mainly excreted via renal, patients who have renal impairments should be expected to adjust the dose. However, CF Nagy et al concluded that no significant difference pharmacokinetic parameters were observed between the healthy control group and subjects with moderate to severe renal impairments when administering 5 mg of donepezil. Therefore, dosage adjustment does not require for AD patients with moderate renal impairments. In contrast with renal impairment, AD patients with impaired liver function (Child-Pugh grade A and B) have to rise in AUC, $t_{1/2}$, C_{max} and steady-state plasma drug concentration (C_{ss}) when compared with healthy control. These data suggested that patients with mild to moderate hepatic impairment administered 5 mg of donepezil are quite safe and well tolerated.

Galantamine

Galantamine is completely absorbed with a bioavailability of 100% as well as donepezil. Peak plasma concentrations (C_{max}) are achieved at 1 and 4-5 hour after ingestion of immediate and prolonged release formulation respectively. Concomitant with food has no significant effect on total amount of drug absorption but slow t_{max} about 1.5 hours and C_{max} decreased by approximately 25%. Galantamine demonstrates linear pharmacokinetic properties with elimination half-life of 6-8 hours indicating that twice daily dose administration is suitable. A steady state of galantamine is reached approximately 6 days after the first dose of ingestion. The drug has quite low plasma protein binding (17%) and the apparent volume of distribution (V_d) is approximately 2.6 L/kg.

Galantamine is mainly eliminated to clinically inactive metabolites through multiple pathways, primarily by O-demethylation by CYP2D6, O-oxidation by CYP3A4 and glucuronidation. The major pathways of galantamine metabolism are primarily metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6 and 3A4 with O-demethylation and Ooxidation respectively, follows by glucuronidation. Some studies showed that UGT1A1 plays a role in glucuronidation. There are two major metabolites of galantamine including O-desmethyl galantamine and galantamine glucuronide. Study in vitro suggested that O-desmethyl galantamine was approximately 3 times more potent than galantamine in AChE inhibition. The rest excrete via kidney approximately 30% via the kidney. Metabolic pathway of galantamine quite complex and no dominant single metabolic pathway.

Dosage adjustment is not required in mild hepatic or renal impairment (creatinine clearance ≥9 ml/min). Maximum dosage of 16 mg/day is recommended for patients with moderate hepatic impairment. Galantamine is contraindicated in patients with severe hepatic (Child-Pugh score >9) and/or renal (creatinine clearance <9 ml/min) impairment (9).

Factor affecting clinical response

Although the effectiveness of AChEI is widely established in several studies, the response is difficult to predict because many factors could be responsible for inter-individual treatment. The factor which influenced the clinical response of AChEI could be divided mainly into 2 groups including genetic and non-genetic factors.

Genetic factors

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

It is widely accepted that pharmacogenetic is the significant factor that influences drug treatment response. Nowadays, several lines of evidence conclude that genetic variation in pathological, drug-metabolizing, drug transporter genes contribute to the inter-individual clinical response of AChEIs. Cacabelos R. et al. summarized pharmacogenetic genes involve clinical response of AChEIs as shown in table 6.
Drug	Pharmacogenetic gene					
Donepezil	Pathogenic genes: APOE, CHAT					
	Mechanistic genes: CHAT, ACHE, BCHE					
	Drug metabolism-related genes:					
	- Substrate: CYP2D6 (major), CYP3A4 (major), UGTs, ACHE					
	- Inhibitor: ACHE, BCHE					
	Transporter gene: ABCB1					
Galantamine	Pathogenic genes: APOE, APP					
	Mechanistic genes: ACHE, BCHE, CHRNA4, CHRNA7, CHRNB2					
	Drug metabolism-related genes:					
	- Substrate: CYP2D6 (major), CYP3A4 (major), UGT1A1					
	- Inhibitor: ACHE, BCHE					
Rivastigmine	Pathogenic genes: APOE, APP, CHAT					
	Mechanistic genes: ACHE, BCHE, CHAT, CHRNA4, CHRNB2					
	Drug metabolism-related genes:					
	-Inhibitor: ACHE, BCHE					
	Pleiotropic genes: APOE, MAPT					

Table 6 Pharmacogenetic genes associated with therapeutic outcome of AD (8)

Note:

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

ACHE: Acetylcholinesterase, APP: Amyloid precursor protein, BCHE: Butyrlcholinesterase, CHAT: Choline acetyltransferase, CHRNA4: Cholinergic Receptor Nicotinic Alpha 4 Subunit, CHRNA7: Cholinergic Receptor Nicotinic Alpha 7 Subunit, CHRNB2: Cholinergic Receptor Nicotinic Beta 2 Subunit, MAPT: Microtubuleassociated protein tau.

Genetic variations in CYP2D6

CYP2D6 is encoded by the *CYP2D6* gene which located on chromosome 22. CYP2D6 enzyme consists of 497 amino acids. Estimated number of commercial drugs about 25 % are metabolized by CYP2D6 enzymes such as antidepressants, betablockers, dextromethorphan, codeine, tramadol as shown in table 7(44).

Antidepressants	Amitriptyline, clomipramine, desipramine,
	doxepin, imipramine, nortriptyline,
	paroxetine, venlafaxine
Antipsychotics	Aripiprazole, chlorpromazine, haloperidol,
	olanzapine, perphenazine, paroxetine,
	risperidone, thioridazine
Antiarrhythmics	Flecainide, mexiletine, propafenone
Antiemetics	Dalasetron, ondansetron, tropisetron
Beta- blocker	Alprenolol, bupranolol, carvedilol,
Q Editors	metoprolol, propranolol, timolol
Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors	Citalopram, fluvoxamine, fluoxetine,
ວາສວອງດຽວນັ້ງມາຍ	paroxetine, venlafaxine
Selectives estrogen receptor	Tamoxifen
modulators	UNIVERSITY
Opioids	Codeine, dihydrocodeine, hydrocodone,
	oxycodone, methadone, tramadol
Others	Atomoxetine, dextromethorphan

Table 7 Substrates of CYP2D6 (44)

The synthesis of CYP2D6 enzyme is regulated by *CYP2D6* gene in chromosome 22q13.1. *CYP2D6* gene consists of 9 exons (4,383 base pairs). *CYP2D7* and *CYP2D8P* are considered as inactivate genes and locate nearby *CYP2D6* gene (45).

Types of CYP2D6 polymorphisms

Polymorphisms of CYP2D6 can be divided into 2 major characteristics.

1. Single nucleotide polymorphism; SNP

*CYP2D6*1* is a wild type allele of *CYP2D6* gene that expresses normal function enzyme. Substitution with only single nucleotide base may resulting in phenotype changes. For example, substitution of guanine with adenine at 1846 position named *CYP2D6*4* (46) which is the most common allele found in Caucasians. *CYD2D6*4* expresses defective enzymes resulting in poor metabolizer (PM) phenotype. *CYP2D6*10* results from the substitution of cytosine to guanine at 100 position. *CYP2D6*10* is the most common mutant allele found in Asians which leads to the expression of intermediate metabolizer (IM).

2. Copy number variation; CNV, hybrid or tandem gene

Copy number variation of *CYP2D6* gene resulting from gene duplication or multiduplications of *CYP2D6* gene (*CYP2D6**2xn: n = 2-5 and 13) increase enzyme activity and represent ultra-rapid metabolizer (UM).

Hybrid genes, sometimes called chimeric genes, often composed of fragments from gene deletion of *CYP2D7* on their 5 '-end and *CYP2D6* on their 3 '-end. Examples of hybrid genes *are CYP2D6* 13, CYP2D6*16, CYP2D6*66, CYP2D6*67, CYP2D6*79* and *CYP2D6*80*.

Moreover, hybrid gene results from tandem arrangement of variant alleles (*CYP2D6*1, CYP2D6*2*) in the same gene or different gene such as *CYP2D6*36+*10* or *CYP2D6*68 +*4* are commonly found in Asians and Caucasians, respectively (47).

CYP2D6 is a highly polymorphic gene found in population. Different alleles result in the extensive, intermediate, poor and ultrarapid metabolizer phenotypes as described in table 8.

Table 8 Correlation between variant alleles of CYP2D6 gene and predictedphenotypes (44, 46)

Major variant	Nucleotide	Consequence	Enzyme	Predict
alleles	changes		activity	Phenotypes
CYP2D6*1	none	Wild type	Normal	Extensive
		SHI MAR		metabolizer
CYP2D6*2	1661G>C;	Gene	Normal	Extensive
	<u>2850C>T;</u>	duplication/		metabolizer
	<u>4180G>C</u>	multiduplication		
		Dia la		
CYP2D6*4	<u>100C>T; 974C>A;</u>	Defective	Inactive	Poor
	<u>984A>G; 997C>G;</u>	splicing	enzyme	metabolizer
	<u>1661G>C;</u>	25333		
	<u>1846G>A;</u>	3		
	<u>4180G>C</u>	1		
CYP2D6*5	จุหาลงกร	Gene deletion	y No enzyme	Poor
	CHULALONG	orn Univers	ITY	metabolizer
CYP2D6*10	<u>100C>T;</u> 1039C>T;	P34S, S486T	Unstable	Intermediate
	1661G>C;		enzyme	metabolizer
	<u>4180G>C</u>			
CYP2D6*17	1023C>T;	T107I, R296C,	Altered	Intermediate
	<u>1661G>C;</u> 2850C>T;	S486T	affinity for	metabolizer
	4180G>C		substrates	

Correlation of CYP2D6 polymorphisms and predicted phenotypes

People who carry homozygous or compound heterozygous of normal or increased activity alleles such as *1, *2 were deemed extensive metabolizer (EM) whom optimum drug level and therapeutic response will be achieved. Whereas, those who carry homozygous or compound heterozygous of non-functional alleles such as *3-*8 were classified as poor metabolizer (PM) whom often experience exacerbated blood level and ADR comparing to IM or EM (46).



Chulalongkorn University

	Predicted	Effect		
CYP2D6 allele	genotype	Parent drug	Pro-drug	
homozygous or compound	Poor metabolizer	Risk of toxicity	Therapeutic	
heterozygous of	(PM)		failure	
nonfunctional alleles (*3-*8,				
*11-*16, *18-*21, *31, *36,				
*38, *42, *44, *47, *51, *56,				
*62)	abil1/120			
Homozygous or compound	Intermediate	Achieve therapeutic effects		
heterozygous of reduced	metabolizer			
activity alleles (*9, *10, *17,	(IM)			
*29, *41, *49, *50, *54, *55,	// <u>}</u>			
*59, *72)		4		
homozygous or compound	Extensive	Achieve thera	peutic effects	
heterozygous of normal or 🌾	metabolizer			
increased activity alleles	(EM)	8)		
(*1, *2, *33, *35,*53)		5		
homozygous or compound	Ultra-rapid	Therapeutic	Risk of toxicity	
heterozygous of	metabolizer	failure		
duplication/multiduplication	NGKOP _(UM) JNIVEI	ISITY		
of CYP2D6 normal alleles				
(e.g.*1×N, *2×N, *33×N,				
*35×N, 13>N>2)				

Table 9 Predicted	phenotypes	and clinical	response	of drugs	(46)
			10000100	0.0.0.30	(,

CYP2D6 polymorphisms in different ethnicities

*CYP2D6*10* is the most common allele found in the Asian population and thus perhaps the most common *CYP2D6* allele in the world. Whereas, *CYP2D6*4* has the highest frequency in Caucasians and *CYP2D6*17* is found commonly in Africans.

Allolos	CYP2D6	Caucasians	African	Asians	Thai
Alleles	alleles		Americans		
Functional	*1	33–40	28–50	23–42	21-47
	*2	22–34	11–78	9–20	9.6-10.8
Reduced	*9	0–2.9	0	3.3	-
function					
	*10	1.9–8	3.1-8.6	38-70	44.6-53.0
	*17	0.1-0.3	9–34	0.5	-
	*41	8	-	-	6.5
Nonfunctional	*3	1-3.9	0-0.5	0.8–1	0.9
	*4	12–23	1.2-7	0–2.8	0.7-1.3
	*5	1.6-7.3	0.6-6.1	4.5-6.1	4.3-6.7
	*6	0.7-1	0	-	-
Duplication	*1 × 2	0.2-0.5	3.3	0.5	-
	*2 × 2	0.7–1.6	1.6–2.5	0-1	-
	*4 × 2	0.1-0.2	0.9	—	-

Table 10 Alleles frequencies of CYP2D6 in various ethnicities (48)

Polymorphisms of CYP2D6 in Thai populations

In Thailand, Previous studies reported the allele frequencies of CYP2D6 variants in Thais individuals by using a variety of techniques. The data showed that CYP2D6*10 allele was the most common allele found in Thai populations shown in table 11.

Researchers	Suwannasri	Chamnanphon	Areepium	Sukasem
CYP2D6 alleles	et.al.	et.al.	et.al.	et.al.
CYP2D6*1	21	35	72.9	24.6
CYP2D6*2	9.7	9.6	3.2	10.8
CYP2D6*4	0.7	0.9	1.1	1.3
CYP2D6*5	4.3	4.4	-	6.7
CYP2D6*10	44.6	45.6	22.8	49.6
CYP2D6*14	1.04	0.9	-	0.1
		(CYP 2D6*14B)		(CYP 2D6*14B)
CYP2D6*35	-	0.9	-	0.1
CYP2D6*36	16.4	0.9	-	0
CYP2D6*39			-	0.2
CYP2D6*41	- 2/	1.8	-	6.5
Functional gene	0.35		-	0
duplication		Contraction of the second s		
Allele coverage	98.09		_	100

 Table 11 Distribution of CYP2D6 polymorphisms in Thai population(15, 49-51)

จุหาลงกรณํมหาวิทยาลัย

Genetic variations in CYP3A5

CYP3A5 are encoded by *CYP3A5* gene which located on chromosome 22.(52) The *CYP3A5* is a member of *CYP3As* gene. The *CYP3A* composes of CYP3A4, CYP3A5, CYP3A7, and CYP3A43 genes (53, 54). Moreover, there is pseudogene nearby *CYP3As* gene including *CYP3AP1*, *CYP3AP2*, and *CYP3AP3*. The four genes located in the order of *CYP3A43-CYP3A4-CYP3A7-CYP3A5* (55).

In human liver cell, CYP3A4 is the most abundant of drug metabolizing enzyme which plays an important role in drug metabolism process. Contrary to CYP3A4, the CYP3A5 expression is dominant in extrahepatic tissue, especially in the alimentary canal (54). In general, genetic variation of CYP3A4 might be influenced by interindividual variation in drug level or drug response, especially in Caucasian. In contrast to Caucasians, CYP3A4 is not polymorphic in Thai populations. Consequently, only CYP3A4 may not greatly describe the interindividual variation of drug response because its genetic variants are uncommon and have limited effect on enzyme function. These implied that genetic variation of CYP3A5 responsible for the interindividual variability (56).

Genetic variation of *CYP3A5* is higher compared to *CYP3A4*. There is a large interindividual variation in hepatic and extrahepatic CYP3A5 expression than CYP3A4. In contrast to other CYPs of which the **1* allele is usually common allele, *CYP3A5*3* is the most common defective allele (53) with an allele frequency of about 92%, 73% and 21% in Caucasians, Asians, and Africans, respectively(53). *CYP3A5*3* occurs by splicing variants of intron 3 (g.6986G>A). An allele (*CYP3A5*1*; wild type) encodes a normal splice CYP3A5 whereas, the variants G allele (*CYP3A5*3*) produce stop codon and ultimately exhibit premature termination of translation in CYP3A5 synthesis. Homozygous of *CYP3A5*3* is not express activity of CYP3A5 enzyme (57). The CYP3A5 allele in associate with predicted phenotype is described in table 12.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University **Table 12** Functionality of CYP3A5 alleles and its related predicted enzyme activity(58)

CYP3A5 alleles	Predicted genotype	Example of diplotypes
homozygous or		
compound heterozygous	Poor metabolizer (PM)	*3/*3, *6/*6, *7/*7,
of nonfunctional alleles	(CYP3A5 non-expresser)	*3/*6, *3/*7, *6/*7
(*3, *6, *7, *8)	. Shid da	
compound heterozygous of functional and non- functional alleles	Intermediate metabolizer (IM) (<i>CYP3A5</i> expresser)	*1/*3, *1/*6, *1/*7
homozygous of functional alleles (*1)	Extensive metabolizer (EM) (<i>CYP3A5</i> expresser)	*1/*1

CYP3A5 polymorphism in different ethnicities

Previous reported the allele frequencies of *CYP3A5* variants in Thais individuals by using various of techniques. The data showed that *CYP3A5*3* allele was the most common allele as shown in table 13.

Table 13 Alleles frequencies of CYP3A5 polymorphisms in various ethnicities(59-65)

CYP3A5 alleles	CVD215*1	CVD215*2				
Ethnicity	CIFSAS I	CIFSAS S				
Asians						
Thai	38.3	61.7				
Chinese	24.0	76.0				
Malaysian	39.0	61.0				
Japanese	23.0	77.0				
Korea	20.0	80.0				
Caucasians						
Polish	3.5	96.5				
Dutch	8.5	91.5				
Bosnia	6.8	93.2				
Brazillian	21.0	79.0				

Genetic variations in UGT1A1

The Uridine diphosphate (UDP)-glucuronosyltransferase or UGT has a crucial role in phase II metabolism, especially in glucuronidation reaction. UGT enzymes are categorized into two subfamilies namely UGT1A and UGT2B. UGT1A1 is encoded from *UGT1* family polypeptide A1, which is located on chromosome 2q37 (66).

The UGT1A1*1 [A(TA)₆TAA] is considered as a wild-type allele which contains six TA repeats in the TATA box of the promoter region. The length of this TA repeat sequence is inversely correlated with the activity of the UGT1A1 enzyme (66). UGTA1A1*28 [A(TA)₇TAA] is the most common mutant allele that comprises of seven TA repeats. UGT1A1*28 encodes defective enzyme with 25–80% enzymatic activity comparing to the normal allele (66, 67). The allele frequency of UGT1A1*28 is 33.4– 36.5% in the Caucasian population and 39.0–40.4% in Africans. Whereas, in Asians, the allele frequency is much lower (13.9%) (68). *UGT1A1*6* is the most frequent allele found in Asians (13.0%). The *UGT1A1*6* (211G>A, G71R), encodes enzyme with 50% less activity than the wild-type allele(69). In Thailand, Sukasem et al. developed pyrosequencing techniques to determine *UGT1A1* polymorphism in Thai colorectal cancers. The results showed that allele frequencies of *UGT1A1*1*, *UGT1A1*6*, and *UGT1A1*28* were 74 %, 9 %, and 17% respectively (67). The correlation of variant alleles and phenotypes are shown in table 14.

The decline in the UGT1A1 activity of *UGT1A1*28* variant approximately 25 and 70% depending on the presence of one or two *UGT1A1*28* variant allele respectively (66). At least variant alleles have been reported in UGT Most of them are non-synonymous SNP which resulting in reduced enzyme activity.

Allele	Variant	Location	Enzyme activity	Associated
	AS .		25	phenotype
UGT1A1*1	(TA) ₆ TAA	Promotor	Normal	Wild type
UGT1A1*28	จุฬาล (TA) TAA	งกรณมหา Dramatar	Ingrag	Cillbort avadroppe
(rs8175347)	(1A)71AA	Promotor	Reduced	Gilbert syndrome
UGT1A1*36	(TA)₅TAA	Promotor	Increased	-
UGT1A1*37	(TA) ₈ TAA	Promotor	Reduced	Crigler-Najjar, type II
UGT1A1*6	с.211			
(rs4148323)	211G>A,	Exon1	Reduced	Gilbert syndrome
	G71R			
UGT1A1*27	a (9(C))	Even1	Deduced	Cillbort avadropoo
(rs35350960)	9. 000 C>A	EXONI	neuuceu	Gilbert syndrome

 Table 14 UGT1A1 allele naming conventions, locations, and associated

 phenotypes(69)

Genetic variations in ABCB1

ABCB1 gene (ATP-binding cassette, subfamily B, member 1 also called MDR1; Multidrug resistance 1) encodes P-glycoprotein (P-gp) which located on chromosome 7q21.12. P-gp located on endothelial cell lining BBB, small intestine, liver, and kidney(70). The previous study concludes that *ABCB1* is highly polymorphic. Common three polymorphisms, 1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T have been studied extensively with respect to their effects on P-gp function and clinical relevance. *ABCB1* 3435C>T is the most common silent SNP in exon 26, associated with a lower expression and function of the protein in human(71) whereas, *ABCB1* 1236C>T SNP, a silent polymorphism occurs in exon 12. *ABCB1* 2677G>T/A is a tri-allelic polymorphism in exon 21. Both variant alleles (A or T) result in an amino acid change, Ala893Thr, and Ala893Ser, respectively, which alter expression and activity of P-gp(72).

In the brain, P-gp is localized on endothelial cell of BBB and brain parenchyma, might attribute to pathogenesis of AD especially clearance of A β . Moreover, P-gp plays a role in efflux drug transport pump transporting various drug from the brain back into the blood compartment(8). This implied that genetic variation of *ABCB1* associated with increased donepezil level in CNS due to a decrease efflux of the drug from the central nervous system to the blood compartment (72). The distribution of *ABCB1* 1236 C>T and *ABCB1* 3435 C>T allele frequency are shown in table 15.

Ethnicity	Caucasian	African	Asian	Thai	
Alleles	Caucasian	Anican	Asian	TId	
<i>ABCB1</i> 1236 C>T	38.0-45.9	15.0-21.0	43.7-67.2	64.0	
<i>ABCB1</i> 3435 C>T	47.0-56.6	10.0-27.0	34.7-63.2	42.6-47.7	

 Table 15 Alleles frequencies of ABCB1 polymorphisms in various ethnicities (73, 74)

Genetic variation in APOE

Apolipoprotein E (APOE) is encoded by *APOE* gene which located on chromosome 19q13.32. The structural of apolipoprotein E has two domains. The first domain is the N- terminal domains which responsible for binding with APOE receptor (residues 136-150). The other domain is C-terminal which involves the binding of lipids (residues 244- 272) (75). Apolipoprotein E composes of 299 amino acids and expresses in the liver, the brain, macrophage, and monocyte (76). Apolipoprotein E has three isoforms due to the difference of the amino acid at 112 and 158 positions.

Apolipoprotein E is responsible for transporting cholesterol from the blood to LDL receptor in the liver. In the brain, apolipoprotein is synthesized by glia cell. APOE \mathbf{E} 2 and APOE \mathbf{E} 3 facilitate recycling of cholesterol for cell repairment and nerve growth(16).

APOE ϵ 4 plays a crucial role in the formation of amyloid plaque and neurofibrillary tangles. It is widely believed that APOE play an important role in A β clearance. Moreover, APOE can promote inflammation and apoptosis in neuron(16).

APOE is the important genetic factors that have been elucidated in the late onset of AD. Pharmacogenetic of AD have dominantly involved pharmacodynamic gene especially APOE. *APOE* is the most extensively and consistency studied candidate pharmacogenetic gene in AD treatment. Two of five studies have associate better donepezil response (3).

Several research using both *in vitro* (cell culture) and in vivo (transgenic animal model) methods have explored precise mechanism about APOE **£**4 that can advocate AD. Most of the studies conclude that APOE **£**4 play a role in promoting neurofibrillary tangle(77) and amyloid plaque aggregation or reducing amyloid clearance (78). Mutation in chromosome 19 resulted in increasing production of APOE $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}4$ when comparing with normal chromosome. Hence *APOE* $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}4$ increase the risk of AD. Corder EH et al. suggested that homozygous *APOE* $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}4$ was associated with the highest frequency of AD (79).



Chulalongkorn University

APOE E 4 alleles	APOE E 4	APOE E 4	APOE E 4
Characteristics	non-carrier	Heterozygous	Homozygous
AD frequency (%)	20	47	91
Mean age at onset	84	76	68

Table 16 Effects of APOE *E*4 on AD frequency and mean age at onset (16)

Several studies have reported the association between apolipoprotein E and the risk of AD. Most of these studies concluded that *APOE* $\mathcal{E}4$ alleles increase the risk of AD in a gene-dose dependent manner (80). Heterozygous carriers (*APOE* $\mathcal{E}3\mathcal{E}4$) and homozygous carriers (*APOE* $\mathcal{E}4\mathcal{E}4$) increase the risk of AD about 3 and 15 folds respectively. Meanwhile, *APOE* $\mathcal{E}2$ allele may protect from AD and delays the age of onset.(76) Moreover, Mengying Liu et al. performed a meta-analysis and revealed that *APOE* $\mathcal{E}3$ allele might have a protective effect (81).These results were in concordance with the study of Ping Wu (82).

In Thailand, Senanarong et al. showed that 59.4 percent of AD patients were APOE *E*4 carriers (positive predictive value of 0.60) and suggested that APOE *E*4 allele increases the risk of developing dementia. Detection of APOE polymorphism may be an adjunct diagnostic for Alzheimer's disease (83). Notwithstanding, there is no report about the association of apolipoprotein E polymorphism and clinical response of donepezil and galantamine in Thailand. Association studies between polymorphism *APOE* and clinical response of donepezil and galantamine are summarized in table 19 and 20, respectively.

APOE polymorphism in different ethnicities

APOE genotypes among the population in the world show in table 17. APOE*3 is the highest allele frequency in the world and APOE*2 is lowest in all populations.

APOE alleles	4005 60		4005.64
Ethnicity	APOE E 2	APOE E 3	APOE E 4
Africa	0.099±0.083	0.690±0.110	0.209±0.090
Europe	0.077±0.033	0.790±0.056	0.127±0.049
Asia	0.063±0.030	0.847±0.054	0.090±0.043
North America	0.049±0.041	0.824±0.060	0.127±0.057
South America	0.046±0.069	0.767±0.129	0.187±0.132
Oceania	0.111±0.052	0.667±0.162	0.221±0.149
India	0.051±0.017	0.881±0.039	0.068±0.030
All populations	0.073±0.047	0.790±0.088	0.133±0.074

Table 17 Alleles frequencies of APOE in various ethnicities (84)



Polymorphisms of APOE in Thai populations are summarized in table 18

 Table 18 Allele frequencies of APOE polymorphisms in Thai populations(83, 85-87)

Researcher	Kamruecha	Senanarong	Pulkes et al.	Chaudhary
Allele	(AD)	(AD)	(PD)	et al. (DM)
£ 2	0.0	3.0	11.0	1.6
£ 3	66.7	80.0	79.0	85.8
£ 4	33.3	17.0	10.0	12.6
Total	100	100	100	100

		0	-
Researcher/Years	Genetic variants	Ethnicity /	Main results
		Number of patients	
		CYP2D6	
Federica Varsaldi et.al.	CYP2D6*1, CYP2D6*2x2	42 Italian	No statistically significant in plasma concentrations
2006(12)	CYP2D6*3, CYP2D6*4,		between homozygous EM and heterozygous EM.
	CYP2D6*5, CYP2D6*6		Heterozygous EM showed a better clinical response
	ากร DNG		when compared with homozygous EM.
Albert Pilotto et.al.	rs1080985 C>G	127 Italian	A significantly higher frequency of patients with the
2009(11)	1797) RN (G allele of rs1080985 was found in non-responders
	วิท		than in responders.
Davide Seripa et.al.	16 CYP2D6	57 Italian	A significantly higher frequency of gene variants
2011(88)	functional		conferring decreased or absent enzyme activity was
	polymorphisms		observed in responder than in non-responder
			patients.
Diego Albani et.al.	rs1080985	415 Italian	Significant association between rs1080985 and
2012(89)			response to donepezil after 6 months of therapy
			was observed.

Table 19 Association study between pharmacogenetic gene and therapeutic outcomes of donepezil

Aleksandra Klimkowicz	rs1080985 C>G	116 Polish	No association was found between CYP2D6
Mrowiec et.al.			rs1080985 SNP and clinical response.
2013(13)			
Yuan Zhong et.al.	CYP2D6*10	110 Chinese	CYP2D6*10 carriers may respond better to donepezil
2013(90)	C		when compared with wild allele.
Mengyuan Liu et.al.	rs1080985 C>G	206 Chinese	No significant differences between responders and
2014(14)	าลง ALC		non-responders to donepezil treatment were
	ากร Ins		observed in the distribution of the CYP2D6
	ณ์ม KOP		rs1080985 SNP.
Nirmal Sonali et.al.	CYP2D6*2, CYP2D6*3,	55 Indians	CYP2D6 polymorphism though not significantly
2014(91)	CYP2D6*4, CYP2D6*10,		might partially be involved in the plasma
	CYP2D6*17		concentration of AD drug
Muriel Noetzli et.al.	CYP2D6*3, CYP2D6*4,	129 Swiss	Significantly decreased and increased CL in CYP2D6
2014(92)	CYP2D6*5, CYP2D6*6		PMs and UMs compared with EMs, respectively.
Jin Lu et.al.	CYP2D6*10	77 Han Chinese	Significant association between plasma
2015(6)			concentrations of S-donepezil (based on CYP2D6
			polymorphisms)
			and therapeutic responses were found.
Jin Lu et.al.	CYP2D6*10	85 Chinese	<i>CYP2D6*10/*10</i> showed the best therapeutic

2016(93)			response when compared with other genotypes.
Caterina Chianella	CYP2D6*1, CYP2D6*2,	92 Italian	No significant association was found between
2011(94)	CYP2D6*3, CYP2D6*4,		CYP2D6 genotype and clinical response.
	СҮР2D6*5, СҮР2D6*6,		
	CYP2D6*9, CYP2D6*10,		
	CYP2D6*41		
	ากร ING	CYP3A	
Laura Magliulo et.al.	СҮРЗА4*1В, СҮРЗА4*3,	54 Italian	No association was found between CYP3A4 or
2011(72)	CYP3A4*4		CYP3A5 polymorphisms and plasma concentration
	СҮРЗА5*2, СҮРЗА5*3,		or clinical response.
	CYP3A5*6 A C		
Muriel Noetzli et.al.	СҮРЗА4*1В, СҮРЗА4*22,	129 Swiss	The population pharmacokinetic model
2014(92)	<i>CYP3A4</i> rs4646437 C>T		demonstrated no statistically significantly different in
			CL was observed between CYP3A4 or CYP3A5
			genotypes
		ABCB1	
Laura Magliulo et.al.	ABCB1 3435C>T,	54 Italian	The haplotype 1236T/2677T/3435T showed a
2011(72)	<i>ABCB1</i> 1236C>T,		tendency towards a better clinical response and

	ABCB1 2677G>T		lower plasma concentration.
		APOE	
Greenberg et al.	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	60 American	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2000(95)	APOE E 4		clinical response
Winblad et al.	APOE E2, APOE E3,	286 Caucasian	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2001(96)	APOE E 4		clinical response
Rigaud et al.	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	117 French	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2002(97)	APOE E 4		clinical response
	น์มา ORI		
Bizarro et al.	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	81 Italian	Better efficacy of donepezil was shown in AD
2005(98)	APOE E4		patients carrying at least one APOE ${\cal E}^{4}$ allele when
	าลั ERS		assessed by MMSE scores
Kanaya et al.	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	40 Japanese	APOE E 4 groups showed worse clinical response in
2010(99)	APOE E 4		the third year when evaluated by ADAS-cog score.
Aleksandra Klimkowicz	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	116 Polish	No significant association of APOE genotype and
Mrowiec et.al.	APOE E 4		clinical response
2013(13)			
Yuan Zhong et.al.	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	110 Chinese	No significant association of APOE genotype and

2013(90)	APOE E 4		clinical response
Mengyuan Liu et.al.	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	206 Chinese	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2014(14)	APOE E 4		clinical response



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Researcher/Years	Genetic variants	Ethnicity /	Main results
		Number of patients	
		CYP2D6	
Vladimir Piotrovsky et al.	CYP2D6 phenotypes	356 Caucasian	Clearances (CLs) in CYP2D6 PM were found to be
2003(100)	ຈຸ ນ HUL		lower than EM in a population pharmacokinetic
	าลง ALC		model.
Caterina Chianella	СҮР2D6*1, СҮР2D6*2,	92 Italian	No significant association was found between
2011(94)	CYP2D6*3, CYP2D6*4,		CYP2D6 genotype and clinical response.
	CYP2D6*5, CYP2D6*6,		
	CYP2D6*9, CYP2D6*10,		
	CYP2D6*41		
Muriel Noetzli et.al.	CYP2D6*3, CYP2D6*4,	27 Swiss	Poor metabolizer (PM) was associated with higher
2014(101)	CYP2D6*41		plasma concentration compared with extensive
	CYP3A4*22		metabolizer (EM).
	CYP3A5*3		No significant association was found between
	POR*28		CYP3A4
	ABCB1 3435C>T,		rs4646437, CYP3A4*22, CYP3A5*3, POR*28, ABCB1
	ABCB1 2677G>T		3435C>T, and 2677G>T polymorphisms and dose-

Table 20 Association study between pharmacogenetic gene and therapeutic outcomes of galantamine

			adjusted galantamine concentrations
		APOE	
Raskind Murray A et. al.,	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	363 American	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2000(102)	APOE E4		clinical response
Aerssens Jeroen et al.,	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	853 Caucasians	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2001(103)	APOE E4		clinical response
Guk-Hee Suh et al.,	APOE E 2, APOE E 3,	202 Korean	No significant association of APOE genotype and
2006(104)	APOE E 4		clinical response
	าวิทยาลัย Universit		

Г

Non-genetic factor

1. Age

It is widely accepted that aging might influence the physiological process in the elderly including reducing liver and renal blood flow, declines in liver volume. These physiological processes are predisposed affected pharmacokinetic profile of drugs especially decreases the clearance of drug (105, 106). Consequently, increased age might increase steady state plasma concentration of drugs.

Regarding clinical response, Wattmo et al. perform three-year, nonrandomized, prospective, multicenter study in 843 AD patients who were treated with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (107). The results suggested that AD patients with older age had better response compared with younger age.

2. Gender

Innate biological and physiological between male and female can contribute to difference pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic of drug. The pharmacokinetic processes that affected by gender are distribution and drug elimination process. The difference in volume of distribution between male and female was observed. It is possible that difference in fluid component and body weight among male and female could be attributed to the difference in volume of distribution. In addition, the drug elimination including hepatic metabolism and renal clearance are associated with gender.

Gender has been reported to influence AD susceptibility or treatment. Scacchi et al. observed that female seemed to be more sensitive to acetylcholinesterase inhibitors therapy. Moreover, female have more cognitive score than male when evaluated by MMSE (108). On the contrary, Wattmo et al. reported that male AD patients have better response than female (107). Due to inconsistent results, effect of gender on clinical response of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors are inconclusive. The studies have explored the influence of gender on response of acetylcholinesterase inhibitor.

3. Drug interaction

Because donepezil and galantamine are metabolized by CYP2D6 and CYP3A4. CYP2D6 or CYP3A4 inhibitors and inducers as shown in table 21 can alter plasma concentration and ultimately affect clinical response. Previous report concludes that co-administration of ketoconazole, a strong CYP3A4 inhibitors, with donepezil showed a significant increased steady-state plasma concentration of donepezil approximately 23-30%. Whereas, plasma concentration of ketoconazole remains stable (109). In case of galantamine, the bioavailability of galantamine is increased about 40, 30 and 10 % when administered with paroxetine (CYP2D6 inhibitor), ketoconazole (CYP3A4 inhibitor) and erythromycin (CYP3A4 inhibitor), respectively (3).

Enzyme	Strong Inhibitors	Moderate Inhibitors	Weak inhibitors
CYP2D6	bupropion,	cinacalcet,	amiodarone,
	fluoxetine,	cimetidine,	abiraterone,
	paroxetine,	duloxetine,	celecoxib,
	quinidine,	fluvoxamine,	cimetidine,
	terbinafine	mirabegron	clobazam,
			cobicistat,
			desvenlafaxine,
			diltiazem,
			diphenhydramine,
			Echinacea,
			escitalopram,
			febuxostat,

Table 21 Inhibitors of CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 enzymes (44)

			gefitinib,
			hydralazine,
			hydroxychloroquine
			imatinib,
			labetalol,
			locaserin,
			methadone,
			oral contraceptives,
		Mar.	propafenone,
	OF OF		ranitidine,
			ritonavir,
			sertraline,
			telithromycin,
		×	verapamil,
			vemurafenib
CYP3A4	boceprevir,	amprenavir,	alprazolam,
	clarithromycin,	aprepitant,	amiodarone,
	conivaptan,	atazanavir,	amlodipine,
	grapefruit juice,	ciprofloxacin,	atorvastatin,
	indinavir,	darunavir/ritonavir,	bicalutamide,
	itraconazole,	diltiazem,	cilostazol,
	ketoconazole,	erythromycin,	cimetidine,
	lopinavir/ritonavir,	fluconazole,	cyclosporine,
	mibefradil,	fosamprenavir,	fluoxetine,
	nefazodone,	grapefruit juice,	fluvoxamine,
	nelfinavir,	imatinib,	ginkgo,
	posaconazole,	verapamil	goldenseal,
	ritonavir,		isoniazid,

saquinavir,	nilotinib,
telaprevir,	oral
telithromycin,	contraceptives,
voriconazole	ranitidine,
	ranolazine,
	tipranavir/ritonavir,
	zileuton

	0000011	12	
Table 22 Inducers of	CYP2D6	and CYP3A4	enzymes

Enzyme	Strong Inducers	Moderate Inducers	Weak Inducers
CYP2D6	Not known	Not known	Not known
CYP3A4	avasimibe carbamazepine, phenytoin, rifampin,	bosentan, efavirenz, etravirine, modafinil,	amprenavir, aprepitant, armodafinil, echinacea,
	St. John's wort	nafcillin หาวิทยาลัย I UNIVERSITY	pioglitazone, prednisone, rufinamide

Considering in pharmacodynamic drug interaction aspects, anticholinergic drug that block muscarinic (M_1) receptor has been reported to disturb cognitive function(110) and counteract the effect of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors.

4. Education levels

Non-genetic factors investigated by several studies is education level. Miranda Lu´ıs F.J.R. and other investigators observed that additional year in the level of

(44)

education was associated with worse clinical response (1.14-fold per year). A similar observation was found that AD patients with high education had the worst response to acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (111). Moreover, Wattmo et al. observed that patients with 15 years of education exhibited an average of additional 2.2 points of MMSE and 3.0 points of ADAS-cog deterioration after three years compared with an individual with 9 years of education levels (107).



Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

Conceptual framework

As mentioned in literature review, both genetic factor and non-genetic factor, as well as established document and previous clinical studies, guided the conceptual framework of this study. The conceptual framework that might describe interindividual clinical response and Cpss of donepezil and galantamine were illustrated as follow.



Chulalongkorn University

Conceptual framework: Donepezil study





Conceptual framework: Galantamine study

Research Methodology

Patients and Protocols

The study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki 1975 and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University (EC: 818/2016). Written informed consents were obtained from participants, from direct relative or legal representative in the case of critical illness and demented patients.

This study was performed as retrospective cohort for donepezil study and prospective cohort for galantamine study. Participants in this study were enrolled from the Neurology outpatient unit in the Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol university. The inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria are described in table 23.



Table 23 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria			
1.	Thai patients with AD, VAD, and Mixed AD with CVD who met National		
	Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke-Alzheimer's		
	Disease and Related Disorders Association Work Group (NINCDS-ADRDA)		
	criteria for Alzheimer's disease or NINDS – AIREN criteria for vascular dementia		
	or other criteria as appropriate and first diagnose to Dementia		
2.	Not early-onset AD and Familial Alzheimer's Disease (FAD)		
3.	Receive oral donepezil or galantamine daily for the first times and not receive		
	rivastigmine.		
Exclusion criteria			
1.	Patients with Frontotemporal dementia, Dementia with Lewy body		
2.	Patients who have psychiatric disease i.e. schizophrenia, depression and other		
	neurological disorders such as Parkinson's disease, seizure, and stroke which		
	unstable symptoms		
3.	Patients or care-givers refusal and reluctant		
4.	Non- compliance or unable to take donepezil or galantamine for longer than		
	4 weeks due to side effects or any problems		

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Non-compliance was defined as being unable to take donepezil or galantamine due to side effects, irregular administration, out of drug supply before the next visit, and loss of drug supply.

The diagnosis was based on Diagnostic and Statistical Manual Mental Disorders-IV (DSM-IV) criteria. Differential diagnosis among AD, VAD, and mixed dementia using Hachiski-Score and neuroimaging evidence which was judged by the neurologist.

Data collection and cognitive evaluation

Participants who met all inclusion criteria were assessed by the same protocols including physical examination, structural interview, and laboratory screening. Data were obtained from medical records of hospital. All patients' information was recorded in case-record form.

Case-record form contains 4 parts namely demographic data, medical history, treatments data, and genetic data.

Cognitive function was evaluated using TMSE scores which ranged from 0-30 points. This score is positive score, a higher score indicated better cognitive function. Cognitive score was evaluated by psychologist and clinical research nurse using TMSE at baseline every three to six after treatment. These results were reported comparing discrepancy between before and after treatment.

Any adverse drug events that occur will also be recorded. Concomitant drugs data from patients who took concomitant drug for at least three months were collected.

Baseline clinical characteristic and demographic data were obtained from an electronic medical recorded and structural interview.

Definition of responsiveness

According to the NICE (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence) criteria, a responder to AChEI treatment was defined as a patient who showed improvement or no deterioration in cognition, as evaluated by means of TMSE score(112).

However, some research defined responder as patients who gets donepezil or galantamine and MMSE increased, remain stable, or the delta MMSE \geq 2. Whereas, patients who worsening of more than 3 points in delta MMSE were classified as non-responder (NR) in order to boost statistical power of the study(112).

Sample size determination

In this study, we estimated the number of samples sized which was calculated from univariate analysis. However, due to limited time, resource, and budget it was not possible for using the number of sample size that was calculated from the univariate analysis.

The numbers of patients were calculated from the rule of thumb suggested for multivariate regression analysis i.e. the number of the less common of the two possible outcomes ("events") divided by the number of predictor variables should be at least 10, and preferably greater (in general 10 to 20) (113).

The number of independent variables considered to be studied in this study was five for donepezil study (*CYP2D6, CYP3A5, ABCB1, APOE* genes, and non-genetic factor) and four for galantamine study (*CYP2D6, ABCB1, UGT1A1, APOE* genes, and non-genetic factor).

The probability of poor response will be estimated from previous study of Yuan Zhong et al. who showed that the number of non-responders is 41.7 percent. Therefore, the probability of poor response of donepezil is 0.417. The estimated number of non-responders (less common occurs when compare with responder group) divided by the number of predictor variable should be 10-20, so the number of non-responders is calculated as following this equation:

> number of non-responders = $10 \times 5 = 50$; for donepezil number of non-responders = $10 \times 5 = 50$; for galantamine

Because the probability of poor response is 0.417, so

However, in galantamine study, no previous genetic association study was found. Consequently, the number of participants is approximately 50 persons.

the number of participants 50/0.417 = 120 persons for donepezil

Since the expected number of drop out patients is about 5 %, so the total sample size will be 126 and 53 persons for donepezil and galantamine respectively.
Materials and Instruments

Materials

1.	DNA extraction		
•	Gentra Puregene Blood Kit (Qiagen [®] , Germany)		
•	DNAse free water (AppliChem, Germany)		
•	70 %, 100 % Ethanol (QRëC, New Zealand)		
2.	Determination of gene polymorphism by TaqMan [®] assay		
•	Universal PCR Master Mix (QIAGEN, U.S.A.)		
•	TaqMan [®] SNP Genotyping Assays Kit (Applied Biosystems, U.S.A.)		
	CYP2D6 CYP2D6*2, CYP2D6*10		
	СҮРЗА5 СҮРЗА5*3		
	ABCB1 ABCB1 3435, ABCB1 1236		
•	DNAse free water (AppliChem, Germany)		
3.	Determination of APOE polymorphism by RFLP techniques.		
•	10x buffer		
•	25 mM magnesium chloride		
•	10 mM dNTP		
•	DMSO จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย		
•	E1 primer: 5' GCA CGG CTG TCC AAG GAG CTG CAG GC 3'		
•	E2 primer: 5 ' GGC GCT CGC GGA TGG CGC TGA G 3 '		
•	Distilled water		
•	Buffer		
•	BSA (Bovine serum albumin)		
•	Restrictive enzyme <i>Hhal</i>		
4.	Determination of UGT polymorphism by direct Sanger sequencing		
•	10x buffer		
•	25 mM magnesium chloride		
•	10 mM dNTP		

- dNTP
- Primer
- Tag Immolase
- 5x buffer
- ExoSAP
- 3M sodium acetate
- 125 mM EDTA
- Milli-Q water
- Absolute ethanol
- 70% Ethanol
- MegaBACE[®] loading buffer
- BigDye version 3.1

5. Determination of plasma concentration of blood level

- Acetonitrile, HPLC grade (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)
- Methanol, HPLC grade (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)
- Trifluoroacetic acid (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie Gmbh, Steinheim, Germany)
- Ammonia solution, Analytical Reagent grade (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)
- Acetic acid, Analytical Reagent grade (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)
- Milli Q water Water Purification System (Thermo Scientific, Massachusetts, USA)
- Donepezil hydrochloride monohydrate (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie Gmbh, Steinheim, Germany) Lot number: 035M4715V, % Assay: 98%, Expiry date: 03/2021
- Diphenhydramine hydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie Gmbh, Steinheim, Germany) Lot number: 029K8718V, % Assay: 98%, Expiry date: 10/2018
- Drug-Free Human Plasma (Department of Transfusion Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand)

Instruments

1.	Blood samplings
•	EDTA tube (Greiner Bio-One, Thailand)
•	Heparinized tube (Greiner Bio-One, Thailand)
•	Needle No 22,24,26
•	Disposable syringe
•	Plaster, cotton wool
2.	DNA extraction
•	Centrifuge (Hettich, Germany)
•	Refrigerated Centrifuge (Hermle Labortechnik, Germany)
•	Vortex mixer (Labnet International Inc., USA)
•	Micropipette (Gilson, USA)
•	Pipette tips
•	Centrifugation tube 15 ml (Corning, Mexico)
•	Microcentrifuge tube 1.5 ml (Hycon, China)
•	Nanodrop TM 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA)
3.	Determination of gene polymorphism by TaqMan [®] assay
•	9700 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, USA)
•	MicroAmp Optical 96-well reaction plate (Applied Biosystems, USA)
•	MicroAmp Optical Adhesive Film kit (Applied Biosystems, USA)
•	Applied Biosystems 7500 Real time PCR System; ABI7500
4.	Determination of APOE polymorphism by RFLP techniques
•	Mastercycler PCR machine (Eppendorf, Germany)
•	gel electrophoresis instruments
•	UV transilluminator (Gel Doc instruments)
5.	Determination of UGT polymorphism by direct Sanger sequencing
•	Centrifuge (Hettich, Germany)
•	Refrigerated Centrifuge (Hermle Labortechnik, Germany)

- Vortex mixer (Labnet International Inc., USA)
- Micropipette (Gilson, USA)
- Pipette tips
- Centrifugation tube 15 ml (Corning, Mexico)
- Microcentrifuge tube 1.5 ml (Hycon, China)
- MicroAmp Optical 96-well reaction plate (Applied Biosystems, USA)
- MicroAmp Optical Adhesive Film kit (Applied Biosystems, USA)
- Mastercycler PCR machine (Eppendorf, Germany)
- ABI 3100 automated sequencer



Apparatus	Specification	Manufacturer			
Auto pipette	20-200μL, 100-1,000 μL, 500-5,000 μL	Gilson, USA			
Micro-centrifuge	1.5 mL clear	Extra gene, California			
Volumetric flask	Class A,	Pyrex Kimble etc., USA			
	5, 10, 20, 25, 50,100 mL	Witeg Germany			
Vortex	Vortex Genie 2, G5605	Scientific Industries, USA			
Centrifuge	Mikro 120	Hettich, USA			
Analytical	Libror AEG 320	Shimadzu, Japan			
Balance					
pH meter	Eutech pH 700	Thermo Scientific, USA			
Water purification	Barnstead Easy Pure II	Thermo Scientific, USA			
Column	ACQUITY UPLC [®] BEH HSS T3 column	Waters, USA.			
	(1.8µm, 100 mm x 2.1 mm I.D.)				
Freezer -20 ^o C	Model 995	Thermo Electron			
		Corporation, USA			
Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography with Photo Diode Array and Data Management System					
Binary Solvent Manager: Acquity [™] Ultra Performance LC, Waters, Co., Ltd. USA. S/N: A10UPB422M					
Sample Manager: Acquity™ Ultra Performance LC, Waters, Co., Ltd. USA. S/N: A10UPA899M					
Column Manager: Acquity™ Ultra Performance LC, Waters, Co., Ltd. USA. S/N: D09UPC0100					
Photo Diode Array Detector: Acquity TM Ultra Performance LC, Waters, Co., Ltd. USA. S/N: J09UPL101A					
Data Management system: Empower 2, Waters, Co., Ltd. USA. running on Windows xp on a PC (Dell)					
S/N: J09UPL101A					

Determination of plasma concentration of blood level

Procedure

Blood samplings

Before starting the study, all participants or caregivers must give written informed consent. Venous blood sample will be collected for 15 milliliters (mL) from all patients by clinical research nurse. Ten milliliters of blood samples will be kept in EDTA tube for genotyping procedure and 5 milliliters will be kept in heparinized tube for determining blood level.

DNA extraction

Genomic DNA will be extracted from whole blood by using Gentra Puregene Blood Kit (QIAGEN[®], Germany) and kept at -80 °C until genotyping.

DNA extraction procedure: Gentra Puregene Blood Kit

1. Dispense 9 ml RBC Lysis Solution into 15 ml centrifuge tube.

2. Add 3 ml whole blood and mix by inverting 10 times.

3. Incubate 5 minutes at room temperature (15–25°C). Invert at least once during the incubation.

4. Centrifuge for 2 minutes at 2000 g to pellet the white blood cells.

5. Carefully discard the supernatant by pipetting or pouring, leaving approximately 200 μ l of the residual liquid and the white blood cell pellet.

6. Vortex the tube vigorously to resuspend the pellet in the residual liquid. Vortexing greatly facilitates cell lysis in the next step. The pellet should be completely dispersed after vortexing.

7. Add 3 ml, Cell Lysis Solution, and pipet up and down to lyse the cells or vortex vigorously for 10 s. Usually no incubation is required; however, if cell clumps are visible, incubate at 37°C until the solution is homogeneous. Samples are stable in Cell Lysis Solution for at least 2 years at room temperature.

8. Add 1 ml Protein Precipitation Solution, and vortex vigorously for 20 s at high speed.

9. Centrifuge for 5 minutes at 2000 x g the precipitated proteins should form a tight, dark brown pellet. If the protein pellet is not tight, incubate on ice for 5 minutes and repeat the centrifugation.

10. Pipet 3 ml isopropanol into a clean 15 ml tube and add the supernatant from the previous step by pouring carefully. Be sure the protein pellet is not dislodged during pouring.

11. Mix by inverting gently 50 times until the DNA is visible as threads or a clump.

12. Centrifuge for 3 minutes at 2000 x g The DNA may be visible as a small white pellet.

13. Carefully discard the supernatant and drain the tube by inverting on a clean piece of absorbent paper, taking care that the pellet remains in the tube.

14. Add 3 ml of 70% ethanol and invert several times to wash the DNA pellet.

15. Centrifuge for 1 minute at 2000 x g.

16. Carefully discard the supernatant. Drain the tube on a clean piece of absorbent paper, taking care that the pellet remains in the tube. Air dry the pellet for 5–10 minutes. The pellet might be loose and easily dislodged. Avoid over-drying the DNA pellet, as the DNA will be difficult to dissolve.

17. Add 300 µl DNA Hydration Solution and vortex for 5 s at medium speed to mix.

18. Incubate at 65°C for 1 h to dissolve the DNA.

19. Incubate at room temperature overnight with gentle shaking. Ensure tube cap is tightly closed to avoid leakage. Samples can then be centrifuged briefly and transferred to a storage tube. Purify DNA must check DNA concentration and purity using Nanodrop as describes in table 24.

Absorbance 260/280	Results
1.8-2.0	DNA is normal
A ratio lower than 1.8	Presence of proteins and/or other UV absorbers
A ratio higher than 2.0 The samples may be contaminated with chlorof	
	phenol

Table 24 Interpretation of purifying DNA using Nanodrop

Determination of gene polymorphism by TaqMan[®] assay

Genetic polymorphisms *CYP2D6, CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* were detected by using TaqMan genotyping assay kits. Assay was performed in 96-well plate on a ViiA7 realtime PCR instrument (Applied Biosystems 7500 Real time PCR System; ABI 7500 CA USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The process for detecting gene polymorphism by TaqMan[®] SNP Genotyping Assays Kit using Applied Biosystems 7500 Real time PCR System; ABI 7500 is described as following:

- 1. Dilute DNA with DNAse free water to get final concentration of 5 ng/ μ L.
- 2. Prepare master mixture solution for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) as shown in table 25.

Constituent reaction	Volume (µL)
2X Taqman [®] Genotyping Master Mix	5.0
20X Taqman [®] SNP Genotyping Assay (Primer-Probe)	0.5
DNAase free water	2.5
DNA sample (5 ng/µL)	2
Total	10

Table 25 Constituent of master mixture solution for TaqMan[®] assay

- 3. Pipet 8 μ L of master mixture which specific for each SNP into 96-well reaction plate and add DNA sample 2 μ L.
- 4. Spin down at 800 g for 10 seconds by spin down centrifuge.
- 5. Run PCR with real-time PCR by ViiA[™] 7 Real-Time PCR system as condition listed in table 26.

Table 26 Condition in real-time PCR b	y ViiA [™] 7 Real-Time PCR system
---------------------------------------	--

Time and Temperature				
Initial Steps	Denaturation	Annealing/Extension		
HOLD	50 Cycles			
10 minutes 95 °C 🚽	15 seconds 92 °C	90 seconds 60 °C		

 When reactions are complete, CYP2D6 genotype will be analyzed by using ViiA[™] 7 software version 1.2.4 (Applied Biosystem).

Determination of APOE polymorphism by RFLP techniques

Genetic polymorphism of *APOE* determined by Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP) techniques. The procedure of PCR-RFLP techniques was list below.

 Multiple DNA by PCR techniques for 12 minutes at 95 °C. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed using a Mastercycler PCR machine (Eppendorf, Germany).

Constituent reaction	Volume (µL)
10xbuffer	2.5
25 mM MgCl ₂	1.25
10 mM dNTP	0.5
DMSO	2.5
Primer E1	0.5
Primer E2	0.5
Distilled water	16.05
DNA sample	1
Total	25

Table 27 Constituent of PCR process for RFLP techniques

E1 primer 5' GCA CGG CTG TCC AAG GAG CTG CAG GC 3'

E2 primer 5' GGC GCT CGC GGA TGG CGC TGA G 3'

- 2. Add Taq DNA polymerase 0.2 µL immediately and run PCR for 110 minutes to activate complete reactions.
- *3.* Restriction DNA by restrictive enzyme *HhaL* and incubate overnight. The components of reaction are listed in table 28

Constituent reaction	Volume (µL)
Buffer C	2.0
BSA	0.2
Enzyme <i>Hhal</i>	1.0
Distilled water	8.8
PCR product	8.0
Total	20

 Table 28 Constituent for RFLP techniques

4. Run electrophoresis using 8 % polyacrylamide gel.

11600

5. The DNA fragment will be visualized by UV trans-illuminator (Gel Doc instruments) and *APOE* genotype will be interpreted as shown in table 29.

DNA fragment (bp)						
	91 หา	ลงเ91ณ์ม	เหา91ทย	າລັ ຍ 91	91	-
	83114	LON ⁸³ KOP	83	RSITY	-	-
	-	-	72	-	72	72
	-	48	48	48	48	48
	-	35	35	35	35	35
APOE	E 2/ E 2	E 2/ E 3	E 2/ E 4	E 3/ E 3	E 3/ E 4	E 4/ E 4
genotype						

Determination of *UGT1A1* polymorphism by direct Sanger sequencing techniques

UGT1A1 genotype (*UGT1A1*6*, *UGT1A1*28*) determined by direct Sanger sequencing techniques. The procedure of Sanger sequencing techniques was list below

 Multiple DNA by PCR techniques using a Mastercycler PCR machine (Eppendorf, Germany)

Constituent reaction	Volume (µL)		
50 mM MgCl ₂	0.75		
dNTP	0.5		
Forward or Reverse Primer	1		
dd.H ₂ O	17.125		
Taq Immolase	0.125		
awa DNA sample and near	2		
CHULALOPTOTAL RN UNIVERS	SITY ₂₀		

 Table 30 Constituent of PCR process for detection UGT1A1 genotype

 Table 31 Primers for detection UGT1A1 genotype using direct Sanger sequencing

Variants allele	Forward primer 5'-3'	Reverse primer 5'-3'
UGT1A1*6	GTAGGAGAGGGCGAACCTCT	CTCAGAATGCCTGCTCAGC
UGT1A1*28	ATCTCTGAAAGTGAACTCCCTGCTAC	CCTGGGACTCCACAGCCATG

2. Run PCR for 110 minutes to activate complete reactions. PCR was implemented by pre-denaturation at 95°C for 7 minutes, followed by 35

thermal cycles composed of 94°C for 30 sec, 60°C for 30 sec, and 72°C for 45 sec for each.

	Time and Tempe	rature	
Pre-denaturation	Denaturation	Annealing	Extension
HOLD	35 (Cycles	
10 minutes 95 °C	30 seconds 94 °C	30 seconds	45 seconds 72 °C
		60 °C for <i>UGT1A1*28</i>	
		57 °C for <i>UGT1A1*6</i>	

Table 32 Condition in PCR process for detection UGT1A1 genotype

- 3. The PCR amplified products were isolated by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel and stained with ethidium bromide and visualized under ultraviolet light.
- 4. Prepare 0.5 μ L of PCR amplified products for purifying the sequencing reactions with ethanol/EDTA precipitation as following step
 - 4.1 Add 14 μL of precipitation solution (2 μL of 125 mM EDTA, 2 μL of 3M sodium acetate and 10 μL of Milli-Q water)
 - 4.2 Add 55 µL of absolute ethanol
 - 4.3 Vortex mix for 10 seconds and centrifuge at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes
 - 4.4 Discharge supernatant by inverse spin
 - 4.5 Add 150 μL of 70% ethanol then vortex mix and centrifuge at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes
 - 4.6 Discharge supernatant by inverse spin
 - 4.7 Allow the plate to air dry, face up and protected from light, for 5 to 10 minutes at room temperature

4.8 Add 10 μ L of MegaBACE[®] loading buffer and incubate at room temperature for 5 minutes or keep at - 20 °C overnight for complete dissolve pellet.

4.9 Vortex mix for 10 seconds and load to 96-well plate

5. The nucleotide sequence was determined by direct sequencing using Big Dye Terminator v3.1 Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA) on an ABI 3100 automated sequencer according to the manufacturer's instructions (Applied Biosystem, Foster City, CA, USA).

Determination of Cpss.

The venous blood sample 5 milliliters will be obtained from each patient and plasma samples will be stored at -20°C before analysis in heparinized tube.

Donepezil

The steady state plasma concentration of donepezil was determined by using reversed-phase Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography with Photo Diode Array (UPLC-PDA) detection with a minor modification (114). Diphenhydramine was used as an internal standard (115). Method validation had been performed according to US FDA guidance for bioanalytical method validation. The lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) was 10 ng/mL. Average recovery of drug (%) was in a range of 85.14 - 85.57%. QC intra-day precision ranged from 1.22% to 3.90% while inter-day precision range was set at 1.59 - 3.69%.

Samples were prepared by Solid-Phase Extraction (SPE) (OASIS[®]) and HLB: Hydrophilic-Lipophilic-Balanced reversed-phase sorbent (Waters Corporation, Milford, MA, USA). A 20-µL diphenhydramine solution with a concentration of 10,000 ng/mL was added into 1 mL of the Quality Control Sample (QCs) and Standard Spiked Sample. The mixture's pH was adjusted with 200 µL orthophosphoric acid. Each 1000-µL sample was loaded in SPE which was pre-conditioned by methanol and equilibrated by deionized water (Milli Q Water). A 1-mL solution of 2% ammonia solution in 5% methanol and a 1-mL solution of 2% ammonia in 20% methanol were used for washing the samples. The samples were eluted with 500 μ L of 2% acetic acid in methanol. The samples were diluted with 200 μ L of 0.05% TFA. Each 10- μ L final sample solution was injected into the UPLC-PDA which validated parameters and conditions as shown in table 33 and 34.



Table 33 Validated parameters for measuring $\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{pss}}$ of donepezil by UPLC- PDA

techniques

Parameters	Condition
Extraction type	Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) OASIS [®] HLB:
	Hydrophilic-Lipophilic-Balanced reversed-
	phase sorbent 30 mg 1 mL
Biological Matrix	Drug-Free Human Plasma
Detection method	Photo Diode Array at 230 nm
Column type	ACQUITY UPLC [®] BEH HSS T3 (1.8µm, 100
	mm x 2.1 mm I.D.)
Mobile phase	Gradient program
	Acetonitrile: 0.05% Trifluoroacetic acid
	(TFA) (32:68 at 0, 35:65 at 1-2.5 min. and
	32:68 at 3 min)
Flow rate	0.48 mL/min
Lower Limit of Quantification	10 ng/mL
Linearity range	10 – 250 ng/mL
Equation type	Y = aX + b, with 1/X weighting
Validated low quality control sample	30 ng/mL
(LQC)	
Validated medium quality control	120 ng/mL
sample (MQC)	
Validated high quality control sample	220 ng/mL
(HQC)	
Auto-sampler stability	10 hours
Freeze-and-thaw stability	3 cycles
Short-term stability	4 hours
Long-term stability	180 Days
Stock stability	90 Days

Table 34 Method validation for measuring Cpss of donepezil by UPLC- PDA

techniques

Information from method	Data
validation	
Analyte	Donepezil
Internal standard (IS)	Diphenhydramine
Method description	The plasma was separated and the
	concentrations of Donepezil acid were
(he)	determined by using a validated Ultra
	Performance liquid chromatography with
	Photodiode Array (UPLC-PDA) method
QC concentrations (µg/mL) for	30, 120 and 220 ng/mL
Validation method	
Selectivity	No interfering peaks noted in blank plasma
	samples
Lower Limit of quantitation	10 ng/ml
(µg/mL)	
Standard curve concentrations	10 – 250 ng/mL
(µg/mL)	้มหาวิทยาลัย
QC Intraday precision range (%)	Day1: 1.22 – 3.61
	Day2: 1.31 – 2.41
	Day3: 1.59 – 3.90
QC Intraday accuracy range (%)	Day1: 95.63 – 106.47
	Day2: 96.63 – 104.26
	Day2: 91.38 – 103.60
QC Interday precision range (%)	1.59- 3.69
QC Interday accuracy range (%)	97.99 – 100.03
Average recovery of drug (%)	85.14 (Low concentration; 30 ng/mL)
	84.56 (Middle concentration; 120 ng/mL)
	85.57 (High concentration; 220 ng/mL)

Average recovery of IS (%)	74.96 (IS concentration 200 ng/mL)
	3 cycles (1.07%, 4.85% and 7.29% for low
Freeze and thaw stability (cycles)	middle and high concentration of Donepezil,
	respectively)
Long term storage stability (days)	90 days at -20 degree Celsius low middle and
Long-term storage stability (days)	high concentration of Donepezil, respectively)
	4 hrs at room temperature 25 degree Celsius
Short-term stability (hrs)	(0.31%, 5.48% and 2.75% for low middle and
lie.	high concentration of Donepezil, respectively
Auto complex or Post proportive	10 hrs in Autosampler 8 degree Celsius (2.38%,
Auto sampler or Post-preparative	2.33% and 1.36% for low middle and high
stability (ms)	concentration of Donepezil, respectively)
Stock Stability (days)	90 days at -20 degree Celsius (% for Donepezil
Stock Stability (udys)	and-% for Diphenhydramine)



Galantamine

The steady state plasma concentration of galantamine was determined by using reversed-phase Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography with Photo Diode Array (UPLC-PDA) detection with a minor modification (114). Voriconazole was used as an internal standard (115). Method validation had been performed according to US FDA guidance for bio-analytical method validation (116). The lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) was 10 ng/mL. Average recovery of drug (%) was in a range of 80.03 - 86.88%. QC intra-day precision ranged from 1.00% to 8.15% while inter-day precision range was set at 1.23 – 6.59 %.

Samples were prepared by Solid-Phase Extraction (SPE) (OASIS®) and MCX: Mixed-mode, strong Cation-eXchange reversed-phase sorbent (Waters Corporation, Milford, MA, USA). A 20- μ L voriconazole solution with a concentration of 3,000 ng/mL was added into 1 mL of the Quality Control Sample (QCs) and Standard Spiked Sample. The mixture's pH was adjusted with 200 μ L orthophosphoric acid. Each 800- μ L sample was loaded in SPE which was pre-conditioned by methanol and equilibrated by de-ionized water (Milli Q Water). A 1-mL solution of 2% acetic acid in Milli-Q and a 1-mL solution of 2% ammonia in 20% methanol were used for washing the samples. The samples were eluted with 500 μ L of 2% ammonia in methanol. The samples were diluted with 300 μ L of Acetonitrile: NH4OAc pH 9, 20:80. Each 10- μ L final sample solution was injected into the UPLC-PDA which validated parameters and conditions as shown in table 35 and 36. Table 35 Validated parameters for measuring $\mathsf{C}_{\mathsf{pss}}$ of galantamine by UPLC- <code>PDA</code> techniques

Parameter	Condition
Extraction type	Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) OASIS [®] MCX:
	Mixed-mode, strong Cation-eXchange
	reversed-phase sorbent 30 mg 1 mL
Biological Matrix	Drug-Free Human Plasma
Detection method	Photo Diode Array at 289 nm
Column type	ACQUITY UPLC [®] BEH HSS T3 (1.8µm, 100
	mm x 2.1 mm I.D.)
Mobile phase	Gradient program
	Acetonitrile: Ammonium acetate pH 9
	(25:75 at 0, 50:50 at 3-4 min. and 25:75
	at 5 min)
Flow rate	0.45 mL/min
Lower Limit of Quantification	10 ng/mL
Linearity range	10 – 250 ng/mL
Equation type	Y = aX + b, with 1/X weighting
Validated low quality control sample	าวิทยาลัย 30 ng/mL
(LQC)	UNIVERSITY
Validated medium quality control	120 ng/mL
sample (MQC)	
Validated high quality control sample	220 ng/mL
(HQC)	
Auto-sampler stability	10 hours
Freeze-and-thaw stability	3 cycles
Short-term stability	4 hours
Long-term stability	180 Days

 Table 36 Method validation for measuring Cpss of galantamine by UPLC- PDA

tec	hni	ia	les
(CC		' M'	ucs

Information from method	Data
validation	
Analyte	Galantamine
Internal standard (IS)	Voriconazole
Method description	The plasma was separated and the
	concentrations of Galantamine acid were
Wiezen	determined by using a validated Ultra
	Performance liquid chromatography with
	Photodiode Array (UPLC-PDA) method
QC concentrations (µg/mL) for	30, 120 and 220 ng/mL
Validation method	
Coloctivity (No interfering peaks noted in blank plasma
Selectivity	samples
Lower Limit of quantitation	10 ng/ml
(µg/mL)	TO HEYTIC
Standard curve concentrations	10 - 250 ng/m
(µg/mL)	างการแกล้ย
QC Intraday precision range (%)	Day1: 1.00 – 3.34
Onocaconako	Day2: 0.85 – 7.63
	Day3: 1.17 – 8.15
QC Intraday accuracy range (%)	Day1: 98.88 – 104.27
	Day2: 98.05 – 104.37
	Day2: 98.54 – 108.19
QC Interday precision range (%)	1.23 - 6.59
QC Interday accuracy range (%)	98.95 – 105.61
Average recovery of drug (%)	86.88 (Low concentration; 30 ng/mL)
	86.65 (Middle concentration; 120 ng/mL)
	80.03 (High concentration; 220 ng/mL)

Average recovery of IS (%)	76.19 (IS concentration 3,000 ng/mL)
Freeze and thaw stability (cycles)	3 cycles (3.33%, -0.42% and 0.16% for low
	middle and high concentration of
	Galantamine, respectively)
Long-term storage stability (days)	90 days at -20 degree Celsius (0.55%,0.30%
	and -1.83% for low middle and high
	concentration of Galantamine, respectively)
Short-term stability (hrs)	4 hrs at room temperature 25 degree Celsius
	(-0.18%, -1.57% and -0.81% for low middle
	and high concentration of Galantamine,
	respectively
Auto sampler or Post-preparative	10 hrs in Autosampler 8 degree Celsius
stability (hrs)	(1.92%, -0.30% and 0.99% for low middle
	and high concentration of Galantamine,
	respectively)
() Lesson	

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Statistical analysis

Baseline demographic and clinical characteristic will be presented as percentage, mean \pm SD, and median \pm IQR

All genotype and allelic frequency were calculated in percentage. Chi-square is used to test the deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

Normality test of data was performed using Komorgov Smirnov test (N>50).

Univariate analysis was performed to evaluate the association of several common genetic polymorphisms (*CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, ABCB1,* and *APOE*) and nongenetic factor on Cpss or TMSE scores. Student 's t-test and ANOVA (analysis of variance) were performed for parametric continuous data. Mann Whitney U test or Kruskal-Walis test were performed for skewed continuous data.

Multiple comparisons (Post-hoc analysis) was performed by using Scheffer's method.

Correlation's between adjusted Cpss or TMSE score and continuous variables were tested using Pearson's correlation coefficients.

For multivariate and logistic regression analysis, this study performed enter and stepwise procedure to select all variable which appeared to be associated with dependent variables by setting significant level for entry (SLE) at *p*-value of 0.25 or lower and was introduced into each multivariate model.

Stepwise multiple linear regression was performed to evaluate the combined association of Cpss or TMSE scores with genetic and non-genetic factors.

If the dependent variable did not pass the assumptions for multiple linear regression analysis, the dependents variable was transformed using appropriate arithmetic function. Correlation's analysis was tested to examine collinearity. If independent variable that shows correlation coefficient (r) > 0.75 on correlation matrix were excluded from further analysis.

Multicollinearity analysis was performed by using Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) < 10 and Tolerance > 0.1

Residual statistic including histogram and normal P-P plot of regression standardized residual were performed to evaluate deviation from model assumption and identify influential observations.

Differences of genetic polymorphisms between responder and non – responder group will be determined by Chi-square test.

The unstandardized regression coefficients (B) was used in the regression model to estimate the dependent variable, whereas, the standardized regression coefficients (β) was used to compare the strength of association of each covariate. The determination coefficient (R^2) was presented to indicate the percentage of the variance for dependent variable which was explained by independent variables.

For galantamine study, the prediction of genetic polymorphisms and non- genetic factors with clinical response were determined using multiple logistic regression analysis.

The Hosmer-Lemeshow test was used to examine the fitting and goodness-of-fit from logistic regression model

All data were analyzed using IBM Statistic Package for Social Science (SPSS) statistical software package version 22.

All tests were two-sided. *p*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: DONEPEZIL

Association of genetic and non-genetic factors with clinical responses of donepezil in Thai patients with dementia

RESULTS

Demographic and clinical characteristic

Among the 105 participants, seven patients were excluded from analysis for the following reasons: irregular administered drug (n=4), poor compliance (n=2) and discontinuation of drug due to adverse drug event (n=1). Eight patients received 5 mg/day of donepezil, 85 patients received 10 mg/day, 1 patient received 15 mg/day, and 4 patients received 23 mg/day.

The results showed that Cpss of donepezil was directly proportional to administered dose, the Cpss levels of 5, 10, 15, and 23 mg donepezil were 44.54, 98.15, 106.86 and 136.37 ng/mL, respectively. Cpss levels corresponding to the four doses were significantly different (p-value = 0.036) as show in figure 1.



Figure 1 Association between doses and Cpss of donepezil

Notes:

Each pairwise comparison was calculated from Kruskal-Wallis test. Each boxplot shows the median as the central line, the extremes of each box are the first and third quartile and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values in the sample. Circles and squares on the top of each boxplot represent outliers.

Because of strong linear association between doses and Cpss was observed, the following studies were used only the data from patients who took 10-mg maintenance dose which were taken by the majority patients, to reduce the effect of doses on Cpss and therapeutic response. Thus, the final analysis included the 85 participants who met eligible criteria. Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of 85 patients were shown in table 37.

Demographic and clinical characteristics	Number (%)	Mean ± SD
Age (years)	-	78.42±7.91
Age of onset (years)	-	72.34±8.54
Gender: Male	38 (44.70)	_
Female	47 (55.30)	-
Body weight (Kg)	-	56.69±9.88
Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	-	1.21±1.02
Creatinine clearance (mL/min)	-	60.04±19.71
Years of educations	-	8.56±5.48
Types of dementia:		
Alzheimer's disease	51 (60.00)	-
Vascular dementia	32 (37.64)	-
 Alzheimer's disease dementia of frontal 	1 (1.18)	-
lobe type		
Dementia with Lewy body	1 (1.18)	-
TMSE score at baseline	-	20.01±6.03
TMSE score at steady state	โย -	18.87±6.92
TMSE score change (Δ TMSE)	SITY	-0.81±3.09

 Table 37 Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of 85 Thai patients with

 dementia

Of 85 patients who met the eligible criteria, there were slightly more women than men (table 37). The average age was 78.42 years, and the majority of participants were in 75 years or older. The majority were diagnosed with AD (60.00%), followed by VAD (37.64%). Alzheimer's disease dementia of frontal lobe type and dementia with Lewy body were found in negligible proportions. Their initial or baseline TMSE score was 20.01±6.03 points by average. The average years of educations were 8.56±5.48 years.

Genotype distribution

Table 38 Genotype distribution and allele frequencies of the polymorphisms in

candidate genes of the study patients

Allala	Allele	Construct	Number	Genotype	HWE	MAF in other
Allele	frequency	Genotype	Number	frequency	<i>p</i> -value	Asian populations
АВСВ1 с.34	435 C>T (rs 10	45642)	·			
С	0.583	CC	32	0.381		Chinese: 0.40
Т	0.417	СТ	34	0.405	0.125	Japanese: 0.48
		П	18	0.214		(T)
АВСВ1 с.12	236C>T (rs 112	8503)	Const I	2		
С	0.418	СС	16	0.188		Chinese: 0.34
Т	0.582	СТ	39	0.459	0.60	Japanese: 0.32
		π	30	0.353		(C)
CYP2D6*2	(rs 1135840, g	.4180G>C)				
G	0.712	GG (*-/*-)	47	0.553		Chinese: 0.21
С	0.288	GC (*2/*-)	27	0.318	0.03	Japanese: 0.41
		CC (*2/*2)	11	0.130		(C)
CYP2D6*10	0 (rs 1065852,	g.100G>A)				
G	0.418	GG (*-/*-)	20	0.235		Chinese: 0.33
А	0.582	AG (*10/*-)	31	0.365	0.021	Japanese: 0.50
		AA (*10/*10)	34	0.400		(G)
CYP3A5*3	(rs 776746, g.6	986T>C)	·			
С	0.671	⊤⊤ (*-/*-)	15	0.176		Chinese: 0.37
Т	0.329	CT (*3/*-)	26	0.306	0.004	Japanese: 0.26
		CC (*3/*3)	44	0.518		(T)
APOE (rs42	29358, rs7412)					
APOE E 2	0.055	APOE E 2/ E 2	0	0.000	-	Chinese: 0.076(117)
APOE E 3	0.640	APOE E 2/ E 3	7	0.098		Japanese:
APOE E 4	0.305	APOE E 2/ E 4	2	0.019		0.078(118)
		APOE E 3/ E 3	34	0.412		(APOE E 2)

	APOE E 3/ E 4	30	0.373
	APOE E 4/ E 4	9	0.098

Note: All MAF data were from Applied Biosystems[®] except *APOE*.

In this study, metabolic phenotypes of *CYP2D6* and *CYP3A5* of the patients were classified using the established common-consensus 'star allele' nomenclature according to CPIC guideline. For *CYP2D6* phenotyping of the 85 patients, 53 of them could be deemed as EM (*CYP2D6*1/*1*, n = 5; *CYP2D6*1/*2*, n = 5; *CYP2D*2/*2*, n =10; *CYP2D*1/*10*, n = 11; *CYP2D*2/*10*, n = 22). Of the 32 patients who carried homozygous *CYP2D6*10* allele, they were all classified as IM (*CYP2D6*10/*10*). Three *CYP3A5* phenotypic groups were identified in this study including EM (*CYP3A5*1/*3*, n = 26), and PM (*CYP3A5*3/*3*, n = 44). Other genotypes were shown in table 38.

Evaluation of factor affecting Cpss of donepezil Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, and *ABCB1* polymorphisms with Cpss of donepezil

At 10-mg maintenance dose of donepezil, homozygous *CYP2D6*10/*10* (i.e., IMs) was found to be associated with the highest Cpss of donepezil. On the other hand, those with heterozygous EMs (*CYP2D6 *1/*10*) and homozygous EMs (*CYP2D6*1/*1/ CYP2D6*1/*2/ CYP2D6*2/*2*) were associated with lower Cpss of donepezil, respectively (Table 39). The Cpss of donepezil among these three phenotypic groups were significantly different (*p*-value = 0.029). Cpss of the IM group was significantly higher than that of the homozygous EM, as shown in figure 2.



Figure 2 Association between *CYP2D6* phenotypes and Cpss of donepezil at the 10mg maintenance dose.

Notes:

Each pairwise comparison was calculated from Kruskal-Wallis test.

Each boxplot shows the median as the central line, the extremes of each box are the first and third quartile and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values in the sample.

Triangles and squares on the top of each boxplot represent outliers.

By using univariate analysis, no significant association between CYP3A5*3, ABCB1 3435 C>T or ABCB1 1236C>T polymorphisms and Cpss of donepezil was founded (p-value ≥ 0.05) as show in table 40.

Gene	Genotypes/ Phenotypes	N	Cpss (ng/mL)	p-value	
CYP2D6	Homozygous EM	20	54.08 (32.22, 82.17)		
	Heterozygous EM	33	72.85 (52.17, 126.77)	0.029	
	IM	32	103.24 (65.63,164.29)		
CYP3A5	<i>CYP3A5*1/*1</i> (EM)	15	55.49 (18.9,.101.77)	0.058	
	<i>CYP3A5*1/*3</i> (IM)	26	100.97 (70.32, 126.77)		
	<i>CYP3A5*3/*3</i> (PM)	44	73.04 (41.40, 137.45)		
ABCB1 3435	сс	32	88.96 (57.51, 129.47)		
	СТ	- 34 75.33 (40.06, 137.31		0.563	
	ТТ		72.19 (35.09, 121.00)		
ABCB1 1236	cc จุฬาลงกรถ	โมหาวิเ	71.73 (55.49, 120.60) 1913 9		
	CAJLALONGK	DR 39 UN	75.50 (39.25, 126.77)	0.902	
	TT	29	75.16 (55.27, 136.46)		

 Table 39 Association of the genetic factors and Cpss of donepezil at the 10-mg

maintenance dose

Notes: The data were represented as median (IQR).

Association of non-genetic factors with Cpss of donepezil

Non-genetic factors that might have an influence on interindividual variability of Cpss of donepezil were determined. The results demonstrated that there was no statistically significant difference in Cpss of donepezil among gender. However, male patient trend to have lower median (IQR) of Cpss compared with female (71.13 (36.31-110.48) vs 99.16 (52.53-137.31); p-value = 0.081). No significant association between concomitant CYP3A4, CYP2D6, or P-glycoprotein inhibitors and Cpss of donepezil was also observed (Table 39).

Table 40 Association of the non-genetic factors and Cpss of donepezil at the 10-mgmaintenance dose

	Categorical variables			Continuous variables		
Factors	Frequency		<i>p</i> -value	Factors	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value
	(%)				Coefficients (r)	
Gender			Bodyweight (Kg)	-0.165	0.131	
Male	38	71.31 (36.31,110.48)	0.081	BMI (Kg/m²)	-0.050	0.651
Female	47	99.16 (52.53,137.31)		Age (year)	0.178	0.103
Concomitant use of CYP2D6 inhibitors			TFDI (hour)	-0.064	0.558	
No	60	74.82 (52.71,137.45)	0.401	CrCL (mL/min)	-0.057	0.282
Yes	25	72.04 (40.06,121.00)	Kok			
Concomitant use of CYP3A4 inhibitors						
No	37	72.04 (37.83,126.77	0.454			
Yes	48	83.14 (52.89,129.39	1215 2005			
Concomitant use of P-glycoprotein inhibitors			3			
No	39	71.73 (39.25,123.78)	0.232			
Yes	46	87.45 (52.17, 136.92)	ณ์มหาวิ	ทยาลัย		
Concomitant use of memantine LALONGKORN		NIVERSITY				
No	66	69.09 (37.83,123.78)	0.007			
Yes	19	102.77(75.50,161.27)				

Notes:

The data were represented as median (IQR).

CYP3A4 inhibitors including amlodipine, atorvastatin, diltiazem, and omeprazole.

P-glycoprotein inhibitors including atorvastatin, carvedilol, diltiazem, and simvastatin.

There was a strong association between concomitant memantine use and Cpss of donepezil. Patients who received concomitant memantine had higher Cpss of donepezil than those who were memantine non-users (102.77 (75.50-161.27) vs 69.09 (37.83-123.78); *p*-value = 0.007) as shown in Table 40. We further explored the effect of memantine doses on Cpss of donepezil. The results showed that Cpss of donepezil was directly proportional to the administered dose of memantine. The Cpss of donepezil in patients who did not take memantine and who took 10 or 20 mg memantine were 69.09, 93.79, and 173.37 ng/mL, respectively. The Cpss of donepezil corresponding to the three groups were significantly different (*p*-value = 0.012).

The finding also demonstrated a trend toward a combined effect of *CYP2D6*10* carriers and concomitant memantine treatment on Cpss of donepezil. The patients who were *CYP2D6*10* carriers and concurrent memantine users showed the highest Cpss of donepezil when compared with the rest as shown in figure 3.

No significant association between Cpss of donepezil and BMI or body weight was observed.

104

Figure 3 Association between the combined effect of *CYP2D6*10* carriers and concomitant use of memantine on Cpss of donepezil.



Notes:

Each pairwise comparison was calculated from Kruskal-Wallis test.

Each boxplot shows the median as the central line, the extremes of each box are the first and third quartile and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values in the sample.

Triangles and squares on the top of each boxplot represent outliers.

Combined association of genetic and non-genetic factors with adjusted Cpss of donepezil

The regression models were constructed to determine the association of Cpss of donepezil with genetic and non-genetic factors by using stepwise multiple linear regression. The final model was shown in table 41. Table 41 The final model of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of

	,	I	I				
Dradiativa	Unstandardized		Standardized				
Predictive	coefficients		coefficients	95% CI of B	<i>p</i> -value		
vanables	В	S.E.	β				
Constant	3.420	0.353	-	2.718/4.122	< 0.001		
CYP2D6 phenotypes	0.478	0.220	0.225	0.041/0.916	0.032		
Concomitant	0.511	0.203	0.261	0.107/0.915	0.014		
memantine	0.311						
$R^2 = 0.133, p$ -value = 0.003							

explanatory variables for adjusted Cpss of donepezil

Notes:

adjusted for *CYP3A5* phenotypes, time from drug intake, age, and gender *CYP2D6* phenotypes: 1.0 = homozygous EM (*CYP2D6*1/*1 or CYP2D6*1/*2 or CYP2D6*2/*2*)

1.5 = heterozygous EM (CYP2D6*1/*10, CYP2D6*2/*10)

2.0 = IM (CYP2D6*10/*10)

Concomitant memantine use: 0 = non-user, 1 = user

Transformed level by using natural logarithmic function

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

The results from multivariate analysis were shown in table 41. The stepwise multiple linear regression analysis included *CYP2D6* phenotypes, *CYP3A5* phenotypes, time from drug intake (TFDI), age, and gender as covariates. The final model revealed that *CYP2D6* phenotypes and concomitant memantine use were significantly associated with Cpss of donepezil. These predictive variables could explain approximately 13% of variability in Cpss of donepezil ($R^2 = 0.133$, *p*-value = 0.003).

Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function in patients treated with donepezil

In this study, two patients who were frontotemporal lobe dementia and mild cognitive impairment were excluded, because type of dementia might affect cognitive evaluation. Furthermore, we could not be able to draw any conclusion due to negligible proportions of those patients. We also excluded 1 patient because of missing TMSE score. Therefore, a total of 82 patients were included in the data analysis. The 82 patients were categorized into two groups according to the types of dementia as AD and VAD.

Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *ABCB1*, and *APOE* polymorphisms with TMSE score

When cognitive functions of AD patients were tested, IM group of *CYP2D6* showed a tendency toward a better therapeutic outcome with the highest TMSE score (21.10±5.12 points) when compared with those heterozygous EM (20.20±5.30 points) and homozygous EM (14.30±8.10 points) groups (Table 42). In line with that, the decline of cognitive function was the least obvious in the IM group and the most obvious decline was found in the homozygous EM group. There was a statistically significant difference of TMSE score and Δ TMSE between IM and homozygous EM groups as shown in figure 4.


Figure 4 Association between CYP2D6 phenotypes and TMSE score at steady state (A) or Δ TMSE score (B) in AD patients





Figure 4B

Notes: Multiple comparisons were performed by Scheffe's method. Each whisker represents the standard deviation (SD). In patients with VAD, the decline in cognitive function was high in

homozygous EMs, while those who were IMs had some improvement. However, these were not statistically significant.

Regarding univariate analysis, there was no significant association between *CYP3A5, ABCB1*, and *APOE* genetic polymorphisms and TMSE score in both patients with AD and VAD as shown in table 42.

 Table 42 TMSE score in association with CYP2D6, CYP3A5, ABCB1 and APOE

genotypes at the 10-mg maintenance dose

Genotypes/	AD (N=50)			VAD (N=32)				
Phenotypes	Ν	TMSE score	MSE score Δ TMSE score		TMSE score	Δ TMSE score		
		·	CYP2D6		•	·		
Homozygous EM	12	14.30±8.10	-3.67±4.64	8	19.40±4.90	-1.90±2.50		
Heterozygous EM	21	20.20±5.30	-1.57±2.71	11	18.30±9.00	-0.50±2.40		
IM	17	21.10±5.12	0.59±3.95	13	18.20±8.20	-0.50±4.90		
<i>p</i> -value		0.010	0.023		0.935	0.647		
CYP3A5								
<i>CYP3A5*1/*1</i> (EM)	10	18.60±5.80	-1.90±2.50	4	19.50±5.90	-1.80±3.10		
<i>CYP3A5*1/*3</i> (IM)	15	19.30±6.20	-0.60±2.90	10	13.40±7.10	-1.80±4.00		
<i>CYP3A5*3/*3</i> (PM)	26	19.20±7.20	-0.80±2.70	18	21.10±7.00	-0.10±3.50		
<i>p</i> -value		0.962	0.467		0.029	0.421		
ABCB1 3435								
СС	19	20.263±5.362	-1.473±3.322	12	19.417±7.668	-2.166±3.459		
СТ	21	18.095±7.429	-0.904±4.217	11	18.182±7.359	0.727±4.221		
ТТ	9	19.556±6.930	-2.000±5.000	9	17.667±8.5440	-2.000± 6.304		
<i>p</i> -value		0.579	0.799		0.868	0.280		
		จุหาลงกร	ABCB1 1236	ลัย				
СС	10	19.900±7.766	-1.700±2.311	SI7Y	19.286±4.572	0.000±3.162		
СТ	22	17.955±6.425	-1.500±3.776	16	16.625±8.437	-2.687±4.527		
тт	18	20.056±6.033	-0.944±4.916	9	21.222±7.661	0.777±5.449		
<i>p</i> -value		0.554	0.866		0.343	0.163		
			APOE					
APOE E 4 carriers	28	18.143± 6.392	-1.6071±4.201	11	16.545±9.501	-1.277±5.344		
APOE E 4 non-carriers	22	20.318±6.614	-1.000±3.664	18	19.222±6.431	-1.000±2.932		
<i>p</i> -value		0.245	0.594		0.372	0.876		

Notes:

For TMSE and Δ TMSE score, the data were represented as mean \pm SD.

 Δ TMSE score = change in TMSE score initial treatment to final observation. *CYP2D6* phenotypes: homozygous EM i.e. *CYP2D6*1/*1* or *CYP2D6*1/*2* or *CYP2D6*2/*2*

> heterozygous EM i.e. *CYP2D6*1/*10* or *CYP2D6*2/*10* IM i.e. *CYP2D6*10/*10*

Association of non-genetic factors with TMSE score

Concomitant antidepressant drug was found to be associated with clinical response of donepezil in this study. Both patients with AD and VAD who were receiving antidepressant drugs had poorer cognitive function compared to those who were not receiving the antidepressant drugs, especially in AD as shown in table 43.

There was no significant association between concomitant memantine use, age, gender, education level, and TMSE score in both patients with AD and VAD as shown in table 43.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Non-genetic	AD (N=50)			VAD (N=32)				
factor	Ν	TMSE score	Δ TMSE score	Ν	TMSE score	Δ TMSE score		
Gender								
Male	19	20.947±5.317	-1.2105±2.573	17	19.765±7.370	-0.1176±4.226		
Female	31	17.968±6.993	-1.4194±4.631	15	17.067±7.851	-2.266±5.091		
<i>p</i> -value		0.118	0.839		0.324	0.202		
Concomitant use of antidepressant drugs								
No	35	20.343± 6.121	5714±3.483	22	18.364±8.144	-0.2727±4.682		
Yes	15	16.200± 6.689	-3.133±4.486	10	18.800±6.629	-3.000±4.396		
<i>p</i> -value		0.038	0.034	1	0.883	0.130		
Concomitant use of CYP3A4 inhibitors								
No	22	18.364±7.267	-1.9091± 5.107	12	20.667±7.475	0.166±4.281		
Yes	28	19.679± 5.932	-0.8929± 2.739	20	17.200±7.557	-1.900±4.876		
<i>p</i> -value		0.484	0.406		0.564	0.235		
		Concomitant	use of P-glycopro	otein ir	hibitors			
No	26	18.731±5.848	-1.5385±3.313	10	15.400±9.045	-2.600±2.547		
Yes	24	19.500±7.277	-1.125±4.599	22	19.909±6.596	-0.454±5.324		
<i>p</i> -value		0.681	0.714	RCITY	0.121	0.238		
		Concor	nitant use of me	mantin	e			
No	36	19.861±6.961	-1.555±4.101	28	19.357±7.592	-0.8929±4.693		
Yes	14	17.143±4.881	-0.785±3.598	4	12.500±4.795	-2.750±5.123		
<i>p</i> -value		0.188	0.541		0.092	0.469		

Table 43 Association of non-genetic factor and TMSE score of donepezil at 10-mg

maintenance dose

		וומור מו ומיל זוש.		וחו צרורנור רר	אוונווימסמס עמוומס			
		4	Q			٨٧	D	
Dependent	TMSE	score	A TMSE	score	TMSE s	core	A TMSE	score
variables								
Independent	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value
variables	coefficients	ุ จุฬ HUL	coefficients		coefficients		coefficients	
	(r)	าลง ALO	(r)		(r)		(r)	
Age (year)	0.205	0.153	0.270	0.058	-0.464	0.008	-0.458	0.008
Baseline TMSE	0.800	< 0.001	-0.143	0.323	0.788	< 0.001	-0.107	0.559
score		หา ิง ไ		N. N.	Thursday			
Cpss (ng/mL)	0.046	0.749	0.244	0.087	-0.046	0.804	-0.014	0.937
Duration of use	-0.137	0.343	0.286	0.044	0.060	0.744	-0.259	0.152
(month)		ัย SIT	3	k				
Education levels	0.124	0.391	0.059	0.685	0.199	0.276	0.059	0.748
(year)								

Table 44 Bivariate analysis: Association of non-genetic continuous variable and TMSE score

3	7
~	-
~	-

Г

Combined association of genetic and non-genetic factor with TMSE score

Covariates were selected from the results of univariate analysis (Table 42,43, and 44) by setting significant level for entry (SLE) at *p*-value of 0.25 or lower and were introduced into each multivariate model. The final models are shown in table 45.



114

 Table 45 The final models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of

explanatory variables for donepezil treatment outcomes as measured by TMSE score

at steady state and Δ TMSE in patients with AD and VAD

Type of Dependent Dementia variables			Unstandardized		Standardized		
		Explanatory	coeffi	icients	coefficients	95% CI of B	<i>p</i> -value
Dementia	variables	variables	В	S.E.	β		
		Constant	-4.113	2.544	-	-9.234/1.008	0.113
Type of Dementia AD VAD		Baseline TMSE score	0.832	0.085	0.738	0.661/1.004	< 0.001
	TMSE	CYP2D6 phenotypes	4.527	1.280	0.265	1.150/5.945	0.001
	scoreª	Concomitant	-2 710	1.052	_0 103	_1 837/_ 602	0.013
AD		antidepressant use	-2.119	1.052	-0.195	-4.0317002	0.015
		R ² = 0.747, <i>p</i> -value < 0.001					
	∆ TMSE score ^b	Constant	-8.060	2.092	-	-12.270/-3.85	< 0.001
		CYP2D6 phenotypes	4.107	1.259	0.397	1.573/6.641	0.002
		Duration of use (year)	0.024	0.011	0.261	0.001/0.047	0.037
		Concomitant antidepressant use	-2.348	1.038	-0.275	-4.437/-0.259	0.028
		$R^2 = 0.321, p$ -value = 0.002					
		Constant	24.816	8.326	-	7.787/41.844	0.006
	TMSE	Baseline TMSE score	0.845	0.119	0.723	0.602/1.089	< 0.001
	score ^c	Age (year)	-0.292	0.095	-0.311	-0.488/-0.097	0.005
VAD				$R^2 = 0.714,$	<i>p</i> -value < 0.001		
	ATME	Constant	19.729	7.433		4.549/34.910	0.013
		Age (year)	-0.266	0.094	-0.458	-0.459/-0.073	0.008
	score			$R^2 = 0.210,$	<i>p</i> -value = 0.008		

^aadjusted for concomitant memantine use, age, and gender

^badjusted for *CYP3A5* phenotypes, age, and Cpss of donepezil

^cadjusted for *CYP3A5* phenotypes, concomitant memantine use, and concomitant

CYP3A4 inhibitors use

^dadjusted for *ABCB1* 1236 genotype, concomitant antidepressant use, duration of use and gender

CYP2D6 phenotypes: 1.0 = homozygous EM (*CYP2D6*1/*1 or CYP2D6*1/*2 or CYP2D6*2/*2*)

1.5 = heterozygous EM (CYP2D6*1/*10, CYP2D6*2/*10)
2.0 = IM (CYP2D6*10/*10)

Concomitant antidepressant use: 0 = non-user, 1 = user

At the 10-mg maintenance dose of donepezil, stepwise multiple linear regression models using TMSE score at steady state or Δ TMSE as the dependent variables were constructed to determine the association of genetic and non-genetic factors associated with donepezil response of AD and VAD patients as shown in Table 45. The results revealed that in AD patients, *CYP2D6* phenotypes was the only genetic factor influencing TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE. On the contrary, AD patients who were treated with antidepressant drugs were significantly associated with worsened steady state TMSE score after adjusting for covariates listed in table 45. These two covariates could explain 74% of the variability in TMSE score at steady state (R² = 0.747, *p*-value < 0.001). The result also revealed that the only significant predictor of Δ TMSE was *CYP2D6* phenotypes which could explain 32% of the variability (R²=0.321, *p*-value = 0.002).

In VAD, the final stepwise multiple linear regression model demonstrated that increasing age was significantly associated with a more negative TMSE score at steady state and Δ TMSE. The magnitude of explanation for the variability in the models was 71% for TMSE score (R² = 0.714, *p*-value < 0.001) and 21% for Δ TMSE (R² = 0.210, *p*-value = 0.008).

Correlation between Cpss and TMSE score

Pearson correlation was performed to illustrate the association between Cpss of donepezil and change in TMSE score at six months (LOCF; last observation carried forward). A scatter plot of these correlation showed in figure 5. No significant association was found. However, a trend of positive correlation was observed in AD patients (Pearson correlation coefficient (r) = 0.255, *p*-value = 0.074).

Figure 5 Scatter plots show correlation between donepezil Cpss and Δ TMSE score in patients with AD (5A) and VAD (5B)



Figure 5A



Evaluation of adverse drug events

The most common presenting adverse drug events of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors is gastrointestinal effects including nausea, vomit, diarrhea followed by bradycardia. Regarding adverse drug events, no significantly association between genetic or non-genetic factor and the existence of ADR was observed. No association was founded between Cpss of donepezil and systolic or diastolic blood pressure or pulse rate in this cohorts. A possible explanation was that this study was a retrospective cohort design, a temporal association was not done in the present study. There were some unrecord data especially in the aspects of adverse drug events.



DISCUSSION

This study aimed to investigate the associations of genetic factors especially genes involved in drug metabolizing enzymes, drug transporter or pathological process (i.e. *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *ABCB1*, and *APOE*) and certain non-genetic factors simultaneously with plasma concentration and clinical response of donepezil in Thai patients with AD and VAD.

Pharmacokinetic gene of phase I drug metabolizing gene especially polymorphisms of *CYP2D6* are widely studied in various ethnics as showed in table 19. However, most of studies focused only on patients with AD and performed by using univariate analysis. The present study is a study designed to elucidate the influence of several genetic and non-genetic factors simultaneously by using multivariate analysis in both AD and VAD patients.

Genotype distribution

Genotype frequencies of the polymorphisms of the candidate genes in the studied patients were found to be consistent with previous reports in Asian populations. Although, some deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium were found including *CYP2D6*2* and *CYP2D6*10*. The deviation may be due to the inclusion of undetermined variants of *CYP2D6* gene including *CYP2D6*5* in this study. *CYP2D6*5* was a deleted mutant with an allele frequency of approximately 5% in Thai population. It is possible that *CYP2D6*1/*5* and *CYP2D6*5/*10* may be included in *CYP2D6*1/*1* and *CYP2D6*10/*10* genotype frequencies, respectively. Further analysis of *CYP2D6*5* allele should be investigated. However, if detection of CYP2D6*5 was performed, it is likely not affect the overall phenotype interpretation because recent study from Chamnanphon et al. concluded that *CYP2D6*5/*10* and *CYP2D6*1/*5* were found approximately 4.7% and 4.2 % in Thai population and were classify as IM and EM, respectively. It is possible that *CYP2D6*1/*5* and *CYP2D6*5/*10* may be

included in *CYP2D6*1/*1* (EM) and *CYP2D6*10/*10* (IM) genotype frequencies, respectively.

Previous study does not consider *CYP2D6*2* determination. Identifying of *CYP2D6*2* could provide informative prevalence of the *CYP2D6*2* allele by discriminating between *CYP2D6*1* and *CYP2D6*2*. The latter is another *CYP2D6* allele with normal function frequently found in Thai population. The *CYP2D6*2* determination revealed *CYP2D6*2/*10* genotype which has not been explored in previous studies.

Evaluation of factor affecting Cpss of donepezil Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, and *ABCB1* polymorphisms with Cpss of donepezil

Both univariate and multivariate analyses suggest that *CYP2D6* polymorphisms were strongly associated with Cpss of donepezil. Patients carrying loss of function allele of *CYP2D6* (i.e. *CYP2D6*10*) had higher Cpss of donepezil when compared with those non-carriers. The results were concordant with a previous study in Asians population. Yuan Zhong et al. found that patients who were *CYP2D6*10/*10* homozygous had a higher steady state plasma concentration of donepezil and a larger change in MMSE score than those who were *CYP2D6*1/*10* and *CYP2D6*1/*11*, respectively (90). Similar results were found with both racemic donepezil and (S)donepezil (6).

CYP3A4 gene is not highly polymorphic in Thai population (119). Moreover, previous studies did not find any association between *CYP3A4* variants and Cpss or clinical outcomes of donepezil (12, 72). Therefore, we did not explore the effect of *CYP3A4* polymorphisms in this study. However, in African American ethnicity, Kuehl et al. founded that *CYP3A4*1B* is in linkage disequilibrium with *CYP3A5*1*. Moreover, CYP3A5 was lining through gastrointestinal tract (57). These implied that *CYP3A5* might play a role in donepezil metabolism but no studies have been done in Asian populations. In the present study, the effect of *CYP3A5* polymorphisms on Cpss of donepezil was investigated but no significant association was found. These results

were concordant with studies of Magliulo et. al. (72) and Noetzli et. al.(101). This phenomenon could be possible that donepezil prominently underwent CYP2D6 as its main metabolic pathway when compared with CYP3A. The intrinsic clearance of CYP3A4 is obviously lower than CYP2D6. This suggested that CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 do not play a major role in elimination of donepezil.

Magliulo et al. investigated the association of *ABCB1* polymorphisms on Cpss and therapeutic outcome of donepezil in 54 Italians people (72). The result showed that the most common *ABCB1* haplotypes were 1236C/2677G/3435C (46%) and 236T/2677T/3435T (41%) and TTT haplotype of *ABCB1* showed a tendency towards a better therapeutic outcome and lower plasma concentrations to dose ratio. The latter outcome was also seen when the three SNPs were studied separately. However, the results did not reach statistically significant.

Association of non-genetic factors with Cpss of donepezil

Effect of drug-drug interactions on Cpss of donepezil

A significant association between Cpss of donepezil with drug interactions was identified in this study. Contrary to previous studies which have demonstrated that CYP2D6 inhibitors might increase Cpss of donepezil, the present study found no significant effects of CYP2D6 inhibitors on Cpss of donepezil. This can be due to the disparate strength of CYP2D6 inhibitors in the study including sertraline, venlafaxine, escitalopram, desvenlafaxine which are relatively weak inhibitors compared to other studies that used paroxetine (120). Moreover, evidence has been found that the coadministration with sertraline could decrease Cpss of donepezil. The suggested possible explanation was that sertraline has a slightly stronger affinity for CYP2D6 than donepezil. Thus, at a low plasma level, sertraline could be metabolized competitively with donepezil. Consequently, an increase in donepezil level could be expected. On the contrary, at a higher plasma concentration particularly at steady state, donepezil level was not changed. This can also explain the phenomenon whereby, CYP2D6 exerted less influence at higher plasma concentration due to a shift of donepezil biotransformation to CYP3A4 since the capacity of CYP2D6 was limited by sertraline (121).

We did not find the effect of CYP3A4 inhibitors on Cpss of donepezil. A similar pattern of resulted was obtained in previous study (12, 72, 121-123).

Furthermore, significant higher blood level of donepezil in patients receiving concomitant memantine than non-users was observed. The drug interaction may partially attribute to the effect of *CYP2D6* variants on Cpss of donepezil. This phenomenon could be possible that memantine can inhibit CYP2D6 enzyme as described by Micuda S et.al. (124). This study serves as the first association study to illustrate the effect of concomitant memantine on Cpss of donepezil. The result from the multivariate analysis is concordance with univariate analysis. The result emphasized that concomitant memantine users toward strongly positive associated with Cpss of donepezil.

Effect of gender on Cpss of donepezil

Biological difference among male and female may contribute to difference in both adjusted Cpss in acetylcholinesterase drugs. In general, gender was found to be confounded with body weight. Female gender was associated with lower body weight and ultimately resulted in lower Cpss. In contrast, the result showed that female tend toward higher Cpss when compared with male. This finding should be further determined.

Effect of age on Cpss of donepezil

Age tend to be positively correlated with Cpss. It was possible that the decrease in clearance in the elderly could contribute to elevated Cpss of donepezil. Moreover, it is possible that the actual compliance might be associated with age and might be influence on Cpss or therapeutic outcomes.



Combined association of genetic and non-genetic factors with Cpss

The result from the multivariate analysis is concordance with univariate analysis. The result emphasized that *CYP2D6*10* carriers and concomitant memantine users toward strongly positive associated with Cpss of donepezil. These covariates could explain the interindividual variability of Cpss for approximately 13%. The unexplained remaining variability may derive from other contributing factors such as race, gene-environment interaction, nutrition status and some physiological function that cannot assuredly be excluded in this cohorts. Moreover, the comorbid condition in elderly can deteriorating physiological function and may attribute to altered drug concentration in the blood and brain. Consequently, it is difficult to predict precise Cpss. Physiological function especially creatinine clearance may have greater influence in the elderly. However, in the present study no association was found between Cpss of donepezil and creatinine clearance.

Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *ABCB1*, and *APOE* polymorphisms with TMSE score

In relation to cognitive function, *CYP2D6*10* carriers show a higher TMSE score when compared with non-carriers. Possible association of the genetic polymorphisms of *CYP2D6* in susceptibility to donepezil outcome might be described as the following reasons. Donepezil predominantly metabolized by CYP2D6 and human CYP2D6 in the brain was prominently localized in the pyramidal cell of the cortex and hippocampus which a certain region that account for cognitive function (125, 126). Liam Zaidel et al. showed that donepezil accumulated in the frontal cortex, one of the regions which affected the neuropathology of AD (127). Consequently, *CYP2D6*10* carriers might increase donepezil and greater inhibit acetylcholinesterase in frontal cortex resulting in an improvement in cognitive function as measured by TMSE in AD. Furthermore, Darreh et al. founded that CSF donepezil concentration appears to be approximately tenfold lower compared with plasma levels but

exhibits a similar dose-proportional pattern (128). These implied that *CYP2D6*10* carrier may have higher donepezil level in CSF and could be expected to provide more achievement in clinical responses.

In contrast to AD, in VAD patients *CYP2D6* variants was not found to be associated with the cognitive response of donepezil. This may be reflected of the fact that frontal cortex and hippocampus which abundant of CYP2D6 have a less responsible in the neuropathological process in VAD when compare with AD. In VAD the region of the brain which plays a role in the pathological process is the subcortical area. Jellinger KA found that advance ages may contribute to small vessel disorder (129) and several lines of evidence suggest that advanced age is an additional predisposing factor which aggravates clinical response of acetylcholinesterase inhibitor treatment.

Another possible explanation is that CYP2D6 might play a role in the biotransformation of several endogenous or xenobiotic in the brain. As CYP2D6 is involved in the transformation of several bioactive compounds in the brain (125). It may attribute little effect on a single functional pathway. *CYP2D6* phenotype also influence neurocognition as described by Eva M Peñas-LLedó et al (125). For these reasons, it may imply that genetic variations of *CYP2D6* could mediate the progression of the disease and therapeutic outcomes of donepezil. Furthermore, Kirchheiner J et al. suggested that IM of CYP2D6 has higher brain perfusion in the hippocampus compared with EM (130). This may be one of the reasons to explain the results due to higher brain perfusion in *CYP2D6*10* carriers could restore underlying pathological of disease and provide better response compared to *CYP2D6*10* non-carriers (EM).

In this study, no significant effect of CYP3A5 polymorphisms on Cpss of donepezil and cognitive score was found. This phenomenon could be possible that donepezil prominently underwent CYP2D6 as its main metabolic pathway. Whereas, CYP3A5 might play a minor role in donepezil disposition. Moreover, the distribution of CYP3A5 in the brain was less than CYP2D6. The present finding was concordant with recent studies of Magliulo et al. and Noetzli et al (72, 92).

The impacts of *ABCB1* polymorphisms on TMSE scores as well as Cpss was elucidated. The results showed that patients with TT genotypes of *ABCB1* 3435 have slightly lower change of TMSE scores compared to the rest. This could be due to the fact that *ABCB1* 3435 C>T and *ABCB1* 1236 C>T are significantly linked with AD risk as indicated by a meta-analysis. Some studies found that T allele of *ABCB1* C1236T, G2677T and C3435T exhibited changes in P-gp activities and promote A β aggregation in the brain in a T dose-dependent manner. Chen KD et al. concluded that ABCB1 gene influenced positive correlation with MMSE scores and serves as a novel biomarker of AD. Magliulo et al. also suggested the tendency towards a better therapeutic outcome of patients who were TTT haplotype of *ABCB1* 3435, 1236, and 2677 (72). It might be possible that decreased P-gp activity in *ABCB1* variants may reduce clearance of donepezil from the CNS to the blood compartment and ultimately increased donepezil level in the CNS (72).

To our knowledge, only one study explored the effect of *ABCB1* polymorphisms on therapeutic outcome of donepezil and focused only AD patients as aforementioned. This study is the first study to explore the effect of CYP2D6 genotypes in VAD patients.

Some studies had attempted to explore the association of APOE $\mathcal{E}4$ alleles with acetylcholinesterase response in AD. The rationales whereby APOE $\mathcal{E}4$ plays a role in contributing pathogenesis of AD such as abnormal cholesterol transportation, and the augmentation of amyloid plaque and neurofibrillary tangles might have negative impact on drug treatment. Some observations found that APOE $\mathcal{E}4$ carriers may worsen the TMSE score of donepezil treatment outcome. But no significant association between APOE $\mathcal{E}4$ carriers and TMSE score was found in this study. The effects of APOE $\mathcal{E}4$ on clinical response of donepezil were not homogeneous. Further investigation with larger and well-designed study should be conducted to illuminate divergent findings.

The inconsistent results from various studies can be attributable to different in cognitive outcome measures, variable in acetylcholinesterase drug and concomitant medication, characteristic of study design including inclusion and exclusion criteria, definition of responses and randomization, interindividual genetic background(131).

Moreover, Jin Lu suggested *APOE* genotype might influence CYP2D6 activity. The probable reason might be as *APOE* correlated with liver enzyme particularly SGOT, SGPT and TG level and these levels may be closely associate with liver steatosis and transaminase activity which mediates the effect APOE on CYP P450 functions. Thus, one of the mechanisms by which *APOE* influence donepezil response may involve CYP2D6 related effects on liver metabolism(93).

A stratify analysis of the two types of dementia suggest that the effect of genetic polymorphisms of the interested genes on clinical response to donepezil is more pronounce in patients AD than VAD.

Association of non-genetic factors with TMSE score

The influence of donepezil doses

Darren and Shori et al. observed that the assessment of cognitive outcomes should be evaluated in association to measurement of acetylcholinesterase inhibition rather than dose of AChEIs (128). Moreover, Wattmo et al. concluded that higher doses of AChEI were associated with a more positive cognitive outcome and this association is regardless effect of type of drug(107). Consequently, the present study included only the patients who received 10-mg of donepezil.

The influence of concomitant use of antidepressants

Concomitant use of CYP2D6 inhibitors was found to be negatively associated with TMSE scores in patients with AD and VAD. This phenomenon was astonishing because one previous study showed that CYP2D6 inhibitors could have increased the Cpss of donepezil and could be expected to provide more achievement in therapeutic responses. The declined TMSE scores were more obvious among patients with moderate AD as indicated by lower baseline TMSE scores compared to those with mild AD. Moreover, patients with moderate AD who used antidepressant drugs which were CYP2D6 inhibitors including sertraline, venlafaxine, escitalopram, desvenlafaxine was found to be associated with lower steady-state TMSE scores than those who did not take CYP2D6 inhibitors. When controlling the degree of dementia severity by introducing baseline TMSE score into multiple linear regression model, the result also showed a significantly negative correlation effect of CYP2D6 inhibitors on TMSE score or Δ TMSE scores. These findings suggested the negative impact of antidepressant drugs on cognitive function. It is possible that concomitant antidepressant drugs such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) may influence cognitive function (132). These results were in agreement with the finding by Wattmo et al. where responses to acetylcholinesterase therapy were diminished faster in patients with depression treated with antidepressants including SSRIs (133). The possible explanation is that depression condition can deteriorate neurocognitive function which goes beyond the pharmacological effect of antidepressant treatment. Another possible due to anticholinergic effect of some antidepressant drugs may diminish the cognitive function of the patients (109). On the other hand, no significant relationship was found in patients with VAD because depression condition was not commonly found.

The influence of gender

In this study, no significant association of clinical response to donepezil with gender was found. The influence of gender on response was controversial. Previous study reported that female patients seemed to be more sensitive than male patients to treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and polymorphism of estrogen receptor gene (ESR1) may contribute to interindividual variability in therapeutic response (108). Other study founded that male patients have better clinical response to acetylcholinesterase treatment when compared with female (107).



The influence of duration of drug exposure

Duration of use is the direct association with clinical response. This finding suggests that long term use of donepezil could be beneficial in improving cognitive function which support by the fact that donepezil might modify underlying mechanism of disease progression in vivo study.

Regarding both genetic and non-genetic factors, the different results observed in previous association studies may be accounted for those differences in assessment scores or definition of response; duration of treatment or follow up period, prediction of CYP2D6 phenotypes from genotypes, inclusion or exclusion criteria. The present study recruited patients in all severity but controlling the effect of severity of dementia on TMSE score by introducing baseline TMSE score into multivariate analysis. Moreover, we evaluate Δ TMSE as well as TMSE at steady state to increase confidently established the results. All patients enrolled in this study were treated for at least 6 months at the same dose. The duration of treatment was also controlled in the multivariate model.

Correlation between Cpss and TMSE score

It remains unclear whether higher plasma concentration of donepezil could improve cognitive outcomes. To address these problems, the correlation between Cpss and change of cognitive function from baseline to final observation as measured by TMSE score were determined. No significant association was found. However, a trend of positive correlation was observed. The finding was consistent with that of Yuan Zhong et al (90). which reported that there was no significant difference in Cpss between responders and non-responders. However, other studies suggested that Cpss of donepezil correlated with therapeutic outcome. Several potential explanations for these divergent results may be as follows:

- Donepezil consists of two enantiomers. Cpss levels of (S)-donepezil were found to be higher than those of (R)-donepezil which was degraded faster. In clinical setting, the available commercial form of donepezil is in racemic form. It is possible that enantiomers of donepezil might give rise to different Cpss and therapeutic outcome.
- 2. The differences in assessment scores, inclusion or exclusion criteria, duration of treatment could confound the results.
- It is possible that other genetic variations besides drug metabolizing enzyme gene such as cholineacetyltransferase(134), butyrylcholinesterase(94) might be associated with clinical response.
- Levels of donepezil in the brain or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) may better correlate with cognitive function response of donepezil treatment(135) but could not be included in this cohort. However, determination of drug in CSF is quite invasive and inappropriate in routine clinical practice setting.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CHAPTER 5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: GALANATAMINE

Association of genetic and non-genetic factors on clinical responses of galantamine in Thai patients with mixed dementia

RESULTS

Demographic and clinical characteristic

All subjected were born in Thailand. The baseline characteristics of patients in this study was described in table 46.

Demographic and clinical characteristics	mean±SD or
Demographic and clinical characteristics	Frequency
Age (years)	79.16±8.80
Age of onset (years)	72.22±8.28
Gender: Male	21
Female	30
Body weight (kg)	55.87±10.94
Body mass index (BMI) (kg/m²)	22.05±3.65
Daily galantamine dose (mg/kg)	13.80±4.26
TMSE score at baseline	21.35±5.27
TMSE scores changes (Δ TMSE)	-2.37±5.98
Cpss (ng/mL)	58.60±35.51
Adjusted Cpss (ng/mL per mg/kg)	233.69±125.50

Table 46 Demographic and clinical characteristics of Thai patients with dementia

The present analysis showed the result of fifty-one patients who were evaluated after at least 6-month follow-up. Of fifty-one patients who met the eligible criteria, there were slightly more women than men (21 men and 30 women). The average age was 79 years, where the majority were in their 75 years or older because dementia was diagnosed at old age. The average galantamine dose was 13 mg/day. The average years of education of the patients in this cohort was approximately 9 years. Their initial or baseline TMSE score was 21.35 points by average. TMSE score at steady state after 6 months treatment was about 19.12 points and the average forward TMSE score at least 3 months from the date that measure Cpss is 18.78 points. The delta TMSE which define as forward TMSE minus baseline TMSE was about -2.3 points. Other baseline clinical characteristics and demographics were described in table 47.

Genotype distribution

All allele and genotype frequencies are concordances with previous studies in Thailand. There was no deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. For *CYP2D6* phenotyping, of the 51 patients, 18 of them could be deemed as EM. All 33 patients carrying homozygous *CYP2D6*10* allele were classified as IM. For *CYP3A5* phenotyping, 21 patients who carry two alleles of *CYP3A5*3* were classified as *CYP3A5* non-expressers and the rest who carry at least one allele of *CYP3A5*1* were *CYP3A5* expressers. Other genotypes were shown in table 47.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	Allele			Genotype	HWE	MAF	
Allele	frequency	Genotype	Number	frequency	<i>p</i> -value	(nucleotide)	
ABCB1 34	35 (rs 104564)	2, c.3435 C>T)					
С	0.570	CC	15	0.300		Chinese: 0.40	
Т	0.430	CT	27	0.540	0.470	Japanese:0.48	
		Π	8	0.160		(A)/(T)*	
ABCB1 1236 (rs 1128503, c.1236C>T)							
С	0.360	CC	8	0.160		Chinese: 0.34	
Т	0.640	СТ	20	0.392	0.350	Japanese:0.32	
		77/2	22	0.440		(G)/(C)*	
<i>CYP2D6*2</i> (rs 1135840, g.4180G>C)							
G	0.706	GG (*-/*-)	27	0.529		Chinese: 0.21	
С	0.294	GC (*2/*-)	18	0.353	0.284	Japanese: 0.41	
		CC (*2/*2)	6	0.118		(C)	
CYP2D6*1	0 (rs 1065852	2, g.100C>T)	1	2)			
G	0.559	GG (*-/*-)	18	0.353		Chinese: 0.33	
А	0.441	AG (*10/*-)	21	0.412	0.230	Japanese:0.50	
	UH	AA (*10/*10)	12	0.235		(G)	
CYP3A5*3	(rs 776746, g	.6986T>C)	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	·		
С	0.64	⊤⊤ (*1/*1)	7	0.412		Chinese: 0.37	
Т	0.36	TC (*1/*3)	23	0.451	0.860	Japanese:	
		CC (*3/*3)	21	0.137		0.26(T)	
UGT1A1*6	5 (rs 4148323,	c.211G>A)					
G	0.882	GG	40	0.784		Chinese: 0.11	
А	0.118	GA	10	0.196	0.691	Japanese: 0.20	
		AA	1	0.020		(A)	
UGT1A1*2	2 8 § (rs8175347	7, 2-extra-nuclec	otide insertion	ı (TA))	<u> </u>		

 Table 47 Genotype distribution and allele frequencies of the candidate genes in the study patients

TA6	0.863	TA6/TA6	39	0.765		Chinese: 0.172
TA7	0.137	TA6/TA7	10	0.196	0.210	Japanese:
			2	0.020	0.219	0.097
		IA//IA/	Z	0.039		(TA7)
APOE						
APOE E 2	0.098	APOE E 2/ E 2	0	0		Chinese:
APOE E 3	0.676	APOE E 2/ E 3	7	0.137		0.076(117)
APOE E 4	0.226	APOE E 2/ E 4	113	0.059		Japanese:
		APOE E 3/ E 3	24	0.470		0.078(118)
		APOE E 3/ E 4	14	0.275		(APOE E 2)
		APOE E 4/ E 4	3	0.059		

Note: All MAF data from Applied Biosystems® except APOE

A and G are polymorphic base on one strand which is complementary to T and C on the other strand.

Evaluation of factors affecting Cpss

The mean dose of galantamine during the study was 13.80 ± 4.25 mg/day. The results showed the Cpss of galantamine was directly proportional to administered dose. The Cpss of 8, 16 and 24 mg galantamine doses were 33.96, 66.49 and 125.39 ng/mL, respectively. Cpss corresponding to the three doses were significantly different (*p*-value = 0.001). There was no significant correlation between time from drug ingestion and Cpss (*p*-value = 0.845).



Figure 6 Association between doses and Cpss of galantamine

Notes: Multiple comparisons were performed by Scheffe's method. Each whisker represents the standard deviation (SD).

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Since galantamine demonstrated linear pharmacokinetic property and a large variation in body weight was observed, the Cpss was adjusted by body weight and daily dose and called adjusted Cpss.

Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1*, and *ABCB1* polymorphisms with adjusted Cpss of galantamine

The result from univariate analysis showed that *CYP2D6*10/*10* (i.e. IM) trended to be associated with the higher adjusted Cpss of galantamine but the result did not reach statistical significance. In line with *CYP2D6* genotype, *CYP3A5* non-

expressors showed a trend of higher adjusted Cpss than those of *CYP3A5* expressors. There was no significant association of *ABCB1* with adjusted Cpss.

In relation to *UGT1A1* variants, there was no statistically significant difference among Cpss of galantamine of the wild type group and those of the variant groups. However, a trend of positive correlation of Cpss of galantamine with different genotypic groups was observed. The mean was 224.79, 230.42, 263.89, and 302.13 ng/mL per mg/kg for *UGT1A1*1/*1*, *UGT1A1 *1/*28*, *UGT1A1*1/*6*, and *UGT1A1 *28/*28*, respectively as shown in table 48.



Chulalongkorn University

Table 48 Associations of CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, and ABCB1 polymorphisms withadjusted Cpss

Constructor	Frequency	Adjusted Cpss	<i>p</i> -value
Genotypes	(%)	(ng/mL per mg/kg)	
CYP2D6			
CYP2D6*10 carriers	33 (64.7)	251.71±139.91	0.177
CYP2D6*10 non-carriers	18 (35.3)	200.63±87.65	0.167
CYP3A5	500011	1 9	
CYP3A5*3 expressors	30 (58.8)	215.56±99.12	0.001
CYP3A5*3 non-expressors	21 (41.2)	259.57±154.69	0.221
UGT1A1	////		
*1/*1	29 (56.9)	224.79±96.84	
*1/*28	9 (17.6)	230.42±201.21	-
*1/*6	9 (17.6)	263.89±141.23	0 566 [§]
*28/*28	2 (3.9)	302.13±47.10	0.000
*6/*6	1 (2.0)	96.20	-
*6/*28	1 (2.0)	249.80	-
ABCB1 3435C>T	າລາດເດ້າເພ	าวิทยาลัย	
CC	15 (29.4)	234.54±173.56	
CT	27 (52.4)	223.88±102.86	0.842
Π	8 (15.7)	253.75±104.50	-
ABCB1 1236C>T			
СС	8 (15.7)	189.88±108.10	
CT	20 (39.2)	269.75±156.14	0.251
Π	22 (43.1)	235.81±125.84	

Note: CYP2D6*10 carriers: CYP2D6*1/*10, CYP2D6*2/*10, CYP2D6*10/*10 CYP2D6*10 non-carriers: CYP2D6*1/*1, CYP2D6*2/*2 CYP3A5*3 expressors: CYP3A5*1/*1, CYP3A5*1/*3

CYP3A5*3 non-expressors: CYP3A5*3/*3

[§]*p*-value calculated by independent t-test; dominant model stratified by the presence of at least one mutant allele versus wild type

When considering the combinations of polymorphisms of the three drug metabolizing enzymes genes including *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1*, the patients who carry higher numbers of the mutant alleles of drug metabolizing enzyme gene showed the trend of higher adjusted Cpss of galantamine as shown in figure 7.

Figure 7 The relationship between adjusted Cpss of galantamine and the combined polymorphisms of drug metabolizing enzymes genes including *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, and *UGT1A1*



Association of non-genetic factor with adjusted Cpss

Regarding the non-genetic factors, there was no significant effect of gender, a concomitant CYP2D6 inhibitor, concomitant use of memantine, time from drug intake and creatinine clearance on adjusted Cpss of galantamine. Correlation analysis revealed significant association of body weight with adjusted Cpss (r = 0.278, *p*-value

= 0.048), as well as BMI. In addition, age trend toward a positive correlation with adjusted Cpss of galantamine as shown in table 49.



	С	ategorical variables		Continuous variables		
Factor	Frequency	Adjusted Cpss	<i>p</i> -value	Eactor	Correlation	<i>p</i> -value
(%)	(%)	(ng/mL per mg/kg)		Factor	coefficients (r)	
Gender				Bodyweight (kg)	0.278	0.048
Male	21	237.642 ± 102.747	0.853	BMI (kg/m²)	0.301	0.032
Female	30	230.917 ± 140.897		Age	0.178	0.211
Concom	itant use of (CYP2D6 inhibitors		TFDI	-0.028	0.845
No	42	230.388 ± 129.114	0.689	CrCL	-0.072	0.625
Yes	9	249.079 ± 112.548				
Concom	itant use of ı	memantine	here			
No	35	227.170 ± 101.916	0.589			
Yes	16	247.940 ± 169.217	ANA A			
		A CONTRACTOR OF	11066010 	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A		

Table 49 Association of the non-genetic factors and adjusted Cpss of galantamine

3.3 Combined association of genetic and non-genetic factors with

adjusted Cpss of galantamine

By usinging multiple linear regression analysis, genetic and non-genetic factors were selected as covariates base on theirs clinical relevance or biological plausibility according to previous study and were introduced into the multivariate analysis. The final model is shown in table 50. **Table 50** The final model of multiple linear regression analysis of explanatoryvariables for adjusted Cpss of galantamine

Dradiativa	Unstandardized coefficients		Standardized							
Predictive			coefficients	95% CI of B	<i>p</i> -value					
variables	В	S.E.	β	95% Cl of B -1007.797/-93.498 0.741/68.377 1.531/8.674 0.675/8.827 -54.219/49.273 -27.017/127.302						
Constant	-550.648	226.68	-	-1007.797/-93.498	0.019					
CYP2D6 or CYP3A5	34 550	16 760	0.273	0 741/68 377	0.045					
or UGT1A1 variants	54.559	10.709	0.215	0.741/00.577	0.045					
Body weights (kg)	5.103	1.771	0.447	1.531/8.674	0.006					
Age (year)	4.751	2.021	0.335	0.675/8.827	0.023					
ABCB1 3435	-2.473	25.659	-0.013	-54.219/49.273	0.924					
Gender	50.143	38.260	0.197	-27.017/127.302	0.197					
	R ² = 0.259, <i>p</i> -value < 0.036									

Note: Combined CYP2D6 or CYP3A5 or UGT1A1 variants:

no variant=0, one variant=1, two variants =2, three variants =3

ABCB1 3435: CC genotype =0, CT or TT genotype = 1

Gender: male =0, 1 = female

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

The final model of multiple linear regression analysis revealed that patients who carry a higher number of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, and *UGT1A1* mutant alleles were associated with higher adjusted Cpss of galantamine. Age and body weights have a positive correlation with adjusted Cpss. These covariates could explain interindividual variability of adjusted Cpss of galantamine for approximately 26% ($R^2 = 0.259$, *p*-value < 0.036).
Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1*, *ABCB1*, and *APOE* polymorphisms with TMSE score

The result from univariate analysis showed that *CYP2D6*10* carriers has higher Δ TMSE score when compare with *CYP2D6*10* non-carriers (-0.571 vs -6.231; *p*-value = 0.039). Concomitantly, the trend of better clinical outcome as measured by the change of TMSE scores was found in wildtype of *UGT1A1* as compared with variants. No significant differences between clinical response and *CYP3A5*, *ABCB1*, and *APOE* genotypes was observed as show in table 51.



144

Table 51 TMSE score in association with CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1, ABCB1 and APOE

polymorphisms

		TMSE		Δτμse		
	Frequency (%)	Score	<i>p</i> -value	Score	p-value	
CYP2D6	L		1			
CYP2D6*10 carriers	33	20.030 ± 5.491	0.055	-0.571 ± 2.999	0.000	
CYP2D6*10 non-carriers	18	17.444 ± 8.508	- 0.255	-6.2308 ± 8.68	- 0.039	
СҮРЗА5						
CYP3A5*3 expressors	30	18.400 ± 7.045	0.270	-2.600 ± 6.205	0.750	
CYP3A5*3 non-expressors	21	20.143 ± 6.311	0.369	-2.000 ± 5.797	- 0.758	
ABCB1 3435C>T		1 Sola				
СС	15	18.400 ± 6.185		-0.4167±3.343		
СТ	27	18.593 ± 7.386	0.372	-3.957 ± 7.023	0.157	
ТТ	8	22.250 ± 5.675		-0.1667 ± 4.26	l	
ABCB1 1236C>T	S.		3			
СС	8	16.250 ± 8.172	10-	-1.143 ± 4.705		
СТ	2011	18.850 ± 5.788	0.351	-2.000 ± 5.148	0.685	
П	G 22 LALO	20.318 ± 7.127	RSITY	-3.375 ± 7.500		
APOE						
APOE £ 4 carriers	20	18.950 ± 6.452	0.000	-1.125 ± 4.129	0.204	
APOE E 4 non-carriers	31	19.226 ± 7.027	0.888	-3.160 ± 6.878	0.294	
UGT1A1						
Wild type	29	19.621 ± 7.233	0.546	-1.000 ± 5.234	0 1 2 6	
Variants	21	18.454 ± 6.139	0.540	-3.800 ± 6.502	0.130	

Association of non-genetic factor and TMSE scores

Regarding the influence of non-genetic factor on the cognitive function of galantamine as shown in table 52 and 53. Concomitant use of antidepressant and memantine were associated with lower TMSE scores (*p*-value = 0.042 and 0.003 respectively) as well as concomitant statin drugs user showed a tendency toward a worse therapeutic outcome than non-users (-4.000 vs -0.474; *p*-value =0.059). Baseline TMSE was positively correlated with Δ TMSE score (r = 0.528, *p*-value < 0.001). Whereas, education levels had moderately negative correlated with Δ TMSE score (r = -0.413, *p*-value =0.007). There was no significant effect of different doses and Δ TMSE.



		TMSE		Δtmse		
	Frequency (%)	Score	p-value	Score	<i>p</i> -value	
Gender						
Male	21	20.143 ± 6.077	0.369	-1.929 ± 4.009	0.741	
Female	30	18.400 ± 7.185		-2.593 ± 6.846		
Concomitant use o	of antidepress	sant				
No	42	20.000 ± 6.363	0.042	-1.647 ± 4.572	0.328	
Yes	9 <	15.000 ± 7.314		-5.857 ± 10.319		
Concomitant mem	nantine					
No	35	20.971 ± 5.874	0.003	-1.643 ± 6.273	0.261	
Yes	16	15.063 ± 6.913		-3.923 ± 5.188		
Concomitant nice	rgoline					
No	47	18.936 ± 6.979	0.138	-2.379 ± 6.206	0.968	
Yes	4	21.250 ± 2.061		-2.250 ± 3.862		
Concomitant stati	n drugs					
No	26	20.462 ± 5.673	0.148	-0.474 ± 3.950	0.059	
Yes	25	17.720 ± 7.564	VEDEITV	-4.000 ± 6.983		

 Table 52 Association of non-genetic factor and TMSE score

Dependent variables	TMSE	Ξ	Δтмs	E
Independent	Correlation	Correlation <i>p</i> -value		<i>p</i> -value
variables	coefficients (r)		coefficients (r)	
Age (years)	-0.054	0.705	0.225	0.157
Baseline TMSE	0.528	< 0.001	-0.087	0.588
Adjusted level	0.020	0.891	0.001	0.996
Education levels	0.078	0.586	-0.413	0.007

Table 53 Bivariate analysis: Association of non-genetic continuous variable andTMSE score

4.3 Combined association of genetic and non-genetic factor with TMSE scores

Covariates were selected from the result of univariate analysis by stepwise selection which setting significant level for entry (SLE) as 0.25 and into multivariate analysis. Multivariate regression analysis was performed to evaluate the combined effects of pharmacokinetic related genes and non-genetic factors simultaneously on change of TMSE score as shown in table 54.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Table 54 The models of stepwise multiple linear regression analysis of explanatoryvariables for Δ TMSE in mixed dementia

	Due diete tive	Unstandardized		Standardized		
Method	Predictative	coef	ficients	coefficients	95% CI of B	<i>p</i> -value
	variables	В	S.E.	β		
	Constant	9.321	3.472	-	2.329/16.314	0.010
	CYP2D6*10genotyp	3 111	1 460	0.246	0.503/6.385	0.023
	es	5.444	1.400	0.240		
	Concomitant use	-5 236	1 817	-0.300	-8 005/-1 587	0.006
	of antidepressant	-3.230	1.017	-0.500	-0.905/-1.507	0.000
TMSE	Concomitant use 🚽	-0.015	1 643	-0 307	-7 725/-1 106	0.010
	of memantine	4.415	1.045	0.501	1.125/ 1.100	0.010
	Concomitant use	-3 051	1 384	-0 228	-5 838/-0 264	0 033
	of statin drugs	5.051	04	0.220	5.050/ 0.201	
	Baseline TMSE	0 533	0 1 4 4	0.416	0.242/0.823	0.001
	score	0.555	0.114	0.410		
		$R^2 = 0.5$	524 <i>p</i> -value	e < 0.001		
	Constant	5.269	2.753	0	-0.315/10.852	0.064
	CYP2D6*10	5 227	1 397	0.412	2 395/8 060	0.001
	genotype	5.221	1.577	0.412	2.373/0.000	0.001
Δτμse	UGT1A1 variants	-2.794	1.321	-0.236	-5.473/-0.114	0.041
	Concomitant use	-5 245	1 3/10	-0.236	-7 981/-2 508	< 0.001
	of statin drugs	-J.24J	1.J47	-0.200	1.701/-2.300	< 0.001
	Education level	-0.478	0.114	-0.474	-0.709/-0.247	< 0.001
		$R^2 = 0.5$	67, <i>p</i> -value	e < 0.001		

Note: TMSE: adjusted for concomitant nicergoline and adjusted Cpss

 Δ TMSE: adjusted for age

CYP2D6*10 carriers: non-carrier =0, carrier = 1

UGT1A1 genotype: wild type (*UGT1A1*) = 0, *UGT1A1*6* or *UGT1A1*28* carrier=1

Concomitant use of memantine: yes = 1, no = 0

Concomitant use of antidepressant: yes = 1, no = 0

Concomitant use of statin drugs: yes = 1, no = 0

In concordance with the univariate analysis, the results of the final model from stepwise multiple linear regression analysis revealed *CYP2D6*10* carriers, baseline TMSE, concomitant memantine, concomitant use of antidepressant were significantly associated with TMSE score at steady state. These covariates could explain interindividual variability of TMSE score at steady state for approximately 52% ($R^2 = 0.524$, *p*-value < 0.001).

CYP2D6*10 carriers were positively associated with Δ TMSE score (B = 5.227, *p*-value = 0.001). *UGT1A1* variant carriers, concomitant use of statin drugs and education levels were negatively associated with Δ TMSE. These covariates could explain overall inter-individual variability of Δ TMSE for approximately 57 % (R² = 0.567, *p*-value < 0.001).

Prediction of response

A total of 51 patients were enrolled in this study. At the end of follow up (6month), 21 patients were classified as responder and the rest 20 patients were classified as non-responder.

To investigate the simultaneous effects of genetic and non- genetic factors on the clinical response to galantamine. The logistic regression analysis was further performed. Similar results as described above was found. The final logistic regression model confirmed that clinical responses to galantamine were strongly associated with *CYP2D6*10* carriers (adjusted OR = 19.784, *p*-value = 0.028) as show in table 55. Table 55 The models of logistic regression analysis of factors associated with

galantamine	response
30.000.000.000	

Predictive variables	Logistic	Adjusted OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value						
	coefficients (b)									
Genetic factors										
CYP2D6*10 carriers	2.985	19.784	1.384/282.849	0.028						
UGT1A1 variants	-1.982	0.138	0.018/1.042	0.055						
Non-genetic factors	N States -	120								
Education level	-0.241	0.786	0.641/0.963	0.020						
(year)										
Concomitant use of	-2.725	0.066	0.006/0.676	0.022						
statin drugs										
Concomitant use of	-3.111	0.045	0.005/0.440	0.008						
memantine										
Hosmer ar	Hosmer and Lemeshow p -value = 0.416 (goodness of fit test)									
model <i>p</i> -valve	e < 0.001 Cox & Sn	ell R ² = 0.475, N	agelkerke $R^2 = 0.6$	533						
	10%	101								

Note: *CYP2D6*10* carriers: non-carrier =0, carrier = 1

UGT1A1 genotype: wild type (UGT1A1) = 0, UGT1A1*6 or UGT1A1*28 carrier=1 Concomitant use of statin drugs: yes = 1, no = 0

Concomitant use of memantine: yes = 1, no = 0

Correlation between adjusted Cpss and TMSE score

Pearson correlation was performed to illustrate the association between adjusted Cpss of galantamine and change in TMSE score from steady state to final observation. A scatter plot of was showed in figure 18. No significant association was found. However, a trend of positive correlation was observed (Pearson correlation coefficient (r) = 0.246, *p*-value = 0.121).



Figure 8 Scatter plot show correlation between adjusted Cpss and change in TMSE score

Evaluation of adverse drug events

The most common presenting adverse drug events of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors are gastrointestinal effects including nausea, vomiting, diarrhea followed by bradycardia. Regarding adverse drug events, no significantly association between genetic or non-genetic factors and the existence of ADRs was observed. No association was founded between adjusted Cpss of galantamine and systolic or diastolic blood pressure or pulse rate in this cohorts. A possible explanation was limit sample size small sample size and shorter follow- up periods. Moreover, patients had been administered galantamine for long time, so patients can tolerate the adverse drug event.

DISCUSSION

Previous studies elucidated the influence of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5* genotyping on Cpss but these studies focused only on phase I drug metabolizing gene. Therefore, the association between genetic polymorphisms of phase II drug metabolizing gene (i.e *UGT1A1*) and Cpss should be investigated. Moreover, some studies showed that *UGT1A1* play a role in xenobiotic biotransformation which involving pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disease such as AD. The allele frequencies of *UGT1A1*6* and *UGT1A1*28* which were common variants that give rise to reduced enzyme activities in Thai population were found to be as high as 9 and 17%, respectively. Consequently, the identification of UGT1A1 genotype may provide further explanation for inter-individual variability in response to galantamine. At present, the influence of SNPs *UGT1A1*6*, *UGT1A1*28* and clinical response of galantamine have not been established.

Genotype distribution

Genotype frequencies are consistency with previous reports in Asian population. No deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium were found and MAF (minor allele frequency) were consistent with the results reported by ThermoFisher which were studied in Chinese and Japanese ancestry.

Previous study did not consider *CYP2D6*2* determination. Identifying *CYP2D6*2* could provide informative prevalence of the *CYP2D6*2* allele by discriminating between *CYP2D6*1* and *CYP2D6*2*. The latter is another *CYP2D6* allele which encode enzyme with normal function reported in Thai population. Furthermore, the *CYP2D6*2* determination could reveal the *CYP2D6*2/*10* genotypes, which have not been explored in previous study.

Evaluation of factors affecting Cpss of galantamine Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1* and *ABCB1* polymorphisms with adjusted Cpss of galantamine The results from univariate analysis showed that *CYP2D6*10/*10* (i.e., IM) showed a trend to be associated with the higher adjusted Cpss of galantamine but the result does not reach statistical significance. In line with *CYP2D6* genotype, *CYP3A5*3* non-expressers showed higher adjusted Cpss than that of expressers. Although genetic variations in *CYP2D6* have been discussed to play a significant role in the inter-individual response of galantamine, there were only two studies reported an influence of *CYP2D6* genotypes on the steady-state plasma concentration and not yet study in Asian populations which IM of CYP2D6 (*CYP2D6*10/*10*) is more pronounced. Two recent studies demonstrated that poor metabolizer (PM) of *CYP2D6* has reduced clearance and increased Cpss compared to extensive metabolizer (EM)(100, 101).

Moreover, these studies focused only on phase I drug metabolizing gene. *UGT1A1* may be another gene contributing to inter-individual variability in Cpss of galantamine. This study serves as the first study that explored the effects of phase II drug metabolizing enzymes gene i.e. *UGT1A1* genotype on Cpss of galantamine. The result reveals that no significant association between *UGT1A1* genotypes and adjusted Cpss was observed. This phenomenon could be possible that there is no single dominant metabolic pathway of galantamine.

However, combinations of the three polymorphisms of drug metabolizing enzymes gene including *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1* trend toward associated with adjusted Cpss of galantamine. The patients who carry higher numbers of the mutant allele of drug metabolizing enzyme gene showed a trend of higher adjusted Cpss suggesting gene-dose dependent manner. In contrast to galantamine, *CYP2D6*10* genotype plays a crucial role in explaining inter-individual variability in adjusted Cpss of donepezil since donepezil prominently underwent CYP2D6 as its main metabolic pathway. These findings emphasized that polymorphisms of phase II drug metabolizing enzymes i.e. *UGT1A1* may provide further explanation in the metabolism of drug that has complicated metabolic pathway such as galantamine (136). Further investigation of the associations of genetic factors especially genes involved in drug metabolizing enzymes, drug transporter (i.e. *CYP2D6, CYP3A5*, and *UGT1A1*) and certain non-genetic factors simultaneously by using multiple linear regression analysis was performed. Covariates were selected base on clinically relevant and biological plausibility and introduced into the multivariate analysis. The results confirmed that the combined effect of *CYP2D6* and *CYP3A5* and *UGT1A1* variants on adjusted Cpss of galantamine. There was no significant difference between adjusted Cpss of galantamine and *ABCB1* genotypes were observed table 51.

Association of non-genetic factors with Cpss of galantamine

The result from multivariate analysis showed that age was positively correlated with adjusted Cpss of galantamine. It is possible that the decrease in clearance in the elderly could give rise to the elevated Cpss of galantamine. Female has a higher adjusted Cpss when compared with the male. Some studies suggest that CYP2D6 has lower activity in the female when compared with the male (137).

In contrast to the previous study of donepezil, we did not find the effects of concomitant drugs especially antidepressant drugs and memantine which have been considering as CYP2D6 inhibitors on adjusted Cpss of galantamine. This is not surprising since CYP2D6 is not the predominant elimination pathway of galantamine. However, with a relatively small number of patients who take drugs that possess CYP2D6 inhibitory activity, an accurate causative effect of concomitant CYP2D6 inhibitors on adjusted Cpss of galantamine could not be made. Studies with a larger sample size are required to confirm the association.

Combined association of genetic and non-genetic factors with adjusted Cpss

The result from the multivariate analysis is concordance with univariate analysis. The result emphasized that combined effect of *CYP2D6* and *CYP3A5* and *UGT1A1* variants toward positive associated with Cpss of galantamine. These covariates could explain the inter-individual variability of adjusted Cpss for

approximately 25%. The unexplained remaining inter-individual variability may be derived from other contributing factors such as race, concomitant use of P-glycoprotein or CYP3A4 inhibitors, and some physiological function that cannot assuredly be excluded in this cohorts. Physiological function especially creatinine clearance may have greater influence in galantamine' s metabolism since galantamine is excreted as 20% unchanged form via the kidney (3). However, in the present no association was found between adjusted Cpss of galantamine with creatinine clearance.

Evaluation of factors affecting cognitive function Associations of *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, *UGT1A1*, *ABCB1* and *APOE* polymorphisms with TMSE score

In relation to cognitive function CYP2D6*10 carriers show a higher TMSE score when compare with non-carriers. The association of the genetic polymorphism of CYP2D6 in susceptibility to galantamine outcomes might be explained by the following reasons. Galantamine is metabolized by CYP2D6 and human CYP2D6 in the brain was prominently localized in the pyramidal cell of the cortex and hippocampal which a certain region that accounts for cognitive function (138). Keller Connor et al. showed that galantamine increased regional cerebral blood flow in the cortical area of the frontal cortex (139). This finding implied the site of action of galantamine is in the frontal cortex, one of the regions which affected the neuropathology of AD. Consequently, CYP2D6*10 carriers might increase galantamine level and greater inhibit acetylcholinesterase in frontal cortex resulting in the improvement of cognitive function as measured by TMSE in AD. Furthermore, Kirchheiner J et al. suggested that IM of CYP2D6 has higher brain perfusion in the hippocampus compared to EM (130). This may be one of the reasons to explain the present finding as higher brain perfusion in CYP2D6*10 carriers could restore underlying pathological of disease and provide better response compared to CYP2D6*10 non-carriers (EM). Further exploration of the possible explanation is that CYP2D6 might play a role in the biotransformation of several endogenous or xenobiotics in the brain. CYP2D6

phenotype also influencing neurocognition as described by Eva M Peñas-LLedó et al (138). For these reasons, it is likely to further determine whether genetic variants of *CYP2D6* could influence the progression of dementia and therapeutic outcomes of galantamine.

The negative correlation of variants allele of *UGT1A1* and Δ TMSE could be possibly described by the following reason. *UGT1A1* were expressed in the brain and may influenced in the eliminate of endogenous compounds in a region- and agedependent manner(140). Some endogenous compounds contribute in neuropathological of brain disorder. Thus, *UGT1A1* variants with decreased function in eliminating endogenous substance could deteriorate cognitive function as measured by TMSE score. The UGT mediated neuropathology is a possible indirect effect on cognitive function in AD and might rather be a part of a complicated network of various neuropathological mechanisms.

This study serves as the first study which illustrates the negative relationship between *UGT1A1* variants with clinical response of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors such as galantamine. Further study should be performed. Association of non-genetic factors with TMSE score Effect of concomitant use of statin drugs

In contrast to the previous study which showed a significant benefit of statin treatment on vascular dementia, the present study found that co-administered statin drugs for treatment dyslipidemia exhibited a negative correlation with TMSE score. The possible explanation is that dyslipidemia condition can deteriorate vascular pathogenesis of mixed dementia which goes beyond the pharmacological effect of statin treatment in this study. Thus, it seems statin drug could diminish response. However, the effect of statin on dementia treatment or risk still divergence(141, 142). Several factors may contribute to these discrepancies, including the different degree of exposure including duration of use, doses, and types of statins, types of dementia and severity that could confound the outcomes(142). Moreover, *APOE* genotypes might alter the association between use of statins and treatment outcomes of dementia (142). Nophar Geifman et.al. demonstrated that homozygous APOE ${m {\cal E}}4$ genotypes AD patients treated with statins had better cognitive function over the course of 10-year follow-up(143). A well designed randomized clinical trial using multivariate analysis to control confounding variables should be further determined.



Effect of concomitant use of antidepressants

In this study, negative impact of antidepressant drugs on TMSE score at steady state was found. It is possible that concomitant antidepressant drugs such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) may influence cognitive function(132). These results were consistent with the findings of Wattmo et al. who showed that acetylcholinesterase treatment outcomes were diminished faster in patients with depression treated with antidepressants including SSRIs(133). The possible explanation is that depression condition can deteriorate neurocognitive function which goes beyond the pharmacological effect of antidepressant treatment. Another possible may be due to anticholinergic effect of some antidepressant drugs that may diminish the cognitive function of the patients(109).

Effect of concomitant use of memantine

In this study, patients who were taking memantine was founded to be associated with worse clinical response to galantamine. Since patients who used memantine had lower baseline TMSE scores than non-users, so the negative effect of memantine user on TMSE at steady state is reasonable.

Effect of education level

Education level showed negative association with Δ TMSE. This phenomenon was astonishing because some previous studies showed the higher education might increase initial baseline TMSE and could be expected to provide more achievement in therapeutic responses.

The result of the present study is concordance with the study of Wattmo et al. which revealed that high level of education was associated with faster cognitive deterioration and poor response to acetylcholinesterase (107). In concordance with that, the present finding showed that AD patients with higher education level had a lower cognitive score. The negative association between education and clinical response can be described by brain-reserve hypothesis which stated that patients with higher education have higher cognitive ability, thus requiring a relatively greater burden of pathology when dementia is clinically evident (144, 145).

Moreover, these results concordant with cognitive reserve theory which coined by Stern that patients with high level of schooling may postpone the emergence of clinical manifestation and present milder symptoms and poor response of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors.

Effect of gender

This study did not find any variability in clinical response to galantamine in associate with gender. Previous study concluded that female patients seem to be more sensitive than male patients to treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and polymorphism of estrogen receptor gene (*ESR1*)(108) may contribute to interindividual variability in therapeutic response. Other investigators founded that male patients have better clinical response to acetylcholinesterase treatment when compared with female (107).

Regarding both genetic and non-genetic factors, the different results observed in association studies may be accounted for different assessment scores or definition of response, different duration of treatment or follow up period, different in prediction of *CYP2D6* phenotypes from genotypes, different inclusion or exclusion criteria. The present study recruited patients in all severity while using initial severity as determined by baseline TMSE scores as co-variate for multivariate analysis. Moreover, we evaluate Δ TMSE as well as TMSE at steady state to confirm the findings.

Correlation between Cpss of galantamine and TMSE score

It remains unclear whether a higher plasma concentration of galantamine can improve cognitive outcomes. To address this question, we determined the correlation between adjusted Cpss and change of cognitive function from baseline to final observation as measured by TMSE score. No significant association was found. However, a trend of positive correlation was observed. The correlation coefficient was rather low. It is possible that the duration of treatment and level of galantamine in the brain or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) which would influence cognitive function response of galantamine treatment but could not be included in this cohort. However, determination of CSF drug levels is quite invasive and inappropriate in routinely clinical setting. The impact of Cpss on the efficacy and tolerability of galantamine should be further determined. Moreover, It is possible that other genetic variations besides drug metabolizing enzyme gene such as cholineacetyltransferase (134), butyrylcholinesterase(94) might be associated with clinical response.



CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS

Pharmacogenetic association study of donepezil

Patients with AD or VAD carrying *CYP2D6*10* allele were associated with higher Cpss of donepezil and better therapeutic outcomes, in AD. Non-genetic factors including concomitant memantine use was also significantly associated with increased Cpss of donepezil. Whereas, concomitant antidepressant treatment and age may attenuate clinical responses in AD and VAD, respectively. The negative impact of concomitant antidepressant treatment on donepezil outcomes should be further investigated. There was no statistically significant association of *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* genetic polymorphisms with Cpss or cognitive response as measured by TMSE score. In overall, the findings suggest no significant effect of the *APOE* genotypes on clinical outcome of donepezil. Determination of genetic factors i.e. *CYP2D6*10* genotypes together with non-genetic factors including individual demographics and concomitant drug exposure could be useful for tailoring of donepezil treatment in the forthcoming personalized medicine.

Pharmacogenetic association study of galantamine

Genetic variations in genes participating metabolic pathways (*CYP2D6*, *CYP3A5*, and *UGT1A1*) are likely to synergistically influence the interindividual Cpss of galantamine because of it complicates metabolic pathways. In addition to *CYP2D6*10*, polymorphism of *UGT1A1* gene which encode phase II drug metabolizing enzyme, might partially be associated with clinical response of galantamine. However, additional study with larger sample size is required to confirm these association. Non-genetic factors including age and gender might be influenced on adjusted Cpss. These findings provide additional evidence that concomitant statin and higher education level could attenuate clinical response. This is the first findings to illustrate the influence of genetic and non-genetic factors on Cpss and therapeutic outcomes of galantamine in mixed dementia. Determination of drug metabolizing genetic polymorphisms together with non-genetic factors including individual demographics and concomitant could be useful for tailoring the therapeutic outcome of galantamine in patients with mixed dementia in forthcoming aging societies.

By identifying of certain candidate genetic variants that responsible for drug metabolism or transporter genes and pathogenic gene together with non-genetic factors could provide more information to understand the inter-individual clinical response of donepezil and galantamine treatment. The present findings highlight the possibility of using genetic testing to guide personalized dementia therapy with donepezil and galantamine in the forthcoming personalized medicine era.

Strength

To our knowledge, these are the very first pharmacogenetic studies of donepezil and galantamine conducted in Thai populations. The findings gain information from clinical practice.

The studies examined several genes including phase I and phase II drug metabolizing enzymes gene (*CYP2D6, CYP3A5, UGT1A1*), transporter gene (*ABCB1*) pathological gene (*APOE*) and certain non-genetic factors simultaneously that could have an influence on Cpss as well as the therapeutic outcome of donepezil and galantamine by using multivariate analysis. The use of multivariate analysis could identify covariables that could better explain inter-individual variability in clinical response than the univariate analysis.

By using clinical setting, several non-genetic factors especially age, gender, and concomitant drugs were not limited and tested as non-genetic covariates in the multivariate analysis.

Limitation

The studies were performed in tertiary medical school, it remains to be warranted whether the findings are applicable to other cohorts especially in rural community setting which different healthcare policy. Although, dementia management including diagnosis and treatment was appropriately performed in tertiary medical school but a large number of demented patients live in rural communities. Therefore, prospective study in multicenter larger cohort of patients should be conducted.

The evaluation of cognitive performance using only TMSE scores instead of full set of measurement might have some limitation. TMSE score is less sensitivity to identify mild cognitive impairment especially in patients with high educational level. Moreover, TMSE cannot distinguish a small clinical change in severe AD patients (Ceiling and Flooring effect). However, it has been suggested that TMSE is sensitive and specific enough for examination the therapeutic outcome and appropriate in routine clinical setting which have limited specialist and time. Evaluation of treatment outcomes by TMSE can be finished in approximately 10 minutes whereas, Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale - Cognitive section (ADAS-Cog), a wellestablished scale for evaluate cognitive function could take around 1 hours which is impractical for routine clinical practices.

The assessment of Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia (BPSD) symptoms which may influence cognitive function score was not performed in this study. However, this limitation was apparent in most of previous studies. However, to compensate somewhat for this limitation, the concomitant antidepressant drugs were introduced into multivariate model and significant influence on clinical outcome was founded.

Future prospective

To confirm the association of Cpss with genetic or non-genetic factors. Population pharmacokinetic study can be subjected of the further investigations. Population pharmacokinetic analysis is a suitable method for sparse data. Moreover, it can eliminate the effect of the time differences of drug ingestion and blood sampling for each individual person.

In addition, to provide better understanding of the underlying mechanism of variability in clinical response. Future investigation should be performed by using neuroimaging particularly the use of amyloid PET scan for evaluation clinical response in addition to TMSE score. Moreover, the neurophysiological and neuropathological in associated with cognitive function can be drawn from neuroimaging such as MRI. Neuroimaging might also serve as a novel surrogate outcome for evaluating therapeutic effect of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in dementia patients.

Prospective study, especially randomized controlled trials with stratification on doses of galantamine or donepezil according to individual genotypes, should be conducted.

The findings cannot fully elaborate all of factors which affect association study. The weakness attributable to residual confounding from unknown or unmeasured co-variate. To overcome confounding bias, the introduction of appropriate covariates base on clinical relevance and biological plausibility that may confound the association study. However, the study cannot rule out the residual unexplain confounders. Others non-genetic factors including smoking, foods and behavior can affect therapeutic outcomes. Notably, the genetic variations in pharmacodynamic gene such as acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase, choline acetyltransferase, and nicotine acetylcholine receptors which might have an influence on clinical response of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors were not identified in the present study.

It should be acknowledged that the association study provided plausible clues for possibly describing association but not prove a causal relationship. Only statistical procedure alone cannot demonstrate a relationship between an associated factors and outcome is causal. Causality is established on the basis of biological plausibility and well-designed study which minimize sources of potential bias. Therefore, any findings from pharmacogenetic studies should be replicated in a well study designed

The molecular mechanism of such relationship especially the role of ABCB1, CYP2D6 and UGT1A1 for xenobiotic disposition in CNS should be further investigate.



APPENDIX

APPENDIX I

Abbrevations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
CrCL	creatinine clearance
Cpss	Steady state plasma concentration
MAF	Minor allele frequency
MMSE score	Mini-Mental State Examination score
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment
TMSE score	Thai Mental State Examination score
VAD	Vascular dementia
R ²	determination coefficient
В	unstandardized regression coefficients
β	standardized regression coefficients
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor
rs	reference SNP
Kg	Kilogram
95% CI	95 % confidence intervals

APPENDIX II

Full method validation of determination Cpss

Donepezil

Table 1 Lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) of unextracted donepezil

LLOQ		Concen	tration of I	Donepezil	(ng/mL)		Mean	CV	RV
(ng/mL)	N1	N2	N3	N4	N5	N6	(ng/mL)	(%)	(%)
10	10.70059	10.58035	10.12097	10.39648	10.56771	10.47826	10.4732	1.92	104.74

Table 2 Linearity data of donepezil in human plasma for 3 days

Nominal	Experimental concentration			Moon	SD	96CV	%Pecovery	
(ug/mL)	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Mean	5.0.	7000	Junecovery	
10.00	10.7006	10.1210	10.5677	101107	0.7007	7 70	101.11	
10.00	8.5804	10.3965	10.4783	10.1407	0.7887	7.78	101.41	
50.00	54.4585	51.4151	47.7557	10 2767	3 0 2 9 1	6 1 5	08 55	
50.00	48.1152	46.8902	47.0259	LERSITY	5.0201	0.15	90.55	
100.00	94.4978	105.0947	99.7747	00 1594	3 9952	1.03	99.16	
100.00	100.2738	94.7649	100.5445	77.1304	5.7752	4.05	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
150.00	151.3672	153.3597	153.7386	152 6063	2 6737	1 75	101 74	
150.00	154.9332	147.7637	154.4755	192.0005	2.0151	1.75	101.74	
200.00	197.0325	204.5235	198.9904	100 5207	2 6107	1 31	99.76	
200.00	199.2088	197.9460	199.4769	177.5271	2.0107	1.51	22.10	
250.00	254.5002	244.9874	246.6819	2/19 2881	3 8609	1 5 5	99 72	
230.00	246.3320	252.7373	250.4900	247.2001	5.0007	1.55)).1Z	
r ²	0.998483	0.998324	0.999259					

Nominal	Black calculate	
concentration	concentration	% Nominal value
(ng/mL)	(ng/mL)	
10.00	10.1407	101.41
50.00	49.2767	98.55
100.00	99.1584	99.16
150.00	152.6063	101.74
200.00	199.5297	99.76
250.00	249.2881	99.72

Table 3 Average data for linearity of donepezil in human plasma



	Within-batch Accuracy & Precision (Day 1)											
Sample	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30	ng/mL)	MQC (12	0 ng/mL)	HQC (22	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
Number	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%				
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy				
1	9.32	93.20	28.93	96.43	114.98	95.82	223.30	101.50				
2	10.05	100.50	29.80	99.33	117.66	98.05	222.26	101.03				
3	10.07	100.70	30.04	100.13	115.70	96.42	221.05	100.48				
4	10.65	106.50	31.94	106.47	116.77	97.31	227.01	103.19				
5	9.25	92.50	- 29.04	96.80	121.45	101.21	224.08	101.85				
6	10.67	106.70	29.95	99.83	121.28	101.07	228.10	103.68				
Mean	10.0017	100.02	29.9500	99.83	117.9733	98.31	224.3000	101.95				
SD	0.6170		1.0825		2.7819		2.7407					
% CV	6.17		3.61	AND AND A	2.36		1.22					
			Within-bat	tch Accura	cy & Precisi	on (Day 2)						
Sample	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30	ng/mL)	MQC (120 ng/mL) HQC (220 ng/mL)				
Number	Measured	%	Measured	นั้มา%าวิข	Measured	%	Measured	%				
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy				
1	9.74	97.40	30.07	100.23	119.49	99.58	222.85	101.30				
2	10.24	102.40	30.63	102.10	123.27	102.73	226.31	102.87				
3	10.03	100.30	28.99	96.63	122.12	101.77	221.43	100.65				
4	9.94	99.40	30.62	102.07	122.46	102.05	229.38	104.26				
5	10.63	106.30	29.23	97.43	118.12	98.43	225.10	102.32				
6	9.77	97.70	30.89	102.97	121.04	100.87	227.62	103.46				
Mean	10.0583	100.58	30.0717	100.24	121.0833	100.90	225.4483	102.48				
SD	0.3344		0.7258		1.9531		2.9643					
% CV	3.32		2.41		1.61		1.31					

 Table 4 Accuracy and precision of LLOQ, LQC, MQC, and HQC

(10, 30, 120, and 220 ng/mL) of within-batch human plasma donepezil

		Within-batch Accuracy & Precision (Day 3)										
Sample	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30 ng/mL)		MQC (120 ng/mL)		HQC (22	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
Number	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%				
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy				
1	9.81	98.10	28.79	95.97	112.40	93.67	220.73	100.33				
2	9.70	97.00	30.98	103.27	121.17	100.98	215.27	97.85				
3	9.67	96.70	30.29	100.97	116.90	97.42	225.16	102.35				
4	9.93	99.30	31.08	103.60	109.66	91.38	219.18	99.63				
5	9.56	95.60	29.85	99.50	110.84	92.37	220.50	100.23				
6	10.44	104.40	29.06	96.87	111.25	92.71	223.85	101.75				
Mean	9.8517	98.52	30.0083	100.03	113.7033	94.75	220.7817	100.36				
SD	0.3147		0.9572		4.4325		3.5103					
% CV	3.19		3.19		3.90		1.59					



 Table 5 Accuracy and precision of LLOQ, LQC, MQC, and HQC

(10, 30, 120, and 220 ng/mL) of between-batch hu	uman plasma donepezil
--	-----------------------

	Between-batch Accuracy & Precision										
Sampla	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30	ng/mL)	MQC (120) ng/mL)	HQC (220) ng/mL)			
/ Batch	Measured Value	% Accuracy	Measured Value	% Accuracy	Measured Value	% Accuracy	Measured Value	% Accuracy			
Day 1	9.32	93.20	28.93	96.43	114.98	95.82	223.30	1488.67			
	10.05	100.50	29.80	99.33	117.66	98.05	222.26	1481.73			
	10.07	100.70	30.04	100.13	115.70	96.42	221.05	1473.67			
	10.65	106.50	31.94	106.47	116.77	97.31	227.01	1513.40			
	9.25	92.50	29.04	96.80	121.45	101.21	224.08	1493.87			
	10.67	106.70	29.95	99.83	121.28	101.07	228.10	1520.67			
Day 2	9.74	97.40	30.07	100.23	119.49	99.58	222.85	1485.67			
	10.24	102.40	30.63	102.10	123.27	102.73	226.31	1508.73			
	10.03	100.30	28.99	96.63	122.12	101.77	221.43	1476.20			
	9.94	99.40	30.62	102.07	122.46	102.05	229.38	1529.20			
	10.63	106.30	29.23	97.43	118.12	98.43	225.10	1500.67			
	9.77	97.70	30.89	102.97	121.04	100.87	227.62	1517.47			
Day 3	9.81	98.10	28.79	95.97	112.40	93.67	220.73	1471.53			
	9.70	97.00	30.98	103.27	121.17	100.98	215.27	1435.13			
	9.67	96.70	30.29	100.97	116.90	97.42	225.16	1501.07			
	9.93	99.30	31.08	103.60	109.66	91.38	219.18	1461.20			
	9.56	95.60	29.85	99.50	110.84	92.37	220.50	1470.00			
	10.44	104.40	29.06	96.87	111.25	92.71	223.85	1492.33			
Mean	9.9706	99.71	30.0100	100.03	117.5867	97.99	223.5100	101.60			
SD	0.4267		0.8959		4.3436		3.5484				
% CV	4.28		2.99		3.69		1.59				

	Concentration of Donepezil (ng/mL)								
Assay no.	LQC (30	ng/mL)	MQC (120) ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
	Unextract	Extract	Unextract	Extract	Unextract	Extract			
1	2923	2279	7128	6163	13873	11611			
2	2849	2483	8046	6835	13917	11580			
3	2714	2344	8039	6580	14446	11650			
4	2890	2530	7829	6344	13705	11982			
5	2790	2490	7746	6466	13566	12170			
6	2840	2353	7236	6532	14105	12551			
Mean	2834.33	2413.17	7670.67	6486.67	13935.33	11924.00			
SD	74.37	100.83	397.67	227.00	310.89	386.88			
%CV	2.62	4.18	5.18	3.50	2.23	3.24			
%	Q AND		CALLER D						
Absolute	85.14		84.56		85.	57			
Recovery	ລາຍາລະເວລາ		านนาวิทยาวัย						

Table 6 Recovery of extraction of donepezil in human plasma

Chulalongkorn University

Accovino	Concentration of Diphenhydramine (200 ng/mL)					
Assay no.	Un-extracted	Extract				
1	13546	10155				
2	12784	10368				
3	14572	10000				
4	14463	10549				
5	14435	10654				
6	13655	10833				
Mean 🥔	13909.1667	10426.5000				
SD 🥏	704.9923	313.3820				
%CV	5.07	3.01				
% Absolute Recovery	70	1.96				

 Table 7 Recovery of extraction of Internal standard (Diphenhydramine)



Table 8 Recovery of extraction Donepezil and Diphenhydramine

Analuta	Concentration	Absolute Recovery
ลุหาลงก	รณม (ug/mL) 1 ลีย	(% Mean)
Donepezil LALON	GKORN 30.00 VERSI	Y 85.14
(n=6)	120	84.56
	220	85.57
Diphenhydramine	200	74.96
(n=6)		
N = number of replicates		

Table 9 Human Donepezil concentration in spiked human plasma samples at 30,120, and 220 ng/mL before and after freeze and thaw condition 3 cycles

	Concentration of Donepezil(ng/mL)								
	LQC	(30 ng/mL)	MQC (120 ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
	Fresh	After 3 cycles	Fresh	After 3 cycles	Fresh	After 3 cycles			
	30.29	29.06	112.40	122.61	220.73	240.15			
	29.85	31.14	121.17	119.08	219.18	234.98			
	29.06	29.95	116.90	125.79	220.50	233.44			
Mean	29.7333	30.0500	116.8233	122.4933	220.1367	236.1900			
SD	0.6232	1.0436	4.3855	3.3565	0.8364	3.5148			
% CV	2.10	3.47	3.75	2.74	0.38	1.49			
% Recovery	99.11	100.17	97.35	102.08	100.06	107.36			
% Variation		1.07		4.85	7.29				



Table 10 Long term stability of Galantamine in spiked human plasma samples at 30,120 and 220 ng/mL (6-months)

	Concentration of Donepezil(ng/mL)							
	LQC (30 ng/mL)	MQC (120 ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)					
	Fresh	Fresh	Fresh					
	30.29	112.40	220.73					
	29.85	121.17	219.18					
	29.06	116.90	220.50					
Mean	29.733	116.823	220.136					
SD	0.6232	4.3855	0.8364					
% CV	2.10	3.75	0.38					
% Recovery	99.11	97.35	100.06					



Table 11 Short term stability of Galantamine in spiked human plasma samples at 30,120, and 220 ng/mL

	Concentration of Donepezil (ng/mL)								
	LQC (30 ng/mL)	MQC (1	.20 ng/mL)	HQC (2	HQC (220 ng/mL)			
	After			After		After			
	Fresh	Thawed	Fresh	Thawed	Fresh	Thawed			
		for 4 hr	111222	for 4 hr		for 4 hr			
	30.29 29.37		112.40	121.75	220.73	235.59			
	29.85	30.01	121.17	123.44	219.18	222.47			
	29.06	30.10	116.90	124.50	220.50	220.50			
Mean	29.7333	29.8267	116.8233	123.2300	220.1367	226.1867			
SD	0.6232	0.3980	4.3855	1.3870	0.8364	8.2029			
% CV	2.10	1.33	3.75	1.13	0.38	3.63			
% Recovery	99.11	99.42	97.35	102.69	100.06	102.81			
% Variation	0.31		5.48		2.75				

Table 12 Auto-sampler stability of donepezil in spiked human plasmasamples at 30, 120, and 220 ng/mL

		Concentration of Donepezil (ng/mL)							
	LQC (3	0 ng/mL)	MQC (12	0 ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
	Fresh	After	Frach	After	Frach	After			
		10 hr	FIESH	10 hr	116311	10 hr			
	30.29	30.07	112.40	119.49	220.73	222.85			
	29.85	30.63	121.17	118.12	219.18	221.43			
	29.06	30.62 116.90		121.04	220.50	225.10			
Mean	29.7333	30.4400	116.8233	119.5500	220.1367	223.1267			
SD	0.6232	0.3205	4.3855	1.4609	0.8364	1.8506			
% CV	2.10	1.05	3.75	1.22	0.38	0.83			
% Recovery	Recovery 99.11 101.47		97.35	99.63	100.06	101.42			
% Variation	2.38		2.33		1.36				



Galantamine

LLOQ	Concentration of Galantamine (ng/mL)						Mean	CV	RV
(ng/mL)	N1	N2	N3	N4	N5	N6	(ng/mL)	(%)	(%)
10	10.2791	10.0048	9.0886	10.4278	11.8372	11.8966	10.3275	10.33	105.89

Table 1 Lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) of unextracted galantamine

 Table 2 Linearity data of galantamine in human plasma for 3 days

Nominal	Experimental concentration						
concentration	concentration (ng/mL)		Mean	S.D.	%CV	%Recovery	
(ug/mL)	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3				
10.00	8.2791	9.0886	11.8372	0.0222	1 7250	17.20	
10.00	8.0048	10.4278	11.8966	9.9225	1.7200	17.59	99.22
50.00	53.5476	49.4934	49.5685	40 2022	2 (792	5.40	98.58
50.00	45.6458	50.1188	47.3795	49.2922	2.0102	5.45	
100.00	106.4026	100.8664	102.6449	102 0240	2 0 2 0 7	2.07	102.03
100.00	103.1692	101.9661	97.1605	102.0549	5.0207	2.91	
150.00	147.3053	151.3373	144.8405	140 4470	2.7336	1.02	99.63
150.00	151.3445	150.9234	150.9309	- 149.4470		1.85	
200.00	204.7763	198.3000	201.1153	109 2050	5 7000	2 00	00.10
200.00	190.2725	192.5539	202.2118	190.2050	5.7022	2.00	99.10
250.00	256.7871	250.8708	252.8636	251 0095	4 4010	1 70	100.44
250.00	244.4652	254.0535	247.5508	231.0905	4.4910	1.79	100.44
r ²	0.996471	0.998984	0.999071				
Nominal concentration (ng/mL)	Black calculate concentration (ng/mL)	% Nominal value					
-------------------------------------	---	--------------------					
10.00	9.9223	99.22					
50.00	49.2922	98.58					
100.00	102.0349	102.03					
150.00	149.4470	99.63					
200.00	198.2050	99.10					
250.00	251.0985	100.44					

Table 3 Average data for linearity of galantamine in human plasma



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

		Within-batch Accuracy & Precision (Day 1)									
Sample	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30 ng/mL)		MQC (120) ng/mL)	HQC (220) ng/mL)			
Number	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%			
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy			
1	10.28	102.79	29.26	97.53	118.39	98.66	220.75	100.34			
2	10.00	100.05	29.93	99.77	119.85	99.88	219.71	99.87			
3	10.73	107.31	32.06	106.87	117.09	97.58	217.31	98.78			
4	10.46	104.56	29.61	98.70	118.52	98.77	221.72	100.78			
5	10.18	101.82	30.84	102.80	117.65	98.04	219.21	99.64			
6	10.91	109.08	30.11	100.37	120.43	100.36	223.72	101.69			
Mean	10.4267	104.27	30.3017	101.01	118.6550	98.88	220.4033	100.18			
SD	0.3418		1.0119		1.2749		2.2058				
% CV	3.28		3.34	0	1.07		1.00				
			Within-ba	tch Accurac	cy & Precisio	n (Day 2)					
Sample	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30	ng/mL)	mL) MQC (120 ng/mL)			HQC (220 ng/mL)			
Number	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%			
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy			
1	9.09	90.89	30.09	100.30	116.74	97.28	221.04	100.47			
2	10.43	104.28	30.28	100.93	117.62	98.02	221.11	100.50			
3	10.77	107.67	32.02	106.73	118.48	98.73	218.77	99.44			
4	10.11	101.06	29.97	99.90	119.75	99.79	221.91	100.87			
5	11.45	114.45	29.51	98.37	117.27	97.73	216.88	98.58			
6	10.78	107.85	30.37	101.23	116.12	96.77	220.72	100.33			
Mean	10.4366	104.37	30.3733	101.24	117.6633	98.05	220.0717	100.03			
SD	0.7968		0.7862		1.2971		1.8813				
% CV	7.63		2.59		1.10		0.85				
Sample			Within-ba	tch Accurac	cy & Precisio	n (Day 3)					

Table 4 Accuracy and precision of LLOQ, LQC, MQC, and HQC

(10, 30, 120, and 220 ng/mL) of within-batch human plasma galantamine

Number	LLOQ (10 ng/mL)		LQC (30 ng/mL)		MQC (120 ng/mL)		HQC (220 ng/mL)	
	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy
1	11.84	118.37	29.84	99.47	119.58	99.65	216.73	98.51
2	11.90	118.97	30.12	100.40	122.32	101.93	219.21	99.64
3	10.96	109.56	29.64	98.80	120.29	100.24	225.50	102.50
4	10.02	100.15	30.50	101.67	118.10	98.42	221.26	100.57
5	10.07	100.75	28.24	94.13	119.87	99.89	214.27	97.40
6	10.13	101.34	29.04	96.80	119.22	99.35	222.36	101.07
Mean	10.8189	108.19	29.5633	98.54	119.8967	99.91	219.8883	99.95
SD	0.8816		0.8118		1.4010		4.0369	
% CV	8.15		2.75		1.17		1.84	



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 5 Accuracy and pred	cision of LLOQ, LQC, MQC, and HQC
---------------------------	-----------------------------------

(10, 30, 120, and 220 ng/mL) of between-batch human plasma galantamine

			Betwee	en-batch A	ccuracy & F	Precision		
Sample	LLOQ (10) ng/mL)	LQC (30	ng/mL)	MQC (120) ng/mL)	HQC (22	20 ng/mL)
/ Batch	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%	Measured	%
	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy	Value	Accuracy
Day 1	10.28	102.79	29.26	97.53	118.39	98.66	220.75	100.34
	10.00	100.05	29.93	99.77	119.85	99.88	219.71	99.87
	10.73	107.31	32.06	106.87	117.09	97.58	217.31	98.78
	10.46	104.56	29.61	98.70	118.52	98.77	221.72	100.78
	10.18	101.82	30.84	102.80	117.65	98.04	219.21	99.64
	10.91	109.08	30.11	100.37	120.43	100.36	223.72	101.69
Day 2	9.09	90.89	30.09	100.30	116.74	97.28	221.04	100.47
	10.43	104.28	30.28	100.93	117.62	98.02	221.11	100.50
	10.77	107.67	32.02	106.73	118.48	98.73	218.77	99.44
	10.11	101.06	29.97	99.90	119.75	99.79	221.91	100.87
	11.45	114.45	29.51	98.37	117.27	97.73	216.88	98.58
	10.78	107.85	30.37	101.23	116.12	96.77	220.72	100.33
Day 3	11.84	118.37	29.84	99.47	119.58	99.65	216.73	98.51
	11.90	118.97	30.12	100.40	122.32	101.93	219.21	99.64
	10.96	109.56	29.64	98.80	120.29	100.24	225.50	102.50
	10.02	100.15	30.50	101.67	118.10	98.42	221.26	100.57
	10.07	100.75	28.24	94.13	119.87	99.89	214.27	97.40
	10.13	101.34	29.04	96.80	119.22	99.35	222.36	101.07
Mean	10.5607	105.61	30.0794	100.26	118.7383	98.95	220.1211	100.06
SD	0.6964		0.9247		1.5601		2.7043	
% CV	6.59		3.07		1.31		1.23	

		Concentration of Galantamine (ng/mL)								
Assay no.	LQC (30	ng/mL)	MQC (120	ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)					
	Unextract	Extract	Unextract	Extract	Unextract	Extract				
1	692	568	4012	3526	7551	6095				
2	627	576	4018	3504	7408	5965				
3	613	563	4032	3546	7604	5945				
4	605	587	4008	3484	7585	6024				
5	694	523	4079	3534	7515	6025				
6	640	546	4097	3416	7456	6055				
Mean	645.17	560.50	4041.00	3501.67	7519.83	6018.17				
SD	38.94	22.90	37.74	47.45	76.04	55.72				
%CV	6.04	4.09	0.93	1.36	1.01	0.93				
%		1		J						
Absolute	86.88		86.65		80.0	3				
Recovery				-						

Table 6 Recovery of extraction of Galantamine in human plasma

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Accov 00	Concentration of Voriconazole (3,000 ng/mL)					
Assay no.	Un-extracted	Extract				
1	4599	3360				
2	4528	3411				
3	4616	3949				
4	4559	3404				
5	4637	3233				
6	4737	3729				
Mean	4612.6667	3514.3333				
SD	72.5222	268.6393				
%CV	1.57	7.64				
% Absolute	76 10					
Recovery						

 Table 7 Recovery of extraction of Internal standard (Voriconazole)



 Table 8 Recovery of extraction Galantamine and Voriconazole

จุหาลงก Apolyto	Concentration	Absolute Recovery	
GHULALON	GKOR (ug/mL) ERSI	Y (% Mean)	
Galantamine	30.00	86.88	
(n=6)	120	86.65	
	220	80.03	
Voriconazole	3,000	76.19	
(n=6)			
n = number of replicates			

	Concentration of Galantamine (ng/mL)								
	LQC (30 ng/mL)	MQC (1	20 ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
	Exects	After 3	Fresh	After 3	Fresh	After 3			
	110311	cycles	116311	cycles	TTEST	cycles			
	29.84	31.45	119.58	120.88	219.21	223.79			
	30.12	30.00	120.29	118.57	221.26	218.04			
	29.64	31.13	119.87	118.79	222.36	222.03			
Mean	29.8667	30.8600	119.9133	119.4133	220.9433	221.2867			
SD	0.2411	0.7618	0.3570	1.2749	1.5987	2.9462			
% CV	0.81	2.47	0.30	1.07	0.72	1.33			
% Recovery	99.56	102.87	99.93	99.51	100.43	100.58			
% Variation		3.33		0.42	С	0.16			

Table 9 Human Galantamine concentration in spiked human plasma samples at

30, 120, and 220 ng/mL before and after freeze and thaw condition 3 cycles



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University Table 10 Long term stability of Galantamine in spiked human plasma samples

	Concentration of Galantamine(ng/mL)								
	LQC (3	30 ng/mL)	MQC (1	20 ng/mL)	HQC (2	HQC (220 ng/mL)			
	Fresh	After 6	Fresh	After 6	Fresh	After 6			
	116311	months	TTEST	months	116311	months			
	29.84	30.25	119.58	119.37	219.21	216.67			
	30.12	30.18	120.29	119.13	221.26	217.91			
	29.64	29.66	119.87	122.31	222.36	216.13			
Mean	29.8667	30.0300	119.9133	120.2700	220.9433	216.9033			
SD	0.2411	0.3223	0.3570	1.7708	1.5987	0.9127			
% CV	0.81	1.07	0.30	1.47	0.72	0.42			
% Recovery	99.56	100.10	99.93	100.23	100.43	98.59			
% Variation		0.55		0.30	-	1.83			

at 30, 120 and 220 ng/mL (6-months)



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 11 Short term stability of Galantamine in spiked human plasma samples at 30,120, and 220 ng/mL

	Concentration of Galantamine(ng/mL)								
	LQC (30 ng/mL)	MQC (1	.20 ng/mL)	HQC (22	HQC (220 ng/mL)			
		After		After		After			
	Fresh	Thawed	Fresh	Thawed	Fresh	Thawed			
		for 4 hr	a fa fa fa	for 4 hr		for 4 hr			
	29.84	30.30	119.58	116.36	219.21	217.58			
	30.12	29.85	120.29	117.81	221.26	219.12			
	29.64	29.29	119.87	119.93	222.36	220.77			
Mean	29.8667	29.8133	119.9133	118.0333	220.9433	219.1567			
SD	0.2411	0.5060	0.3570	1.7954	1.5987	1.5953			
% CV	0.81	1.70	0.30	1.52	0.72	0.73			
% Recovery	99.56	99.38	99.93	98.36	100.43	99.62			
% Variation	-	-0.18	NACE -	1.57	-C	-0.81			

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

	Concentration of Galantamine(ng/mL)								
	LQC (3	0 ng/mL)	MQC (12	20 ng/mL)	HQC (220 ng/mL)				
	Fresh After 10 h		Fresh	After 10 h	Fresh	After 10 h			
	29.84	30.07	119.58	119.49	219.21	222.85			
	30.12	30.63	120.29	118.12	221.26	221.43			
	29.64	30.62	119.87	121.04	222.36	225.10			
Mean	29.8667 -	30.4400	119.9133	119.5500	220.9433	223.1267			
SD	0.2411	0.3205	0.3570	1.4609	1.5987	1.8506			
% CV	0.81	1.05	0.30	1.22	0.72	0.83			
% Recovery	99.56	101.47	99.93	99.63	100.43	101.42			
% Variation	1	1.92	-C	.30	0.99				

Table 12 Auto-sampler stability of Galantamine in spiked human plasma samples at30, 120, and 220 ng/mL



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX III

Ethic Document

2 WANS LANS Rd. BANSKOKNOI BANGKOK 10700



Tel. +66 2419 2667-72 Fax. +66 2411 0162

Siriraj Institutional Review Board Certificate of Approval (Renewal)

		~	COA no. SI 818/2016	
Protocol Title(Foglish) -	Association of genetic facts	ors and non-genetic factors a	with clinical response of	
	Donepezil and Galantamin	e in Thai patients with Deme	ntia -	
Protocol Title(Thal) :	ความสัมพันร์ระหว่างปัจจัยหางพันธุกรรมและปัจจัยพื้นได้ยวข้องกับพันธุกรรม กับผลการ ดอบสนองกางส์มิกของอาโคเมเพชิลหรือกามสนกาลีนในผู้ป่วยโรคครามจำเสี่ยมชาวไทย			
Protocol number :	539/2559(EC1)			
Principal Investigator/Affiliation : Mr.Thitipon Yaowaluk / Faculty Of Pharmaceutical Sciences Chulaiongkom University				
Research site :	Faculty of Medicine Siriraj I	Hospital		
Renewal date (2 ^{rid})	: December 27, 2018			
Expired date	December 26, 2019			
		· '		
For Human Research Protection such as the Declaration of Helsinki, the Belmont Report, CIONIS Guidelines and the International Conference on Harmonizationin Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP)				
Eu	X RL		- 4 JAN 2019	
(Prof. Chairat Shayakul, M.D.)			date	
Chairperson				
Cont	Sh-		-7 JAN 2019	
(Prof.Dr. Pras	it Watanapa, M.D., Ph.D.)		date -	
Dean of Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital				
Annoval Includes				
1 999 submission form amendment 1 dated 19 Sen 2017				
2. Protocol	annanna na na anna an am			
3. Participant informatic	on sheet, dated 17 Jan 2018		·	
4. Informed consent for	rm, dated 17 Jan 2018			
5. Telephone script				
6. Case record form				
7. Cuntculum vitae				
		Page 1 /2		

REFERENCES

1. Masters CL, Bateman R, Blennow K, Rowe CC, Sperling RA, Cummings JL. Alzheimer's disease. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2015;1:15056.

 Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M, et al. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. Lancet (London, England).
 2005;366(9503):2112-7.

3. Noetzli M, Eap CB. Pharmacodynamic, pharmacokinetic and pharmacogenetic aspects of drugs used in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2013;52(4):225-41.

4. Rungsanpanya T, Muangpaisan W, Praditsuwan R. Clinical practice with antidementia drugs in a geriatric clinic. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand
= Chotmaihet thangphaet. 2012;95(8):1081-9.

5. Cacabelos R. Donepezil in Alzheimer's disease: From conventional trials to pharmacogenetics. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment. 2007;3(3):303-33.

6. Lu J, Wan L, Zhong Y, Yu Q, Han Y, Chen P, et al. Stereoselective metabolism of donepezil and steady-state plasma concentrations of S-donepezil based on CYP2D6 polymorphisms in the therapeutic responses of Han Chinese patients with Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Pharmacological Sciences. 2015;129(3):188-95.

7. Saumier D, Murtha S, Bergman H, Phillips N, Whitehead V, Chertkow H. Cognitive predictors of donepezil therapy response in Alzheimer disease. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2007;24(1):28-35.

8. Cacabelos R, Torrellas C, Carrera I. Opportunities in pharmacogenomics for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Future Neurology. 2015;10(3):229-52.

 Jann MW, Shirley KL, Small GW. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cholinesterase inhibitors. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2002;41(10):719-39.

10. Zhou SF. Polymorphism of human cytochrome P450 2D6 and its clinical significance: Part I. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2009;48(11):689-723.

11. Pilotto A, Franceschi M, D'Onofrio G, Bizzarro A, Mangialasche F, Cascavilla L, et al. Effect of a CYP2D6 polymorphism on the efficacy of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2009;73(10):761-7.

12. Varsaldi F, Miglio G, Scordo MG, Dahl ML, Villa LM, Biolcati A, et al. Impact of the CYP2D6 polymorphism on steady-state plasma concentrations and clinical outcome of donepezil in Alzheimer's disease patients. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2006;62(9):721-6.

13. Klimkowicz-Mrowiec A, Wolkow P, Sado M, Dziubek A, Pera J, Dziedzic T, et al. Influence of rs1080985 single nucleotide polymorphism of the CYP2D6 gene on response to treatment with donepezil in patients with alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment. 2013;9:1029-33.

14. Liu M, Zhang Y, Huo YR, Liu S, Liu S, Wang J, et al. Influence of the rs1080985 Single Nucleotide Polymorphism of the CYP2D6 Gene and APOE Polymorphism on the Response to Donepezil Treatment in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease in China. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders extra. 2014;4(3):450-6.

Suwannasri P, Thongnoppakhun W, Pramyothin P, Assawamakin A, Limwongse
 Combination of multiplex PCR and DHPLC-based strategy for CYP2D6 genotyping
 scheme in Thais. Clinical biochemistry. 2011;44(13):1144-52.

16. Liu CC, Liu CC, Kanekiyo T, Xu H, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms and therapy. Nature reviews Neurology. 2013;9(2):106-18.

17. Querfurth HW, LaFerla FM. Alzheimer's Disease. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;362(4):329-44.

18. O'Brien RJ, Wong PC. Amyloid Precursor Protein Processing and Alzheimer's Disease. Annual review of neuroscience. 2011;34:185-204.

19. Dolan PJ, Johnson GVW. The role of tau kinases in Alzheimer's disease. Current opinion in drug discovery & development. 2010;13(5):595-603.

20. Samuels ER, Szabadi E. Functional neuroanatomy of the noradrenergic locus coeruleus: its roles in the regulation of arousal and autonomic function part II: physiological and pharmacological manipulations and pathological alterations of locus coeruleus activity in humans. Current neuropharmacology. 2008;6(3):254-85.

21. Feldman HH, Jacova C, Robillard A, Garcia A, Chow T, Borrie M, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of dementia: 2. Diagnosis. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2008;178(7):825-36.

22. Bell CC. Dsm-iv: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. JAMA. 1994;272(10):828-9.

23. Cordell CB, Borson S, Boustani M, Chodosh J, Reuben D, Verghese J, et al. Alzheimer's Association recommendations for operationalizing the detection of cognitive impairment during the Medicare Annual Wellness Visit in a primary care setting. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 2013;9(2):141-50.

24. Olsson B, Lautner R, Andreasson U, Öhrfelt A, Portelius E, Bjerke M, et al. CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Neurology. 2016;15(7):673-84.

25. Vandenberghe R, Adamczuk K, Dupont P, Laere KV, Chételat G. Amyloid PET in clinical practice: Its place in the multidimensional space of Alzheimer's disease. NeuroImage: Clinical. 2013;2(Supplement C):497-511.

26. Palmqvist S, Zetterberg H, Mattsson N, Johansson P, Initiative FtAsDN, Minthon L, et al. Detailed comparison of amyloid PET and CSF biomarkers for identifying early Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2015.

27. Smith EE. Clinical presentations and epidemiology of vascular dementia. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 2017;131(11):1059-68.

28. Pathological correlates of late-onset dementia in a multicentre, communitybased population in England and Wales. Neuropathology Group of the Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study (MRC CFAS). Lancet (London, England). 2001;357(9251):169-75.

29. Lobo A, Launer LJ, Fratiglioni L, Andersen K, Di Carlo A, Breteler MM, et al. Prevalence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: A collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology. 2000;54(11 Suppl 5):S4-9. 30. Senanarong V, Harnphadungkit K, Poungvarin N, Vannasaeng S, Chongwisal S, Chakorn T, et al. The Dementia and Disability Project in Thai Elderly: rational, design, methodology and early results. BMC neurology. 2013;13:3.

31. Graham NL, Emery T, Hodges JR. Distinctive cognitive profiles in Alzheimer's disease and subcortical vascular dementia. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2004;75(1):61-71.

32. McKeith IG, Boeve BF, Dickson DW, Halliday G, Taylor JP, Weintraub D, et al. Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. Neurology. 2017;89(1):88-100.

33. Williams MA, Malm J. Diagnosis and Treatment of Idiopathic Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus. Continuum (Minneapolis, Minn). 2016;22(2 Dementia):579-99.

34. Hachinski VC, Iliff LD, Zilhka E, Du Boulay GH, McAllister VL, Marshall J, et al. Cerebral blood flow in dementia. Archives of neurology. 1975;32(9):632-7.

35. Sachdev P, Kalaria R, O'Brien J, Skoog I, Alladi S, Black SE, et al. Diagnostic criteria for vascular cognitive disorders: a VASCOG statement. Alzheimer disease and associated disorders. 2014;28(3):206-18.

36. Gorelick PB, Scuteri A, Black SE, Decarli C, Greenberg SM, Iadecola C, et al. Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: a statement for healthcare professionals from the american heart association/american stroke association. Stroke. 2011;42(9):2672-713.

37. Lee P, Hsiung G, Seitz D, Gill S, Rochon P. Cholinesterase inhibitors. BC Med J. 2011;53(8):404-8.

Weinstock M. Selectivity of Cholinesterase Inhibition. CNS Drugs.
 1999;12(4):307-23.

39. Nordberg A, Ballard C, Bullock R, Darreh-Shori T, Somogyi M. A Review of Butyrylcholinesterase as a Therapeutic Target in the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. The primary care companion for CNS disorders. 2013;15(2):PCC.12r01412.

40. Kennedy JS, Polinsky RJ, Johnson B, Loosen P, Enz A, Laplanche R, et al. Preferential cerebrospinal fluid acetylcholinesterase inhibition by rivastigmine in humans. Journal of clinical psychopharmacology. 1999;19(6):513-21. 41. Tiseo PJ, Perdomo CA, Friedhoff LT. Metabolism and elimination of 14Cdonepezil in healthy volunteers: a single-dose study. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 1998;46 Suppl 1:19-24.

42. Matsui K, Taniguchi S, Yoshimura T. Correlation of the intrinsic clearance of donepezil (Aricept) between in vivo and in vitro studies in rat, dog and human. Xenobiotica; the fate of foreign compounds in biological systems. 1999;29(11):1059-72.

43. Shintani EY, Uchida KM. Donepezil: an anticholinesterase inhibitor for
Alzheimer's disease. American journal of health-system pharmacy : AJHP : official
journal of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists. 1997;54(24):2805-10.
44. Ingelman-Sundberg M. Genetic polymorphisms of cytochrome P450 2D6
(CYP2D6): clinical consequences, evolutionary aspects and functional diversity. The
pharmacogenomics journal. 2005;5(1):6-13.

45. Zanger UM, Raimundo S, Eichelbaum M. Cytochrome P450 2D6: overview and update on pharmacology, genetics, biochemistry. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology. 2004;369(1):23-37.

46. Teh LK, Bertilsson L. Pharmacogenomics of CYP2D6: molecular genetics, interethnic differences and clinical importance. Drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. 2012;27(1):55-67.

47. Twist GP, Gaedigk A, Miller NA, Farrow EG, Willig LK, Dinwiddie DL, et al. Constellation: a tool for rapid, automated phenotype assignment of a highly polymorphic pharmacogene, CYP2D6, from whole-genome sequences. 2016;1:15007.

48. Beverage JN, Sissung TM, Sion AM, Danesi R, Figg WD. CYP2D6 polymorphisms and the impact on tamoxifen therapy. Journal of pharmaceutical sciences. 2007;96(9):2224-31.

49. Chamnanphon M, Pechatanan K, Sirachainan E, Trachu N, Chantratita W, Pasomsub E, et al. Association of CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 polymorphisms and diseasefree survival of Thai post-menopausal breast cancer patients who received adjuvant tamoxifen. Pharmacogenomics and personalized medicine. 2013;6:37-48. 50. Chamnanphon M, Gaedigk A, Vanwong N, Nuntamool N, Hongkaew Y, Puangpetch A, et al. CYP2D6 genotype analysis of a Thai population: platform comparison. Pharmacogenomics. 2018;19(12):947-60.

51. Charoenchokthavee W, Panomvana D, Sriuranpong V, Areepium N. Prevalence of CYP2D6*2, CYP2D6*4, CYP2D6*10, and CYP3A5*3 in Thai breast cancer patients undergoing tamoxifen treatment. Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press). 2016;8:149-55.

52. Finta C, Zaphiropoulos PG. The human cytochrome P450 3A locus. Gene evolution by capture of downstream exons. Gene. 2000;260(1-2):13-23.

53. Ingelman-Sundberg M, Sim SC, Gomez A, Rodriguez-Antona C. Influence of cytochrome P450 polymorphisms on drug therapies: pharmacogenetic, pharmacoepigenetic and clinical aspects. Pharmacology & therapeutics. 2007;116(3):496-526.

54. Lamba JK, Lin YS, Schuetz EG, Thummel KE. Genetic contribution to variable human CYP3A-mediated metabolism. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2002;54(10):1271-94.

55. Ozawa S, Soyama A, Saeki M, Fukushima-Uesaka H, Itoda M, Koyano S, et al. Ethnic differences in genetic polymorphisms of CYP2D6, CYP2C19, CYP3As and MDR1/ABCB1. Drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. 2004;19(2):83-95.

56. Xie HG, Wood AJ, Kim RB, Stein CM, Wilkinson GR. Genetic variability in CYP3A5 and its possible consequences. Pharmacogenomics. 2004;5(3):243-72.

57. Kuehl P, Zhang J, Lin Y, Lamba J, Assem M, Schuetz J, et al. Sequence diversity in CYP3A promoters and characterization of the genetic basis of polymorphic CYP3A5 expression. Nature genetics. 2001;27(4):383-91.

58. Birdwell KA, Decker B, Barbarino JM, Peterson JF, Stein CM, Sadee W, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) Guidelines for CYP3A5 Genotype and Tacrolimus Dosing. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics. 2015;98(1):19-24.

59. Vannaprasaht S, Reungjui S, Supanya D, Sirivongs D, Pongskul C, Avihingsanon Y, et al. Personalized tacrolimus doses determined by CYP3A5 genotype for induction

and maintenance phases of kidney transplantation. Clinical therapeutics. 2013;35(11):1762-9.

60. Balram C, Zhou Q, Cheung YB, Lee EJ. CYP3A5*3 and *6 single nucleotide polymorphisms in three distinct Asian populations. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2003;59(2):123-6.

61. Seong SJ, Lim M, Sohn SK, Moon JH, Oh SJ, Kim BS, et al. Influence of enzyme and transporter polymorphisms on trough imatinib concentration and clinical response in chronic myeloid leukemia patients. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology. 2013;24(3):756-60.

62. Zochowska D, Wyzgal J, Paczek L. Impact of CYP3A4*1B and CYP3A5*3 polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics of cyclosporine and sirolimus in renal transplant recipients. Annals of transplantation. 2012;17(3):36-44.

van Schaik RH, van der Heiden IP, van den Anker JN, Lindemans J. CYP3A5
variant allele frequencies in Dutch Caucasians. Clinical chemistry. 2002;48(10):166871.

64. Semiz S, Dujic T, Ostanek B, Prnjavorac B, Bego T, Malenica M, et al. Analysis of CYP3A4*1B and CYP3A5*3 polymorphisms in population of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Medicinski glasnik : official publication of the Medical Association of Zenica-Doboj Canton, Bosnia and Herzegovina. 2011;8(1):84-9.

65. Suarez-Kurtz G, Vargens DD, Santoro AB, Hutz MH, de Moraes ME, Pena SDJ, et al. Global Pharmacogenomics: Distribution of CYP3A5 Polymorphisms and Phenotypes in the Brazilian Population. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(1):e83472.

66. Marques SC, Ikediobi ON. The clinical application of UGT1A1 pharmacogenetic testing: gene-environment interactions. Human genomics. 2010;4(4):238-49.

67. Sukasem C, Atasilp C, Chansriwong P, Chamnanphon M, Puangpetch A, Sirachainan E. Development of Pyrosequencing Method for Detection of UGT1A1 Polymorphisms in Thai Colorectal Cancers. Journal of clinical laboratory analysis. 2016;30(1):84-9.

68. Kobayashi E, Satoh NJJPP. Clinical applications of UGT1A1 polymorphisms for irinotecan therapy. 2012;3:e117.

69. Palomaki GE, Bradley LA, Douglas MP, Kolor K, Dotson WD. Can UGT1A1 genotyping reduce morbidity and mortality in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with irinotecan? An evidence-based review. Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics. 2009;11(1):21-34.

70. Cacabelos R, Goldgaber D, Roses A, Vostrov A, Matsuki H, Torellas C, et al. Gene interactions in the pharmacogenomics of Alzheimer's disease. 2015;1(1):22.

71. Hoffmeyer S, Burk O, von Richter O, Arnold HP, Brockmoller J, Johne A, et al. Functional polymorphisms of the human multidrug-resistance gene: multiple sequence variations and correlation of one allele with P-glycoprotein expression and activity in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2000;97(7):3473-8.

72. Magliulo L, Dahl ML, Lombardi G, Fallarini S, Villa LM, Biolcati A, et al. Do CYP3A and ABCB1 genotypes influence the plasma concentration and clinical outcome of donepezil treatment? European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2011;67(1):47-54.

73. Al-Diab O, Yousef A, Al Manassrah E, Masadeh A, Olemat M, Qosa H, et al. Genotype and Haplotype Analysis of ABCB1 at 1236, 2677 and 3435 among Jordanian Population. 2015;14(6):1013-9.

74. Singkham N, Avihingsanon A, Bunupuradah T, Punyawudho BJMJJA. Genotype and allele frequencies of ABCB1 and SLCO1B1 polymorphisms in THAI HIV-infected patients.62(4):697-709.

75. Yu JT, Tan L, Hardy J. Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease: an update. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2014;37:79-100.

76. Van Cauwenberghe C, Van Broeckhoven C, Sleegers K. The genetic landscape of Alzheimer disease: clinical implications and perspectives. Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics. 2016;18(5):421-30.

77. Bu G. Apolipoprotein E and its receptors in Alzheimer's disease: pathways, pathogenesis and therapy. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2009;10(5):333-44.

78. Liu C-C, Kanekiyo T, Xu H, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms, and therapy. Nature reviews Neurology. 2013;9(2):106-18.

79. Corder EH, Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel DE, Gaskell PC, Small GW, et al. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science (New York, NY). 1993;261(5123):921-3.

Verghese PB, Castellano JM, Holtzman DM. Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease and other neurological disorders. The Lancet Neurology. 2011;10(3):241-52.
 Liu M, Bian C, Zhang J, Wen F. Apolipoprotein E gene polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease in Chinese population: a meta-analysis. Scientific Reports. 2014;4:4383.

82. Wu P, Li H-L, Liu Z-J, Tao Q-Q, Xu M, Guo Q-H, et al. Associations between apolipoprotein E gene polymorphisms and Alzheimer's disease risk in a large Chinese Han population. Clinical Interventions in Aging. 2015;10:371-8.

83. Senanarong V, Harnphadungkit K, Lertrit P, Mitrpant C, Udompunthurak S, Limwong C, et al. Experience of ApoE study in Thai elderly. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand = Chotmaihet thangphaet. 2001;84(2):182-7.

84. Singh PP, Singh M, Mastana SS. APOE distribution in world populations with new data from India and the UK. Annals of human biology. 2006;33(3):279-308.

85. Kamruecha W, Chansirikarnjana S, Nimkulrat E, Udommongkol C, Wongmek W, Thangnipon W. Rapid detection of apolipoprotein E genotypes in Alzheimer's disease using polymerase chain reaction-single strand conformation polymorphism. The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health. 2006;37(4):793-7.

86. Pulkes T, Papsing C, Mahasirimongkol S, Busabaratana M, Kulkantrakorn K, Tiamkao S. Association between apolipoprotein E genotypes and Parkinson's disease. Journal of clinical neuroscience : official journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia. 2011;18(10):1333-5.

87. Chaudhary R, Likidlilid A, Peerapatdit T, Tresukosol D, Srisuma S, Ratanamaneechat S, et al. Apolipoprotein E gene polymorphism: effects on plasma lipids and risk of type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2012;11:36. 88. Seripa D, Bizzarro A, Pilotto A, D'Onofrio G, Vecchione G, Gallo AP, et al. Role of cytochrome P4502D6 functional polymorphisms in the efficacy of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Pharmacogenet Genomics. 2011;21(4):225-30.

89. Albani D, Martinelli Boneschi F, Biella G, Giacalone G, Lupoli S, Clerici F, et al. Replication study to confirm the role of CYP2D6 polymorphism rs1080985 on donepezil efficacy in Alzheimer's disease patients. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2012;30(4):745-9.

90. Zhong Y, Zheng X, Miao Y, Wan L, Yan H, Wang B. Effect of CYP2D6*10 and APOE polymorphisms on the efficacy of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Am J Med Sci. 2013;345(3):222-6.

91. Sonali N, Tripathi M, Sagar R, Velpandian T, Subbiah V. Impact of CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 genetic polymorphism on combined cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine treatment in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2014;37(1-2):58-70.

92. Noetzli M, Guidi M, Ebbing K, Eyer S, Wilhelm L, Michon A, et al. Population pharmacokinetic approach to evaluate the effect of CYP2D6, CYP3A, ABCB1, POR and NR1I2 genotypes on donepezil clearance. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2014;78(1):135-44.

93. Lu J, Fu J, Zhong Y, Chen P, Yang Q, Zhao Y, et al. The roles of apolipoprotein E3 and CYP2D6 (rs1065852) gene polymorphisms in the predictability of responses to individualized therapy with donepezil in Han Chinese patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience letters. 2016;614:43-8.

94. Chianella C, Gragnaniello D, Maisano Delser P, Visentini MF, Sette E, Tola MR, et al. BCHE and CYP2D6 genetic variation in Alzheimer's disease patients treated with cholinesterase inhibitors. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2011;67(11):1147-57.

95. Greenberg SM, Tennis MK, Brown LB, Gomez-Isla T, Hayden DL, Schoenfeld DA, et al. Donepezil therapy in clinical practice: a randomized crossover study. Archives of neurology. 2000;57(1):94-9. 96. Winblad B, Engedal K, Soininen H, Verhey F, Waldemar G, Wimo A, et al. A 1year, randomized, placebo-controlled study of donepezil in patients with mild to moderate AD. Neurology. 2001;57(3):489-95.

97. Rigaud AS, Traykov L, Latour F, Couderc R, Moulin F, Forette F. Presence or absence of at least one epsilon 4 allele and gender are not predictive for the response to donepezil treatment in Alzheimer's disease. Pharmacogenetics. 2002;12(5):415-20.

98. Bizzarro A, Marra C, Acciarri A, Valenza A, Tiziano FD, Brahe C, et al. Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele differentiates the clinical response to donepezil in Alzheimer's disease. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2005;20(4):254-61. 99. Kanaya K, Abe S, Sakai M, Fujii H, Iwamoto T. Changes in cognitive functions of patients with dementia of the Alzheimer type following long-term administration of donepezil hydrochloride: relating to changes attributable to differences in apolipoprotein E phenotype. Geriatrics & gerontology international. 2010;10(1):25-31. Piotrovsky V, Van Peer A, Van Osselaer N, Armstrong M, Aerssens J. 100. Galantamine population pharmacokinetics in patients with Alzheimer's disease: modeling and simulations. Journal of clinical pharmacology. 2003;43(5):514-23. 101. Noetzli M, Guidi M, Ebbing K, Eyer S, Zumbach S, Giannakopoulos P, et al. Relationship of CYP2D6, CYP3A, POR, and ABCB1 genotypes with galantamine plasma concentrations. Therapeutic drug monitoring. 2013;35(2):270-5.

102. Raskind MA, Peskind ER, Wessel T, Yuan W. Galantamine in AD: A 6-month randomized, placebo-controlled trial with a 6-month extension. The Galantamine USA-1 Study Group. Neurology. 2000;54(12):2261-8.

103. Aerssens J, Raeymaekers P, Lilienfeld S, Geerts H, Konings F, Parys W. APOE genotype: no influence on galantamine treatment efficacy nor on rate of decline in Alzheimer's disease. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2001;12(2):69-77.

104. Suh GH, Jung HY, Lee CU, Oh BH, Lee SK, Lee N, et al. Effect of the apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele on the efficacy and tolerability of galantamine in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2006;21(1):33-9.

105. Hammerlein A, Derendorf H, Lowenthal DT. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic changes in the elderly. Clinical implications. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 1998;35(1):49-64.

106. Schmucker DL. Liver function and phase I drug metabolism in the elderly: a paradox. Drugs & aging. 2001;18(11):837-51.

107. Wattmo C, Wallin ÅK, Londos E, Minthon L. Predictors of long-term cognitive outcome in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Research & Therapy. 2011;3(4):23-.
108. Scacchi R, Gambina G, Broggio E, Corbo RM. Sex and ESR1 genotype may influence the response to treatment with donepezil and rivastigmine in patients with Alzheimer's disease. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2014;29(6):610-5.
109. Pasqualetti G, Tognini S, Calsolaro V, Polini A, Monzani F. Potential drug-drug interactions in Alzheimer patients with behavioral symptoms. Clin Interv Aging. 2015;10:1457-66.

110. Gray SL, Anderson ML, Dublin S, Hanlon JT, Hubbard R, Walker R, et al. Cumulative use of strong anticholinergics and incident dementia: a prospective cohort study. JAMA internal medicine. 2015;175(3):401-7.

111. Miranda LF, Gomes KB, Silveira JN, Pianetti GA, Byrro RM, Peles PR, et al. Predictive factors of clinical response to cholinesterase inhibitors in mild and moderate Alzheimer's disease and mixed dementia: a one-year naturalistic study. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2015;45(2):609-20.

112. Martinelli-Boneschi F, Giacalone G, Magnani G, Biella G, Coppi E, Santangelo R, et al. Pharmacogenomics in Alzheimer's disease: a genome-wide association study of response to cholinesterase inhibitors. Neurobiology of aging. 2013;34(6):1711.e7-13.

113. Bagley SC, White H, Golomb BA. Logistic regression in the medical literature: standards for use and reporting, with particular attention to one medical domain. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2001;54(10):979-85.

114. Ponnayyan Sulochana S, Sharma K, Mullangi R, Sukumaran SK. Review of the validated HPLC and LC-MS/MS methods for determination of drugs used in clinical practice for Alzheimer's disease. Biomedical chromatography : BMC. 2014;28(11):1431-90.

115. Xie Z, Liao Q, Xu X, Yao M, Wan J, Liu D. Rapid and sensitive determination of donepezil in human plasma by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry: application to a pharmacokinetic study. Rapid communications in mass spectrometry : RCM. 2006;20(21):3193-8.

116. Food and Drug Administration F. USFDA. Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation2001.

117. Hu P, Qin YH, Jing CX, Lu L, Hu B, Du PF. Does the geographical gradient of ApoE4 allele exist in China? A systemic comparison among multiple Chinese populations. Molecular biology reports. 2011;38(1):489-94.

118. Kobayashi S, Tateno M, Park TW, Utsumi K, Sohma H, Ito YM, et al. Apolipoprotein E4 frequencies in a Japanese population with Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. PloS one. 2011;6(4):e18569-e.

119. Sensorn I, Sirachainan E, Chamnanphon M, Pasomsub E, Trachu N, Supavilai P, et al. Association of CYP3A4/5, ABCB1 and ABCC2 polymorphisms and clinical outcomes of Thai breast cancer patients treated with tamoxifen. Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine. 2013;6:93-8.

120. Coin A, Pamio MV, Alexopoulos C, Granziera S, Groppa F, de Rosa G, et al. Donepezil plasma concentrations, CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 phenotypes, and cognitive outcome in Alzheimer's disease. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2016;72(6):711-7.

121. Nagy CF, Kumar D, Perdomo CA, Wason S, Cullen EI, Pratt RD. Concurrent administration of donepezil HCl and sertraline HCl in healthy volunteers: assessment of pharmacokinetic changes and safety following single and multiple oral doses. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2004;58 Suppl 1:25-33.

122. Tiseo PJ, Perdomo CA, Friedhoff LT. Concurrent administration of donepezil HCl and cimetidine: assessment of pharmacokinetic changes following single and multiple doses. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 1998;46 Suppl 1:25-9.

123. Tiseo PJ, Perdomo CA, Friedhoff LT. Concurrent administration of donepezil HCl and ketoconazole: assessment of pharmacokinetic changes following single and multiple doses. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 1998;46 Suppl 1:30-4. 124. Micuda S, Mundlova L, Anzenbacherova E, Anzenbacher P, Chladek J, Fuksa L, et al. Inhibitory effects of memantine on human cytochrome P450 activities: prediction of in vivo drug interactions. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2004;60(8):583-9.

125. Penas-Lledo EM, Llerena A. CYP2D6 variation, behaviour and psychopathology: implications for pharmacogenomics-guided clinical trials. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2014;77(4):673-83.

126. Cheng J, Zhen Y, Miksys S, Beyoglu D, Krausz KW, Tyndale RF, et al. Potential role of CYP2D6 in the central nervous system. Xenobiotica; the fate of foreign compounds in biological systems. 2013;43(11):973-84.

127. Zaidel L, Allen G, Cullum CM, Briggs RW, Hynan LS, Weiner MF, et al.
Donepezil effects on hippocampal and prefrontal functional connectivity in
Alzheimer's disease: preliminary report. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2012;31
Suppl 3:S221-6.

128. Darreh-Shori T, Meurling L, Pettersson T, Hugosson K, Hellstrom-Lindahl E, Andreasen N, et al. Changes in the activity and protein levels of CSF acetylcholinesterases in relation to cognitive function of patients with mild Alzheimer's disease following chronic donepezil treatment. Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996). 2006;113(11):1791-801.

129. Jellinger KA. Pathology and pathogenesis of vascular cognitive impairment-a critical update. Frontiers in aging neuroscience. 2013;5:17.

130. Kirchheiner J, Seeringer A, Godoy AL, Ohmle B, Maier C, Beschoner P, et al.CYP2D6 in the brain: genotype effects on resting brain perfusion. MolecularPsychiatry. 2010;16:333.

131. Patterson CE, Todd SA, Passmore AP. Effect of apolipoprotein E and butyrylcholinesterase genotypes on cognitive response to cholinesterase inhibitor treatment at different stages of Alzheimer's disease. The pharmacogenomics journal. 2011;11(6):444-50. Mokhber N, Abdollahian E, Soltanifar A, Samadi R, Saghebi A, Baghbanhaghighi M, et al. Comparison of Sertraline, Venlafaxine and Desipramine Effects on Depression, Cognition and the Daily Living Activities in Alzheimer Patients2014.
Wattmo C, Wallin ÅK, Minthon L. Functional response to cholinesterase inhibitor therapy in a naturalistic Alzheimer's disease cohort. BMC Neurology. 2012;12(1):134.

134. Lee KU, Lee JH, Lee DY, Youn JC, Kim JL, Moon SW, et al. The Effect of
Choline Acetyltransferase Genotype on Donepezil Treatment Response in Patients
with Alzheimer's Disease. Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci. 2015;13(2):168-73.
135. Valis M, Masopust J, Vysata O, Hort J, Dolezal R, Tomek J, et al. Concentration
of Donepezil in the Cerebrospinal Fluid of AD Patients: Evaluation of Dosage
Sufficiency in Standard Treatment Strategy. Neurotox Res. 2017;31(1):162-8.

136. Mannens GS, Snel CA, Hendrickx J, Verhaeghe T, Le Jeune L, Bode W, et al. The metabolism and excretion of galantamine in rats, dogs, and humans. Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals. 2002;30(5):553-63.

137. Tanaka E. Gender-related differences in pharmacokinetics and their clinical significance. Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics. 1999;24(5):339-46.

138. Peñas-Lledó EM, Llerena A. CYP2D6 variation, behaviour and psychopathology: implications for pharmacogenomics-guided clinical trials. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2014;77(4):673-83.

139. Keller C, Kadir A, Forsberg A, Porras O, Nordberg A. Long-term effects of galantamine treatment on brain functional activities as measured by PET in Alzheimer's disease patients. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2011;24(1):109-23.
140. Kutsuno Y, Hirashima R, Sakamoto M, Ushikubo H, Michimae H, Itoh T, et al. Expression of UDP-Glucuronosyltransferase 1 (UGT1) and Glucuronidation Activity toward Endogenous Substances in Humanized UGT1 Mouse Brain. Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals. 2015;43(7):1071-6.

141. Schultz BG, Patten DK, Berlau DJ. The role of statins in both cognitive impairment and protection against dementia: a tale of two mechanisms.Translational neurodegeneration. 2018;7:5.

142. Chu CS, Tseng PT, Stubbs B, Chen TY, Tang CH, Li DJ, et al. Use of statins and the risk of dementia and mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):5804.

143. Geifman N, Brinton RD, Kennedy RE, Schneider LS, Butte AJ. Evidence for benefit of statins to modify cognitive decline and risk in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Research & Therapy. 2017;9(1):10.

144. Stern Y, Albert S, Tang MX, Tsai WY. Rate of memory decline in AD is related to education and occupation: cognitive reserve? Neurology. 1999;53(9):1942-7.
145. Bennett DA, Wilson RS, Schneider JA, Evans DA, Mendes de Leon CF, Arnold SE, et al. Education modifies the relation of AD pathology to level of cognitive function in older persons. Neurology. 2003;60(12):1909-15.



REFERENCES





VITA

Thitipon Yaowaluk

DATE OF BIRTH	29 July 1986
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Chulalongkorn university
HOME ADDRESS	26 Thoet Thai road, Thonburi district, Bangkok
PUBLICATION	
AWARD RECEIVED	

NAME



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY